
 

 

 

County Council Meeting 

Beaufort County, SC 
Council Chambers, Administration Building Beaufort County Government Robert Smalls 

Complex 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort 

Monday, November 13, 2023 
5:00 PM 

AGENDA 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
  JOSEPH F. PASSIMENT, CHAIRMAN                                                LAWRENCE MCELYNN, VICE CHAIR 
  DAVID P. BARTHOLOMEW                                                      PAULA BROWN 
                             LOGAN CUNNINGHAM                                                               GERALD DAWSON 
                             YORK GLOVER                                                                            ALICE HOWARD 
                             MARK LAWSON                                                                                 THOMAS REITZ  
                             ANNA MARIA TABERNIK    

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION- Council Member Gerald Dawson  

3. PUBLIC NOTIFICATION OF THIS MEETING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED, POSTED, AND DISTRIBUTED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - September 25, 2023 

6. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 

7. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING BEAUFORT COUNTY DISTRICT TEACHER OF THE YEAR - Council Member 
Tabernik 

8. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING COOSA ELEMENTARY NATIONAL BLUE RIBBON SCHOOL - Council Member 
Tabernik 

9. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING NATIONAL AMERICAN INDIAN HERITAGE MONTH - Chairman Passiment  
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

 

10. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD - 15 MINUTES TOTAL  

Anyone who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the meeting will limit their 
comments to AGENDA ITEMS ONLY and speak no longer than three (3) minutes. Speakers will address 
Council in a respectful manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the use of 

1



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

profane, abusive, or obscene language. In accordance with Beaufort County's Rules and Procedures, 
giving of a speaker's time to another is not allowed.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

 

11. LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS AND ACTION ITEMS 
 

 

12. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

13. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND BEAUFORT COUNTY’S FISCAL 
YEAR 2024 BUDGET ORDINANCE (ORDINANCE NO. 2023/22) TO PROVIDE ROLLOVER APPROPRIATIONS IN 
THE AMOUNT OF $3,432,768 FROM THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND (FUND 1040) FOR CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS APPROVED BUT NOT COMPLETED IN FISCAL YEAR 2023  (FISCAL IMPACT: This 
will increase the Capital Improvement Fund's budget from $21,232,455 to $24,665,223.  There will be a 
balance of $703,423 remaining in Fund Balance should 100% of all budgeted line items be expended 
FY’24) 

Vote at First Reading on October 23, 2023- 9:0 

14. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AMENDMENTS TO THE BUSINESS 
AND PROFESSIONAL LICENSES ORDINANCE CHAPTER 18, ARTICLE III, SECTION 18-67 (A) (B), APPENDIX 
A&B  (FISCAL IMPACT: Updated Rate Schedule will have a minor fiscal revenue impact.) 

Vote at First Reading on October 23, 2023- 9:0  

15. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE RATIFYING THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS 
ELECTED OFFICIALS AND TO AMEND SECTION 2-347 OF THE BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF LAWS 
ESTABLISHING THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS (FISCAL 
IMPACT: Potential salary amounts owed totals $45,417.78 to be paid from the payroll contingency 
account)  

Vote at First Reading on September 25, 2023 - (send back to Finance, Administration, and Economic 
Development Committee) 6:4 

Vote at Finance, Administration, & Economic Development Committee on October 16, 2023- 7:0 

Vote at First Reading on October 23, 2023- 9:0 

16. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER INTO 
A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 39 AIRPORT CIRCLE WITH BEAUFORT FLIGHT 
TRAINING  (FISCAL IMPACT: Beaufort Executive Airport will receive monthly income generated through 
lease revenue – Tenant shall pay $437.25 (265 sq ft x $19.80/12) in monthly base lease payments for 
premises located at the Beaufort Executive Airport terminal. Annual Expected Revenue increase: 
$5247.00. These lease rates are in accordance with current Beaufort County lease policies)  

17. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER INTO 
A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 39 AIRPORT CIRCLE WITH TIM VERROI(FISCAL 
IMPACT: Beaufort Executive Airport will receive monthly income generated through lease revenue – 
Tenant shall pay $145.20 (88 sq ft x $19.80/12) in monthly base lease payments for premises located at 
the Beaufort Executive Airport terminal. Annual Expected Revenue increase: $1742.40. These lease rates 
are in accordance with current Beaufort County lease policies) - Steve Parry, Deputy Airports Director 

18. APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE US 278  CORRIDOR 
PROJECT JOINT INDEPENDENT REVIEW PERFORMED BY CBB AND AUTHORIZATION FOR THE INTERIM 

2



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO SEND CORRESPONDENCE TO TOWN OF HILTON HEAD REQUESTING THEIR 
MUNICIPAL CONSENT FOR THE PROJECT  (FISCAL IMPACT: N/A) - Jared Fralix, Assistant County 
Administrator, Infrastructure 

19. APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION DECLARING THE RESULTS OF BOND REFERENDA CONDUCTED IN THE FRIPP 
ISLAND PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT, SOUTH CAROLINA ON NOVEMBER 7, 2023. 

 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

 

20. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD- 15 MINUTES TOTAL  

Anyone who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the meeting will limit their 
comments and speak no longer than three (3) minutes. Speakers will address Council in a respectful 
manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the use of profane, abusive, or 
obscene language. In accordance with Beaufort County's Rules and Procedures, giving of a speaker's 
time to another is not allowed. 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

 

21. PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE OF LAWS SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) DISCUSSION OF CONTRACTUAL 
ARRANGEMENTS AND OTHER MATTERS COVERED BY THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE (INQUIRIES AND 
INVESTIGATIONS PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SECTION 4-9-660) 

22. PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) DISCUSSIONS  INCIDENT TO CONTRACTUAL 
ARRANGEMENTS (CommunityWorks) 

23. PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2) TO RECEIVE LEGAL ADVICE WHERE THE ADVICE RELATES 
TO PENDING LITIGATION  

24. PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(1) DISCUSSION OF EMPLOYMENT OF A PERSON REGULATED 
BY COUNTY COUNCIL 

Matters Arising Out of the Executive Session 
 

END OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

 

25. ADJOURNMENT 
  

3



County Council Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

 

Items Originating from the Public Facilities and Safety Committee 

1. THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE 
ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO ACCEPT RIGHT OF WAY ON DIANAH’S DRIVE 

Vote at First Reading on October 9, 2023- 8:0 

Vote at Second Reading and Public Hearing on October 23, 2023- 9:0 

2. THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER 
INTO A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 30 HUNTER ROAD WITH EDISON FOARD, 
INC. (FISCAL IMPACT: Hilton Head Island Airport will receive income generated through lease revenue -
-Tenant shall pay $1,390.00 for office space (814 square feet x $20.50/12) and $1,698 for warehouse 
space (1,406 square feet x $14.50/12) in monthly base rental payments for premises located at 30 
Hunter Rd. These lease rates are in accordance with current Beaufort County lease policies) 

Vote at First Reading on October 9, 2023- 8:0 

Vote at Public Hearing and Second Reading on October 23, 2023- 9:0 

3. THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER 
INTO A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 39 AIRPORT CIRCLE WITH HIGH TIDE 
AVIATION SCENIC TOURS (FISCAL IMPACT: Beaufort Executive Airport will receive income generated 
through fuel sales, the airport’s standard 3% operating agreement, and lease revenue --Tenant shall 
pay $231.00 (140 square feet x $19.80/12) in monthly base rental payments for premises located at the 
Beaufort Executive Airport terminal. These lease rates are in accordance with current Beaufort County 
lease policies) 

Vote at First Reading on October 9, 2023- 8:0 

Vote at Public Hearing and Second Reading on October 23, 2023 - 9:0 

4. APPROVAL OF A CONTRACT AWARD FOR ALLJOY BOAT LANDING REPAIRS TO R.L. MORRISON & SONS, 
INC. (FISCAL IMPACT:  The project cost is funded by an Accommodations and Hospitality Tax Grant (A&H 
- 20020021-54124) in the amount of $534,730.00 with an account balance of $1,092,017.00)  

5. APPROVAL OF A CONTRACT AWARD TO O’QUINN MARINE CONSTRUCTION FOR RFP #090723 WHITEHALL 
PHASE 2 DESIGN-BUILD CONSTRUCTION SERVICES (FISCAL IMPACT:  $250,000. Funding to come from the 
Passive Park Budget account #45020011-54417. Current account balance is $937,336.60) - Eric Larson, 
Capital Projects 

6. APPROVAL OF CONTRACT AWARD TO TERRA EXCAVATING, INC. FOR IFB #101223 SOUTHSIDE PARK PICKLE 
BALL COURTS CONSTRUCTION SERVICES (FISCAL IMPACT:  $570,024.00 to come from the Parks and 
Recreation Capital Fund account #10401600-54436 with an account balance of $4,551,060.13)  

 

END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 

 

TO WATCH COMMITTEE OR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETINGS OR FOR A COMPLETE LIST OF AGENDAS AND 
BACKUP PACKAGES, PLEASE VISIT: 

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

4

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html


 

 

 

County Council Meeting 

Beaufort County, SC 
Council Chambers, Administration Building Beaufort County Government Robert Smalls 

Complex 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort 

Monday, September 25, 2023 
5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Watch the video stream available on the County's website to hear the Council’s discussion of a specific topic 
or the complete meeting. https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman Passiment called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 
 

PRESENT 
Chairman Joseph F. Passiment 
Vice-Chairman Lawrence McElynn 
Council Member David P. Bartholomew 
Council Member Paula Brown 
Council Member Logan Cunningham 
Council Member Gerald Dawson 
Council Member York Glover 
Council Member Alice Howard 
Council Member Mark Lawson 
Council Member Anna Maria Tabernik 
Council Member Thomas Reitz 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 

Chairman Passiment led the Pledge of Allegiance, and Council Member Brown led the Invocation. 

3. PUBLIC NOTIFICATION OF THIS MEETING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED, POSTED, AND DISTRIBUTED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

Chairman Passiment noted that public notification of this meeting had been published, posted, and 
distributed in compliance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act. 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Dawson, to approve 
the agenda. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

5

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - August 14, 2023 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, seconded by Council Member Cunningham, to 
approve the minutes of August 14, 2023. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

6. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 

Interim County Administrator Robinson updated the Council on a new workflow system for processing 
documents that require signature to ensure compliance with the County’s rules and regulations. Interim 
County Administrator Robinson also recognized Heather Dorrell and Eddie Schroeder with Beaufort 
County EMS, Tyrone Jenkins with Solid Waste and Recycling, and Director Robert Cartner with Mosquito 
Control.  

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375?ts=3275 

7. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING NATIONAL HISPANIC HERITAGE MONTH  

Vice-Chairman McElynn presented a proclamation recognizing National Hispanic Heritage Month. 

8. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY DIXIE JUNIOR BOYS BASEBALL TEAM  

Council Member Lawson presented a proclamation recognizing the Beaufort County Dixie Junior Boys 
Baseball Team. 

9. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY DIXIE BOYS BASEBALL TEAM  

Council Member Cunningham presented a proclamation recognizing the Beaufort County Dixie Boys 
Baseball Team. 

Vice-Chairman McElynn also commented on National Family Day. 

10. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD - 15 MINUTES TOTAL  

Anyone who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the meeting will limit their 
comments to AGENDA ITEMS ONLY and speak no longer than three (3) minutes. Speakers will address 
Council in a respectful manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the use of 
profane, abusive, or obscene language. In accordance with Beaufort County's Rules and Procedures, 
giving of a speaker's time to another is not allowed.  

The following individuals made citizen comments: 

1. Roberts Vaux 

2. John Kammer 

3. Derek Stetter 

4. Scottie Daniel 

5. Terry Laseter 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Bartholomew, seconded by Council Member Cunningham, to 
extend the public comment. 

Citizen Comment was extended and Felice Lamarca made the final comments. 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full comment. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

6

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375?ts=3275
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

11. LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Council Member Reitz provided an update on the Airports Board, including the Hilton Head Airport 
terminal contract, St. James Church, and the Ambassador’s Club. 

Council Member Tabernik discussed the Library Board of Trustees, including an update on the Port Royal 
Library, options for a new branch in Pritchardville, and a Gullah Geechee Trail. Council Member Tabernik 
also discussed updates from the County Transportation Committee, including the resurfacing and 
pavement preservation projects, work on SC 170, and repairs to Bluffton Parkway. 

Council Member Howard highlighted the final reading of the Greenspace Committee Ordinance. 

Council Member Lawson commented on the Southern Carolina Regional Development contract renewal 
item originating from the Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee. 

Chairman Passiment commented on the County Council’s attendance at the South Carolina Association of 
Counties meetings on September 19 and 20, 2023. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

12. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Lawson, to approve 
the consent agenda. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

13. TIME SENSITIVE ITEM FROM THE 9.25.2023 PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SAFETY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
APPROVAL OF THE PROPOSED MEMBERS DISCUSSED DURING THE PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SAFETY 
COMMITTEE MEETING TO THE SALES TAX COMMITTEE  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Howard, to appoint 
UnTron Solomon from St Helena Island (District 3), Carol Ruff from Lady’s Island (District 2), and Tom 
Lennox from Hilton Head Island (District 11) to the Tax Advisory Committee in accordance with South 
Carolina Code Section 4-10-320. 

Discussion: Chairman Passiment commented on the makeup and purpose of the Committee. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

14. PUBLIC HEARING AND THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND BEAUFORT COUNTY’S BUDGET 
ORDINANCE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024 (ORDINANCE 2023/22) TO APPROPRIATE $350,000 TO COUNTY 
COUNCIL TO COVER COST OF REVIEWS, AUDITS, AND INVESTIGATIONS  

First Reading by Title only on August 28, 2023 - 10:0 

Second Reading on September 11, 2023 - 10:0 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Bartholomew, seconded by Council Member Brown, to approve 
the public hearing and third reading of an ordinance to amend Beaufort County’s Budget Ordinance for 
Fiscal Year 2024 (Ordinance 2023/22) to appropriate $350,000 to County Council to cover the cost of 
reviews, audits, and investigations. 

Chairman Passiment opened the floor for public comment. 

Joyce Hamm spoke regarding the investigation. 

7

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

The Chairman closed the public comment. 

Discussion: In response to Ms. Hamm’s questions, Council Member Cunningham stated that an outside 
consultant was being hired to conduct audits and investigations to ensure no misappropriation of funds 
or interference by anyone in the County. 

Council Member Bartholomew noted that while Council was potentially appropriating $350,000, the total 
amount would not necessarily be spent. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

15. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDE FUNDING FOR THE 
PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY IDENTIFIED AS 34 ULMER ROAD  

Vote at First Reading on July 10, 2023- 11:0 

Vote at Public Hearing and Second Reading on August 14, 2023: Postpone until September 25, 2023- 11:0 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Lawson, seconded by Council Member Cunningham, to approve 
the public hearing and second reading of an ordinance authorizing the Interim County Administrator to 
execute the necessary documents and provide funding for the purchase of real property identified as 34 
Ulmer Road. 

Chairman Passiment opened the floor for public comment. 

Joyce Hamm spoke regarding the county buying land and asked if it would ever be given back to the 
citizens. 

The Chairman closed the public comment. 

Discussion: Council Member Howard noted that the property was discussed during a Rural and Critical 
Lands Preservation Board meeting and that the due diligence vote failed. Council Member Howard also 
voiced her objection to the motion. 

Council Member Lawson commented that the purchase would be made through the General Fund. 
Council Member Lawson also highlighted the seller’s reduction in price to $2.5 million if the County could 
close on the property in 30 days. 

Council Members Howard and Cunningham discussed whether the property could have ball fields. 

Passive Parks Director Nagid provided background on the adjacent Baliey Memorial Park property and the 
interest in the property from a habitat connectivity and water quality standpoint. Director Nagid added 
while the property may not be suitable for parks and recreation because of the wetlands and existing cell 
tower, she did think it would make a good passive park with the proximity to downtown Bluffton. 

Council Member Glover asked for clarification on the Rural and Critical Lands Preservation Board’s 
decision not to proceed with this property. Director Nagid said that half of the Board was interested in 
having a conservation appraiser perform a second appraisal, but there was a motion to deny the project. 
Director Nagid also mentioned concerns about the long-term lease on the cell tower and the low 
development pressure. 

Interim County Administrator Robinson reiterated that the funding would be supplied through the 
General Fund and explained that there would need to be a budget amendment to approve the 
appropriation. County Attorney Ward clarified that the funding appropriation was included in this 
ordinance. 

8

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Director Nagid commented that a second appraisal would take a couple of weeks but that the County 
could ask for an expedited appraisal. 

Council Member Bartholomew asked if the cell tower on the property could be moved. Council Attorney 
Ward replied that it would stay in the same location. 

Council and County Attorney Ward discussed the possibility of having a second appraisal, the previous 
appraisal completed in July, and the dropped price if the County can close on the property in 30 days. 

Council and Interim County Administrator Robinson also discussed the balance of the General Fund and 
the Rural and Critical Lands Program, which are around 60 million and 2.6 million, respectively. 

The Vote – Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Bartholomew, 
Council Member Brown, Council Member Cunningham, Council Member Dawson, Council Member 
Lawson, Council Member Reitz, and Council Member Tabernik. Voting Nay: Council Member Glover and 
Council Member Howard. The motion passed by 9:2. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

16. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 62, SOLID WASTE, 
BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCE  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Howard, to 
approve the first reading of an ordinance adopting amendments to Chapter 62, Solid Waste, Beaufort 
County Code of Ordinances. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

17. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AMENDMENTS TO CH 38. ARTICLE II. TRASH AND LITTER 
CONTROL OF THE BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Dawson, seconded by Council Member Glover, to approve the 
first reading of an ordinance adopting amendments to Chapter 38, Article II, Trash and Litter Control of 
the Beaufort County Code of Ordinances. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

Council Member Dawson excused himself from the meeting. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

18. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 7, DIVISION 7.4, 
SECTION 7.4.50 (PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULING AND NOTICE) AND SECTION 7.4.70 (PUBLIC HEARING 
PROCEDURES) TO CLARIFY THAT PUBLIC COMMENT IS NOT TAKEN FOR APPEALS TO THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OR THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, seconded by Vice-Chairman McElynn, to approve the 
first reading of an ordinance for a proposed text amendment to Article 7, Division 7.4, Section 7.4.50 
(Public Hearing Scheduling and Notice) and Section 7.4.70 (Public Hearing Procedures) to clarify that 
public comment is not taken for appeals to the Planning Commission or the Zoning Board of Appeals. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

9

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

19. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A ZONING MAP AMENDMENT/REZONING REQUEST FOR 71.54 
ACRES (R600 013 000 0008 0000 AND R600 013 000 0050 0000), LOCATED AT 1691 OKATIE HIGHWAY, 
FROM T2 RURAL (T2R) TO T4 NEIGHBORHOOD CENTER (T4NC) AND T3 NEIGHBORHOOD (T3N) USING A 
VILLAGE PLACE TYPE OVERLAY (PTO) (ARTICLE 3 DIVISION 4 SECTION 80, ARTICLE 7 DIVISION 3 SECTION 
50). 

Item failed at the Community Services and Land Use Committee on September 11, 2023: 5/5 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Howard, seconded by Council Member Glover, to send the item 
back to the Community Services and Land Use Committee, where more work can be done and give more 
opportunities for the public to have input. 

Discussion: Council Member Brown noted that constituents asked the Council to vote no on this item, not 
that it should be sent back to the committee for further review. 

Council Member Howard explained that if the Council voted no on the item, it would be a year before it 
could come up again. 

Council Member Reitz advocated for the Council to move forward with the vote on the item. 

Council Member Cunningham discussed how the schools and roads are overpopulated and how that 
should be the County’s focus. Council Member Cunningham added that the area does not have the 
infrastructure yet to support the addition of 400 homes. 

Council Member Howard explained how sending the item back to the committee allows timing and 
infrastructure development requirements to be negotiated. Council Member Howard also noted that the 
potential developer changed the proposal to have 20% of the homes be workforce housing, which could 
also be further negotiated.   

Council Member Lawson commented that the Council is trying to limit growth so it is more palatable and 
that sending the item back to the committee would allow for continued discussion of all available options. 

Council Member Tabernik asked what would be built on the property under the current zoning. Chairman 
Passiment replied that it would be one house per three acres. 

Chairman Passiment commented that the Council does not have the right to stop growth but does have 
the right to manage growth in the County. Chairman Passiment also explained that the property would 
connect with surrounding properties to create a village-type, walkable community. 

Council Member Glover asked about potential annexation by another County. ACA Atkinson replied that 
he was unsure about the growth boundary but that staff could contact Hardeeville. ACA Atkinson added 
that the opportunity is unique because the County could change the zoning and enter into development 
agreements to determine the type of development on the property. 

Council further discussed whether the item should be sent back to the committee. 

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Council Member Glover, Council Member Howard, Council 
Member Lawson, and Council Member Tabernik. Voting Nay: Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member 
Bartholomew, Council Member Brown, Council Member Cunningham, and Council Member Reitz. 

The motion failed 5:5. 

Council made no second motion and Council Member Cunningham stated the item fails by doing such. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

10

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

20. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE RATIFYING THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED OFFICIALS AND TO 
AMEND SECTION 2-347 OF THE BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF LAWS ESTABLISHING THE SALARIES FOR 
VARIOUS ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS  

Main Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member 
Bartholomew, to approve the first reading of an ordinance ratifying the salaries for various elected officials 
and to amend Section 2-347 of the Beaufort County Code of Laws establishing the salaries for various 
elected and appointed officials. 

Discussion: County Attorney Ward presented the current salaries for the Auditor and Coroner, the 
suggested amended salary rates based on the July 2019 proposal, and the amount of money retroactively 
owned to both officials.  

Vice-Chairman McElynn and County Attorney Ward discussed reelection bonuses and the removal of 
those bonuses when a new person is elected to the position. 

Chairman Passiment clarified that Vice-Chairman McElynn proposed to update the salaries of elected 
officials in 2019 but that the ordinance was never adopted. Chairman Passiment also asked for clarification 
on the salary calculations.   

County Attorney Ward explained that the Coroner and Auditor had been paid at the 2015 salary rate and 
would be retroactively compensated for the 2019 rate other elected officials received. County Attorney 
Ward also noted that this ordinance puts the 2019 salary rates on the books so that the 2015 salary rate 
would no longer be used. 

Chairman Passiment and County Attorney Ward discussed the breakdown of COLAs applied to the 
positions. 

Subsidiary Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Howard, to 
send the item back to the Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee. 

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Brown, Council 
Member Howard, Council Member Tabernik, and Council Member Reitz. Voting Nay: Council Member 
Bartholomew, Council Member Cunningham, Council Member Glover, and Council Member Lawson.  

The motion passed by 6:4. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

 

21. APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A GRANT FOR PROJECT COMIDA  

Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Bartholomew, to 
approve a resolution to accept a grant for Project Comida. 

The Vote – The motion was made without objection. 

 

22. APPROVAL OF PURCHASE AND PAYMENT OF HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT AT 
BEAUFORT COUNTY’S PORT ROYAL CENTER IN THE AMOUNT OF $799,052.  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Howard, to 
approve the purchase and payment of handicap-accessible playground equipment at Beaufort County’s 
Port Royal Center in the amount of $799,052. 

11

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Discussion: Council Member Brown commented that the County should negotiate the price and pay only 
half the bill. 

Council Member Bartholomew asked about the cost of removing the unapproved equipment and sending 
it back to the provider. Assistant County Administrator Atkinson replied that he was uncertain about the 
removal cost. 

Council Member Bartholomew also raised concerns about how the unapproved equipment got installed 
in the first place and highlighted a September 25 article in The Island News that covered the matter. Vice-
Chairman McElynn commented that personnel matters cannot be discussed in the open session. 

Council Member Lawson noted that the County paid less than the going rate for the equipment. Council 
Member Lawson added that the vendor did what was asked of them and that the issue is that County staff 
did not follow the procurement process. 

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Cunningham, 
Council Member Glover, Council Member Howard, Council Member Lawson, Council Member Tabernik, 
and Council Member Reitz. Voting Nay: Council Member Bartholomew and Council Member Brown. 

The motion passed by 8:2. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

 

23. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD- 15 MINUTES TOTAL  

Anyone who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the meeting will limit their 
comments and speak no longer than three (3) minutes. Speakers will address Council in a respectful 
manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the use of profane, abusive, or 
obscene language. In accordance with Beaufort County's Rules and Procedures, giving of a speaker's 
time to another is not allowed. 

The following individuals made citizen comments: 

1. Lillie Harris 

2. Theresa White 

3. Robert Adams 

4. Roy Brown 

5. Marlyn Hemmingway 

Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Bartholomew, to extend 
the citizen comment period.  The motion to extend was approved without objection. 

6. Willie Turral 

7. Tade’ Oyeilumi 

24. PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SEC. 30-4-70(A)(1) TO DISCUSS EMPLOYMENT, APPOINTMENT, 
COMPENSATION, PROMOTION, DEMOTION, DISCIPLINE, OR RELEASE OF A PERSON REGULATED BY A 
PUBLIC BODY.  

Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Brown, to go into 
executive session. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

12

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

25. MATTERS ARISING OUT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 

No matters arose out of the executive session. 

26. ADJOURNMENT 

The Chairman adjourned the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 

 

 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

BY: _____________________________________                             

            Joseph F. Passiment, Jr., Chairman 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

Ratified:   

 

13

Item 5.



 

 

 

County Council Meeting 

Beaufort County, SC 
Council Chambers, Administration Building Beaufort County Government Robert Smalls 

Complex 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort 

Monday, September 25, 2023 
5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Watch the video stream available on the County's website to hear the Council’s discussion of a specific topic 
or the complete meeting. https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman Passiment called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 
 

PRESENT 
Chairman Joseph F. Passiment 
Vice-Chairman Lawrence McElynn 
Council Member David P. Bartholomew 
Council Member Paula Brown 
Council Member Logan Cunningham 
Council Member Gerald Dawson 
Council Member York Glover 
Council Member Alice Howard 
Council Member Mark Lawson 
Council Member Anna Maria Tabernik 
Council Member Thomas Reitz 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION 

Chairman Passiment led the Pledge of Allegiance, and Council Member Brown led the Invocation. 

3. PUBLIC NOTIFICATION OF THIS MEETING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED, POSTED, AND DISTRIBUTED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

Chairman Passiment noted that public notification of this meeting had been published, posted, and 
distributed in compliance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act. 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Dawson, to approve 
the agenda. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

14

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - August 14, 2023 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, seconded by Council Member Cunningham, to 
approve the minutes of August 14, 2023. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

6. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 

Interim County Administrator Robinson updated the Council on a new workflow system for processing 
documents that require signature to ensure compliance with the County’s rules and regulations. Interim 
County Administrator Robinson also recognized Heather Dorrell and Eddie Schroeder with Beaufort 
County EMS, Tyrone Jenkins with Solid Waste and Recycling, and Director Robert Cartner with Mosquito 
Control.  

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375?ts=3275 

7. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING NATIONAL HISPANIC HERITAGE MONTH  

Vice-Chairman McElynn presented a proclamation recognizing National Hispanic Heritage Month. 

8. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY DIXIE JUNIOR BOYS BASEBALL TEAM  

Council Member Lawson presented a proclamation recognizing the Beaufort County Dixie Junior Boys 
Baseball Team. 

9. PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING THE BEAUFORT COUNTY DIXIE BOYS BASEBALL TEAM  

Council Member Cunningham presented a proclamation recognizing the Beaufort County Dixie Boys 
Baseball Team. 

Vice-Chairman McElynn also commented on National Family Day. 

10. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD - 15 MINUTES TOTAL  

Anyone who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the meeting will limit their 
comments to AGENDA ITEMS ONLY and speak no longer than three (3) minutes. Speakers will address 
Council in a respectful manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the use of 
profane, abusive, or obscene language. In accordance with Beaufort County's Rules and Procedures, 
giving of a speaker's time to another is not allowed.  

The following individuals made citizen comments: 

1. Roberts Vaux 

2. John Kammer 

3. Derek Stetter 

4. Scottie Daniel 

5. Terry Laseter 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Bartholomew, seconded by Council Member Cunningham, to 
extend the public comment. 

Citizen Comment was extended and Felice Lamarca made the final comments. 

Please watch the video stream available on the County's website to view the full comment. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

15

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375?ts=3275
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

11. LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Council Member Reitz provided an update on the Airports Board, including the Hilton Head Airport 
terminal contract, St. James Church, and the Ambassador’s Club. 

Council Member Tabernik discussed the Library Board of Trustees, including an update on the Port Royal 
Library, options for a new branch in Pritchardville, and a Gullah Geechee Trail. Council Member Tabernik 
also discussed updates from the County Transportation Committee, including the resurfacing and 
pavement preservation projects, work on SC 170, and repairs to Bluffton Parkway. 

Council Member Howard highlighted the final reading of the Greenspace Committee Ordinance. 

Council Member Lawson commented on the Southern Carolina Regional Development contract renewal 
item originating from the Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee. 

Chairman Passiment commented on the County Council’s attendance at the South Carolina Association of 
Counties meetings on September 19 and 20, 2023. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

12. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Lawson, to approve 
the consent agenda. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

13. TIME SENSITIVE ITEM FROM THE 9.25.2023 PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SAFETY COMMITTEE MEETING - 
APPROVAL OF THE PROPOSED MEMBERS DISCUSSED DURING THE PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SAFETY 
COMMITTEE MEETING TO THE SALES TAX COMMITTEE  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Howard, to appoint 
UnTron Solomon from St Helena Island (District 3), Carol Ruff from Lady’s Island (District 2), and Tom 
Lennox from Hilton Head Island (District 11) to the Tax Advisory Committee in accordance with South 
Carolina Code Section 4-10-320. 

Discussion: Chairman Passiment commented on the makeup and purpose of the Committee. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

14. PUBLIC HEARING AND THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND BEAUFORT COUNTY’S BUDGET 
ORDINANCE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024 (ORDINANCE 2023/22) TO APPROPRIATE $350,000 TO COUNTY 
COUNCIL TO COVER COST OF REVIEWS, AUDITS, AND INVESTIGATIONS  

First Reading by Title only on August 28, 2023 - 10:0 

Second Reading on September 11, 2023 - 10:0 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Bartholomew, seconded by Council Member Brown, to approve 
the public hearing and third reading of an ordinance to amend Beaufort County’s Budget Ordinance for 
Fiscal Year 2024 (Ordinance 2023/22) to appropriate $350,000 to County Council to cover the cost of 
reviews, audits, and investigations. 

Chairman Passiment opened the floor for public comment. 

Joyce Hamm spoke regarding the investigation. 

16

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

The Chairman closed the public comment. 

Discussion: In response to Ms. Hamm’s questions, Council Member Cunningham stated that an outside 
consultant was being hired to conduct audits and investigations to ensure no misappropriation of funds 
or interference by anyone in the County. 

Council Member Bartholomew noted that while Council was potentially appropriating $350,000, the total 
amount would not necessarily be spent. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

15. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
ADMINISTRATOR TO EXECUTE THE NECESSARY DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDE FUNDING FOR THE 
PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY IDENTIFIED AS 34 ULMER ROAD  

Vote at First Reading on July 10, 2023- 11:0 

Vote at Public Hearing and Second Reading on August 14, 2023: Postpone until September 25, 2023- 11:0 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Lawson, seconded by Council Member Cunningham, to approve 
the public hearing and second reading of an ordinance authorizing the Interim County Administrator to 
execute the necessary documents and provide funding for the purchase of real property identified as 34 
Ulmer Road. 

Chairman Passiment opened the floor for public comment. 

Joyce Hamm spoke regarding the county buying land and asked if it would ever be given back to the 
citizens. 

The Chairman closed the public comment. 

Discussion: Council Member Howard noted that the property was discussed during a Rural and Critical 
Lands Preservation Board meeting and that the due diligence vote failed. Council Member Howard also 
voiced her objection to the motion. 

Council Member Lawson commented that the purchase would be made through the General Fund. 
Council Member Lawson also highlighted the seller’s reduction in price to $2.5 million if the County could 
close on the property in 30 days. 

Council Members Howard and Cunningham discussed whether the property could have ball fields. 

Passive Parks Director Nagid provided background on the adjacent Baliey Memorial Park property and the 
interest in the property from a habitat connectivity and water quality standpoint. Director Nagid added 
while the property may not be suitable for parks and recreation because of the wetlands and existing cell 
tower, she did think it would make a good passive park with the proximity to downtown Bluffton. 

Council Member Glover asked for clarification on the Rural and Critical Lands Preservation Board’s 
decision not to proceed with this property. Director Nagid said that half of the Board was interested in 
having a conservation appraiser perform a second appraisal, but there was a motion to deny the project. 
Director Nagid also mentioned concerns about the long-term lease on the cell tower and the low 
development pressure. 

Interim County Administrator Robinson reiterated that the funding would be supplied through the 
General Fund and explained that there would need to be a budget amendment to approve the 
appropriation. County Attorney Ward clarified that the funding appropriation was included in this 
ordinance. 

17

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Director Nagid commented that a second appraisal would take a couple of weeks but that the County 
could ask for an expedited appraisal. 

Council Member Bartholomew asked if the cell tower on the property could be moved. Council Attorney 
Ward replied that it would stay in the same location. 

Council and County Attorney Ward discussed the possibility of having a second appraisal, the previous 
appraisal completed in July, and the dropped price if the County can close on the property in 30 days. 

Council and Interim County Administrator Robinson also discussed the balance of the General Fund and 
the Rural and Critical Lands Program, which are around 60 million and 2.6 million, respectively. 

The Vote – Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Bartholomew, 
Council Member Brown, Council Member Cunningham, Council Member Dawson, Council Member 
Lawson, Council Member Reitz, and Council Member Tabernik. Voting Nay: Council Member Glover and 
Council Member Howard. The motion passed by 9:2. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

16. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 62, SOLID WASTE, 
BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCE  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Howard, to 
approve the first reading of an ordinance adopting amendments to Chapter 62, Solid Waste, Beaufort 
County Code of Ordinances. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

17. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AMENDMENTS TO CH 38. ARTICLE II. TRASH AND LITTER 
CONTROL OF THE BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Dawson, seconded by Council Member Glover, to approve the 
first reading of an ordinance adopting amendments to Chapter 38, Article II, Trash and Litter Control of 
the Beaufort County Code of Ordinances. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

Council Member Dawson excused himself from the meeting. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

18. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 7, DIVISION 7.4, 
SECTION 7.4.50 (PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULING AND NOTICE) AND SECTION 7.4.70 (PUBLIC HEARING 
PROCEDURES) TO CLARIFY THAT PUBLIC COMMENT IS NOT TAKEN FOR APPEALS TO THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OR THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Tabernik, seconded by Vice-Chairman McElynn, to approve the 
first reading of an ordinance for a proposed text amendment to Article 7, Division 7.4, Section 7.4.50 
(Public Hearing Scheduling and Notice) and Section 7.4.70 (Public Hearing Procedures) to clarify that 
public comment is not taken for appeals to the Planning Commission or the Zoning Board of Appeals. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

18

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

19. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A ZONING MAP AMENDMENT/REZONING REQUEST FOR 71.54 
ACRES (R600 013 000 0008 0000 AND R600 013 000 0050 0000), LOCATED AT 1691 OKATIE HIGHWAY, 
FROM T2 RURAL (T2R) TO T4 NEIGHBORHOOD CENTER (T4NC) AND T3 NEIGHBORHOOD (T3N) USING A 
VILLAGE PLACE TYPE OVERLAY (PTO) (ARTICLE 3 DIVISION 4 SECTION 80, ARTICLE 7 DIVISION 3 SECTION 
50). 

Item failed at the Community Services and Land Use Committee on September 11, 2023: 5/5 

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Howard, seconded by Council Member Glover, to send the item 
back to the Community Services and Land Use Committee, where more work can be done and give more 
opportunities for the public to have input. 

Discussion: Council Member Brown noted that constituents asked the Council to vote no on this item, not 
that it should be sent back to the committee for further review. 

Council Member Howard explained that if the Council voted no on the item, it would be a year before it 
could come up again. 

Council Member Reitz advocated for the Council to move forward with the vote on the item. 

Council Member Cunningham discussed how the schools and roads are overpopulated and how that 
should be the County’s focus. Council Member Cunningham added that the area does not have the 
infrastructure yet to support the addition of 400 homes. 

Council Member Howard explained how sending the item back to the committee allows timing and 
infrastructure development requirements to be negotiated. Council Member Howard also noted that the 
potential developer changed the proposal to have 20% of the homes be workforce housing, which could 
also be further negotiated.   

Council Member Lawson commented that the Council is trying to limit growth so it is more palatable and 
that sending the item back to the committee would allow for continued discussion of all available options. 

Council Member Tabernik asked what would be built on the property under the current zoning. Chairman 
Passiment replied that it would be one house per three acres. 

Chairman Passiment commented that the Council does not have the right to stop growth but does have 
the right to manage growth in the County. Chairman Passiment also explained that the property would 
connect with surrounding properties to create a village-type, walkable community. 

Council Member Glover asked about potential annexation by another County. ACA Atkinson replied that 
he was unsure about the growth boundary but that staff could contact Hardeeville. ACA Atkinson added 
that the opportunity is unique because the County could change the zoning and enter into development 
agreements to determine the type of development on the property. 

Council further discussed whether the item should be sent back to the committee. 

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Council Member Glover, Council Member Howard, Council 
Member Lawson, and Council Member Tabernik. Voting Nay: Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member 
Bartholomew, Council Member Brown, Council Member Cunningham, and Council Member Reitz. 

The motion failed 5:5. 

Council made no second motion and Council Member Cunningham stated the item fails by doing such. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

19

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

20. FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE RATIFYING THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED OFFICIALS AND TO 
AMEND SECTION 2-347 OF THE BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF LAWS ESTABLISHING THE SALARIES FOR 
VARIOUS ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS  

Main Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member 
Bartholomew, to approve the first reading of an ordinance ratifying the salaries for various elected officials 
and to amend Section 2-347 of the Beaufort County Code of Laws establishing the salaries for various 
elected and appointed officials. 

Discussion: County Attorney Ward presented the current salaries for the Auditor and Coroner, the 
suggested amended salary rates based on the July 2019 proposal, and the amount of money retroactively 
owned to both officials.  

Vice-Chairman McElynn and County Attorney Ward discussed reelection bonuses and the removal of 
those bonuses when a new person is elected to the position. 

Chairman Passiment clarified that Vice-Chairman McElynn proposed to update the salaries of elected 
officials in 2019 but that the ordinance was never adopted. Chairman Passiment also asked for clarification 
on the salary calculations.   

County Attorney Ward explained that the Coroner and Auditor had been paid at the 2015 salary rate and 
would be retroactively compensated for the 2019 rate other elected officials received. County Attorney 
Ward also noted that this ordinance puts the 2019 salary rates on the books so that the 2015 salary rate 
would no longer be used. 

Chairman Passiment and County Attorney Ward discussed the breakdown of COLAs applied to the 
positions. 

Subsidiary Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Howard, to 
send the item back to the Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee. 

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Brown, Council 
Member Howard, Council Member Tabernik, and Council Member Reitz. Voting Nay: Council Member 
Bartholomew, Council Member Cunningham, Council Member Glover, and Council Member Lawson.  

The motion passed by 6:4. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

 

21. APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A GRANT FOR PROJECT COMIDA  

Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Bartholomew, to 
approve a resolution to accept a grant for Project Comida. 

The Vote – The motion was made without objection. 

 

22. APPROVAL OF PURCHASE AND PAYMENT OF HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT AT 
BEAUFORT COUNTY’S PORT ROYAL CENTER IN THE AMOUNT OF $799,052.  

Motion: It was moved by Council Member Cunningham, seconded by Council Member Howard, to 
approve the purchase and payment of handicap-accessible playground equipment at Beaufort County’s 
Port Royal Center in the amount of $799,052. 

20

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Discussion: Council Member Brown commented that the County should negotiate the price and pay only 
half the bill. 

Council Member Bartholomew asked about the cost of removing the unapproved equipment and sending 
it back to the provider. Assistant County Administrator Atkinson replied that he was uncertain about the 
removal cost. 

Council Member Bartholomew also raised concerns about how the unapproved equipment got installed 
in the first place and highlighted a September 25 article in The Island News that covered the matter. Vice-
Chairman McElynn commented that personnel matters cannot be discussed in the open session. 

Council Member Lawson noted that the County paid less than the going rate for the equipment. Council 
Member Lawson added that the vendor did what was asked of them and that the issue is that County staff 
did not follow the procurement process. 

The Vote - Voting Yea: Chairman Passiment, Vice-Chairman McElynn, Council Member Cunningham, 
Council Member Glover, Council Member Howard, Council Member Lawson, Council Member Tabernik, 
and Council Member Reitz. Voting Nay: Council Member Bartholomew and Council Member Brown. 

The motion passed by 8:2. 

To watch the full discussion please click on the video link below. 

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375 

 

23. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD- 15 MINUTES TOTAL  

Anyone who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the meeting will limit their 
comments and speak no longer than three (3) minutes. Speakers will address Council in a respectful 
manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the use of profane, abusive, or 
obscene language. In accordance with Beaufort County's Rules and Procedures, giving of a speaker's 
time to another is not allowed. 

The following individuals made citizen comments: 

1. Lillie Harris 

2. Theresa White 

3. Robert Adams 

4. Roy Brown 

5. Marlyn Hemmingway 

Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Bartholomew, to extend 
the citizen comment period.  The motion to extend was approved without objection. 

6. Willie Turral 

7. Tade’ Oyeilumi 

24. PURSUANT TO S. C. CODE SEC. 30-4-70(A)(1) TO DISCUSS EMPLOYMENT, APPOINTMENT, 
COMPENSATION, PROMOTION, DEMOTION, DISCIPLINE, OR RELEASE OF A PERSON REGULATED BY A 
PUBLIC BODY.  

Motion: It was moved by Vice-Chairman McElynn, seconded by Council Member Brown, to go into 
executive session. 

The Vote – The motion was approved without objection. 

21

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/272375


County Council Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

25. MATTERS ARISING OUT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 

No matters arose out of the executive session. 

26. ADJOURNMENT 

The Chairman adjourned the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 

 

 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

BY: _____________________________________                             

            Joseph F. Passiment, Jr., Chairman 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council 

Ratified:   

 

22

Item 5.



23

Item 7.



24

Item 8.



~ Proclamation ~ 
 

Whereas, the history and culture of our great nation have been 
significantly influenced by American Indians and indigenous peoples; and 

 

Whereas, the contributions of American Indians have enhanced the 
freedom, prosperity, and greatness of America today; and 

 

Whereas, their customs and traditions are respected and celebrated as 
part of a rich legacy throughout the United States; and 

 

Whereas, Native American Awareness Week began in 1976 and 
recognition was expanded by Congress and approved by President George Bush 
in August 1990, designating the month of November, as National American 
Indian Heritage Month; and 
 

Whereas, in honor of National American Indian Heritage Month, 
community celebrations as well as numerous cultural, artistic, educational, and 
historical activities have been planned; 
 

Now, therefore, be it resolved, that Beaufort County declares November as  
 

“National American Indian Heritage Month” 
 

And we urge all our citizens to observe this month with appropriate 
programs, ceremonies, and activities.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 Dated this 13th day of November 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
Joseph Passiment, Chairman  

Beaufort County Council 

National Society Daughters 
Of the American Revolution 
American Indians Committee 

25

Item 9.



26

Item 10.



27

Item 10.



28

Item 11.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND BEAUFORT COUNTY’S FISCAL YEAR 2024 BUDGET 
ORDINANCE (ORDINANCE NO. 2023/22) TO PROVIDE ROLLOVER APPROPRIATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$3,432,768 FROM THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND (FUND 1040) FOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 
APPROVED BUT NOT COMPLETED IN FISCAL YEAR 2023 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Denise Christmas, Interim Deputy County Administrator/Interim CFO 

5 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Has not come before committee nor council 

This will be 1st reading on the Amended Budget Ordinance  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Recommend approval of an ordinance amending Beaufort County Ordinance 2023/22 to 
appropriate $3,432,768 of the Capital Improvement Fund's (Fund 1040) Fund Balance to 
cover all purchase orders which rolled from FY 2023 to FY 2024 for ongoing capital projects 
and capital purchases which did not get completed/purchased by June 30, 2023 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

This will increase the Capital Improvement Fund's budget from $21,232,455 to 
$24,665,223.  There will be a balance of $703,423 remaining in Fund Balance should 
100% of all budgeted line items be expended FY’24. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approving budget amendment to allow projects and capital purchases to complete 
with existing purchase orders. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

 Motion to approve/deny Budget Ordinance 2023/22 Amendment for purchase order rollovers/budget 
carryforward in the Capital Improvement Fund 

 Move forward to Council for First Reading 

 

 

29

Item 13.



ORDINANCE 2023/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND BEAUFORT COUNTY’S BUDGET ORDINANCE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024 

(ORDINANCE NO. 2023/22) TO PROVIDE ROLLOVER APPROPRIATIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF $3,432,768 

FROM THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND’S (FUND 1040) FUND BALANCE TO COVER ALL PURCHASE 

ORDERS WHICH ROLLED OVER FROM FY23 TO FY24 FOR ONGOING CAPITAL PROJECTS AND CAPITAL 

PURCHASES  

 WHEREAS, on June 12, 2023, Beaufort County Council adopted Ordinance 2023/22 which set 

the County’s FY 2023-2024 budget and associated expenditures; and 

 WHEREAS, in the interest of good accounting practices and transparency in the budget process 

it is beneficial and necessary to amend the budget to reflect the additional appropriation of funds 

which are to be carried over (rolled over) from the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 budget to the Fiscal Year 

2023-2024 budget to cover capital improvements which were properly authorized in FY23 but which 

were not completed in FY23 and which have rolled over into FY24. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by Beaufort County Council that the FY 2023-2024 

Beaufort County Budget Ordinance (Ordinance 2023/22) is hereby amended as shown on the attached 

“Exhibit A” and incorporated herein by reference. 

 Done this ____________day of ____________, 2023. 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

      By: ________________________________ 
             Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

ATTEST: 

____________________________   
Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 
 
First Reading:  _________________, 2023 
              
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30

Item 13.



 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

PO# Vendor Name PO Date Amount Status GL Account

20231061 STURRE ENGINEERING 03/31/2023 $5,400 9 - Carry Fwd 10401000-54420

20231175 MOSELEY ARCHITECTS PC 05/03/2023 $27,850 9 - Carry Fwd 10401143-54420

20230504 NORTHWESTERN EMERGENCY VEHICLES, INC 09/14/2022 $557,244 9 - Carry Fwd 10401230-54000

20230505 NORTHWESTERN EMERGENCY VEHICLES, INC 09/14/2022 $259,996 9 - Carry Fwd 10401230-54000

20230970 STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES, INC 03/02/2023 $54,277 9 - Carry Fwd 10401243-54500

20231131 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. 04/21/2023 $143,107 9 - Carry Fwd 10401243-54500

20231133 STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES, INC 04/21/2023 $146,225 9 - Carry Fwd 10401243-54500

20231134 MEAD & HUNT INC 04/21/2023 $18,717 9 - Carry Fwd 10401243-54500

20230959 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. 03/02/2023 $32,920 9 - Carry Fwd 10401243-54500

20230960 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. 03/02/2023 $8,940 9 - Carry Fwd 10401243-54500

20231260 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. 05/23/2023 $51,405 9 - Carry Fwd 10401243-54500

20231266 MEAD & HUNT INC 05/23/2023 $889,210 9 - Carry Fwd 10401243-54500

20231325 MOSELEY ARCHITECTS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, PC 05/26/2023 $48,500 9 - Carry Fwd 10401250-54300

20230761 JOHN CREWS CONSTRUCTTION LLC 01/05/2023 $49,695 9 - Carry Fwd 10401301-54450

20230406 BEAUFORT DESIGN BUILD LLC 06/30/2023 $1,781 9 - Carry Fwd 10401310-51160

20231121 CREATIVE INTERIORS 04/20/2023 $5,620 9 - Carry Fwd 10401330-54420

20231152 FORMS & SUPPLY INC. 04/20/2023 $18,438 9 - Carry Fwd 10401330-54420

20231296 CREATIVE INTERIORS 05/26/2023 $3,068 9 - Carry Fwd 10401330-54420

20231306 GRAYBAR FENCE COMPANY, INC. 05/26/2023 $7,555 9 - Carry Fwd 10401330-54420

20231159 FORMS & SUPPLY INC. 05/01/2023 $5,465 9 - Carry Fwd 10401330-54420

20230406 BEAUFORT DESIGN BUILD LLC 08/29/2022 $858 9 - Carry Fwd 10401330-54420

20230567 ANDREWS ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 10/13/2022 $11,850 9 - Carry Fwd 10401400-54450

20230680 HORD, COPLAN, & MACHT, INC 11/18/2022 $6,681 9 - Carry Fwd 10401400-54450

20210074 ANDREWS ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 07/01/2023 -$9,656 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20230781 RMF ENGINEERING, INC. 01/12/2023 $33,844 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20230784 HORD, COPLAN, & MACHT, INC 01/12/2023 $23,851 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20230853 THE LANDPLAN GROUP SOUTH INC 02/03/2023 $16,995 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20231252 MUSCO SPORTS LIGHTING, LLC 05/19/2023 $799,325 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20231207 RMF ENGINEERING, INC. 05/10/2023 $20,500 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20231208 RMF ENGINEERING, INC. 05/10/2023 $26,500 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20231210 HORD, COPLAN, & MACHT, INC 05/10/2023 $5,772 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20231211 HORD, COPLAN, & MACHT, INC 05/10/2023 $6,547 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20231162 JEFF LEWIS AIA ARCHITECT 05/01/2023 $22,000 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54436

20230309 DEERE & COMPANY STRATEGIC ACCT BUS DIV 06/29/2023 $44,096 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54200

20230367 DEERE & COMPANY STRATEGIC ACCT BUS DIV 06/30/2023 $43,684 9 - Carry Fwd 10401600-54200

20230367 DEERE & COMPANY STRATEGIC ACCT BUS DIV 06/27/2023 $44,508 9 - Carry Fwd 10401604-54200

$3,432,768

31

Item 13.



EXHIBIT A
PO# Vendor Name PO Date Status

20231061 STURRE ENGINEERING 03/31/2023 $5,400.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20231175 MOSELEY ARCHITECTS PC 05/03/2023 $27,850.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230504 NORTHWESTERN EMERGENCY VEHICLES, INC 09/14/2022 $557,244.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230505 NORTHWESTERN EMERGENCY VEHICLES, INC 09/14/2022 $259,996.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230970 STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES, INC 03/02/2023 $54,277.23 9 - Carry Fwd

20231131 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. 04/21/2023 $143,106.50 9 - Carry Fwd

20231133 STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES, INC 04/21/2023 $146,225.34 9 - Carry Fwd

20231134 MEAD & HUNT INC 04/21/2023 $18,717.30 9 - Carry Fwd

20230959 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. 03/02/2023 $32,920.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230960 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. 03/02/2023 $8,940.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20231260 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. 05/23/2023 $51,405.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20231266 MEAD & HUNT INC 05/23/2023 $889,210.04 9 - Carry Fwd

20231325 MOSELEY ARCHITECTS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, PC 05/26/2023 $48,500.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230761 JOHN CREWS CONSTRUCTTION LLC 01/05/2023 $49,695.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230406 BEAUFORT DESIGN BUILD LLC 06/30/2023 $1,780.58 9 - Carry Fwd

20231121 CREATIVE INTERIORS 04/20/2023 $5,620.23 9 - Carry Fwd

20231152 FORMS & SUPPLY INC. 04/20/2023 $18,438.16 9 - Carry Fwd

20231296 CREATIVE INTERIORS 05/26/2023 $3,068.42 9 - Carry Fwd

20231306 GRAYBAR FENCE COMPANY, INC. 05/26/2023 $7,555.35 9 - Carry Fwd

20231159 FORMS & SUPPLY INC. 05/01/2023 $5,464.56 9 - Carry Fwd

20230406 BEAUFORT DESIGN BUILD LLC 08/29/2022 $858.14 9 - Carry Fwd

20230567 ANDREWS ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 10/13/2022 $11,850.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230680 HORD, COPLAN, & MACHT, INC 11/18/2022 $6,680.87 9 - Carry Fwd

20210074 ANDREWS ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 07/01/2023 -$9,656.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230781 RMF ENGINEERING, INC. 01/12/2023 $33,843.82 9 - Carry Fwd

20230784 HORD, COPLAN, & MACHT, INC 01/12/2023 $23,850.68 9 - Carry Fwd

20230853 THE LANDPLAN GROUP SOUTH INC 02/03/2023 $16,995.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20231252 MUSCO SPORTS LIGHTING, LLC 05/19/2023 $799,325.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20231207 RMF ENGINEERING, INC. 05/10/2023 $20,500.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20231208 RMF ENGINEERING, INC. 05/10/2023 $26,500.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20231210 HORD, COPLAN, & MACHT, INC 05/10/2023 $5,772.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20231211 HORD, COPLAN, & MACHT, INC 05/10/2023 $6,547.20 9 - Carry Fwd

20231162 JEFF LEWIS AIA ARCHITECT 05/01/2023 $22,000.00 9 - Carry Fwd

20230309 DEERE & COMPANY STRATEGIC ACCT BUS DIV 06/29/2023 $44,095.77 9 - Carry Fwd

20230367 DEERE & COMPANY STRATEGIC ACCT BUS DIV 06/30/2023 $43,683.66 9 - Carry Fwd

20230367 DEERE & COMPANY STRATEGIC ACCT BUS DIV 06/27/2023 $44,507.88 9 - Carry Fwd

$3,432,767.73

 

32

Item 13.



GL Account

10401000-54420

10401143-54420

10401230-54000

10401230-54000

10401243-54500

10401243-54500

10401243-54500

10401243-54500

10401243-54500

10401243-54500  

10401243-54500

10401243-54500

10401250-54300

10401301-54450  
10401310-51160

10401330-54420  
10401330-54420

10401330-54420  
10401330-54420  
10401330-54420  
10401330-54420  
10401400-54450

10401400-54450  
10401600-54436  
10401600-54436  
10401600-54436  
10401600-54436

10401600-54436

10401600-54436  
10401600-54436

10401600-54436  
10401600-54436

10401600-54436

10401600-54200

10401600-54200

10401604-54200

33

Item 13.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

An Ordinance Adopting Amendments to the Business and Professional Licenses Ordinance Chapter 18, Article 
III, Section 18-67 (a) (b), Appendix A&B. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance, Administration, and Economic Development Committee - October 16, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Chuck Atkinson - Assistant County Administrator, Development and Recreation 

(10 mins) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

December 2020 - County Council adopted Chapter 18 Article III Business and Professional Licenses Ordinance 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The South Carolina Business License Tax Standardization Act requires that by December 31 of every odd year, 
the County must adopt, by ordinance, the latest Standardized Business License Class Schedule.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Updated Rate Schedule will have a minor fiscal revenue impact.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of the amendments to the Business and Professional Licenses Ordinance Chapter 
18, Article III, Section 18-67 (a) (b), Appendix A&B. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny amendments to the Business and Professional Licenses Ordinance Chapter 18, 
Article III, Section 18-67 (a) (b), Appendix A&B. 

(Next Step – Upon approval, send to County Council for First Reading)  

 

34

Item 14.



 

ORDINANCE 2023/XX 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL LICENSES 

ORDINANCE, CHAPTER 18, ARTICLE III, SECTION 18-67(A)(B), APPENDIX A&B. 

 

WHEREAS, the County of Beaufort is authorized by S.C. Code Section 4-9-30 and Title 6, 

Chapter 1, Article 3 to impose a business license tax on gross income; and 

 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County has been in the practice of regulating business licensing as 

evidenced by the Beaufort County Code of Ordinances Chapter 18, Article Ill, Sections 18-46 

through 18-71; and 

 

WHEREAS, by Act No. 176 of 2020, known as the South Carolina Business License Tax 

Standardization Act (“Standardization Act”). The South Carolina General Assembly imposed 

additional requirements and conditions on the administration of business license taxes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Standardization Act requires that by December thirty-first of every odd 

year, the County must adopt, by ordinance, the latest Standardized Business License Class Schedule 

as recommended by the Municipal Association of South Carolina (the “Association”) and adopted 

by the Director of the Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County Council of Beaufort County now wishes to amend the Current 

Business and Professional License Ordinance to adopt the latest Standardized Business License 

Class Schedule, as required by the Standardization Act, and to make other minor amendments as 

recommended by the Association. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Beaufort County Council, in a meeting duly 

assembled, that Chapter 18, Article III, Section 18-67 (a) (b), Appendix A&B of the Code of 

Ordinances is amended to adopt the latest Standardization Business License Class Schedule and to 

make other minor amendments as recommended by the Association and as set forth in Exhibit "A". 

 

Adopted this _______ day of ____________ 2023 

 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

By: _______________________________________ 

         Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, JD, Clerk to Council 

  

35

Item 14.



1 

ARTICLE III. - BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL LICENSES 

Section 1. License Required. Every person engaged or intending to engage in any business, 

calling, occupation, profession, or activity engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or 

advantage, in whole or in part within the limits of Beaufort County, South Carolina, is required to 

pay an annual license tax for the privilege of doing business and obtain a business license as herein 

provided. 

Section 2.  Definitions. The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this ordinance, 

shall have the meaning ascribed herein. Defined terms are not capitalized when used in this 

ordinance unless the context otherwise requires. 

"Business" means any business, calling, occupation, profession, or activity engaged in with the 

object of gain, benefit, or advantage, either directly or indirectly. In addition to the above-described 

activities constituting doing business in the count an individual shall be deemed to be in business 

if that individual owns and rents two or more residential rental units (or holds a partial interest 

therein) within the County, excluding the municipality therein. This applies to long-term rentals 

(30 days or more) only. 

"Charitable Organization" means an organization that is determined by the Internal Revenue 

Service to be exempt from Federal income taxes under 26 U.S.C. Section 501 (c)(3), (4), (6), (7), 

(8), (10) or (19). 

"Charitable Purpose" means a benevolent, philanthropic, patriotic, or eleemosynary purpose that 

does not result in personal gain to a sponsor, organizer, officer, director, trustee, or person with 

ultimate control of the organization. 

"Classification" means that division of businesses by NAICS codes subject to the same license 

rate as determined by a calculated index of ability to pay based on national averages, benefits, 

equalization of tax burden, relationships of services, or other basis deemed appropriate by the 

Council. 

"Council" means the County Council of Beaufort County. 

"Domicile" means a principal place from which the trade or business of a licensee is conducted, 

directed, or managed. For purposes of this ordinance, a licensee may be deemed to have more than 

one domicile. 

"Gross Income" means the gross receipts or gross revenue of a business, received or accrued, for 

one calendar or fiscal year collected or to be collected from business done within the County. If 

the licensee has a domicile within the County, business done within the County shall include all 

gross receipts or revenue received or accrued by such licensee. If the licensee does not have a 

domicile within the County, business done within the County shall include only gross receipts or 

revenue received or accrued within the County. In all cases, if the licensee pays a business license 

tax to another Municipality or County, then the licensee's gross income for the purpose of 

computing the tax within the County must be reduced by the amount of revenues or receipts taxed 

in the other Municipality or County and fully reported to the County. Gross income for business 

license tax purposes shall not include taxes collected for a governmental entity, escrow funds, or 

funds that are the property of a third party. The value of bartered goods or trade-in merchandise 

36

Item 14.



2 

shall be included in gross income. The gross receipts or gross revenues for business license 

purposes may be verified by inspection of returns and reports filed with the Internal Revenue 

Service, the South Carolina Department of Revenue, the South Carolina Department of Insurance, 

or other government agencies. In calculating gross income for certain businesses, the following 

rules shall apply: 

A. Gross income for agents shall be calculated on gross commissions received or retained, 

unless otherwise specified. If commissions are divided with other brokers or agents, then 

only the amount retained by the broker or agent is considered gross income. 

B. Except as specifically required by S.C. Code 38-7-20, gross income for insurance 

companies shall be calculated on gross premiums written. 

C. Gross income for manufacturers of goods or materials with a location in the County shall 

be calculated on the lesser of (i) gross revenues or receipts received or accrued from 

business done at the location, (ii) the amount of income allocated and apportioned to that 

location by the business for purposes of the business's state income tax return, or (iii) the 

amount of expenses attributable to the location as a cost center of the business. Licensees 

reporting gross income under this provision shall have the burden to establish the amount 

and method of calculation by satisfactory records and proof. Manufacturers include those 

taxpayers reporting a manufacturing principal business activity code on their federal 

income tax returns. 

"License Official" means a person designated to administer this ordinance. Notwithstanding the 

designation of a primary license official, the County may designate one or more alternate license 

officials to administer particular types of business licenses, including without limitation for 

business licenses issued to businesses subject to business license taxes under Article 20, Chapter 

9, Title 58, and Chapters 7 and 45, Title 38, of the South Carolina Code. 

"Licensee" means the business, the person applying for the license on behalf of the business, an 

agent or legal representative of the business, a person who receives any part of the net profit of the 

business, or a person who owns or exercises control of the business. 

"County" means the Beaufort County, South Carolina. 

"NAICS' means the North American Industry Classification System for the United States published 

under the auspices of the Federal Office of Management and Budget. 

"Person" means any individual, firm, partnership, limited liability partnership, limited liability 

company, cooperative non-profit membership, corporation, joint venture, association, estate, trust, 

business trust, receiver, syndicate, holding company, or other group or combination acting as a unit, 

in the singular or plural, and the agent or employee having charge or control of a business in the 

absence of the principal. 

Section 3.  Purpose and Duration. The business license required by this ordinance is for the 

purpose of providing such regulation as may be required for the business subject thereto and for 

the purpose of raising revenue for the general fund through a privilege tax. The license year ending 

on December 31, 2021 shall commence on May 1st, 2022 and shall run through April 30th 2023. 

Thereafter, the license periods shall be established as follows. Except as set forth below for business 

licenses issued to contractors with respect to specific construction projects, each yearly license 

37

Item 14.



3 

shall be issued for the twelve-month period of May 1 to April 30. A business license issued for a 

construction contract may, at the request of the licensee, be stated to expire at the completion of 

the construction project; provided, any such business license may require that the licensee file, by 

each April 30 during the continuation of the construction project, a statement of compliance, 

including but not limited to a revised estimate of the value of the contract. If any revised estimate 

of the final value of such project exceeds the amount for which the business license was issued, the 

licensee shall be required to pay a license fee at the then-prevailing rate on the excess amount. The 

provisions of this ordinance and the rates herein shall remain in effect from year to year as amended 

by the Council. 

Section 4.  Business License Tax Refund. 

A. The required business license tax shall be paid for each business subject hereto according 

to the applicable rate classification on or before the due date of the 30th day of April in 

each year, except for those businesses in Rate Class 8 for which a different due date is 

specified. Late payments shall be subject to penalties as set forth in Section 12 hereof, 

except that admitted insurance companies may pay before June 1 without penalty. 

B. A separate license shall be required for each place of business and for each classification 

or business conducted at one place. If gross income cannot be separated for classifications 

at one location, the business license tax shall be computed on the combined gross income 

for the classification requiring the highest rate. The business license tax must be computed 

based on the licensee's gross income for the calendar year preceding the due date, for the 

licensee' s twelve-month fiscal year preceding the due date, or on a twelve-month projected 

income based on the monthly average for a business in operation for less than one year. 

The business license tax for a new business must be computed on the estimated probable 

gross income for the balance of the license year. A business license related to construction 

contract projects may be issued on a per-project basis, at the option of the taxpayer. No 

refund shall be made for a business that is discontinued. 

C. A licensee that submits a payment greater than the amount owed may request a refund. To 

be considered, a refund request must be submitted in writing to the County before the June 

1 immediately following the April 30 on which the payment was due and must be supported 

by adequate documentation supporting the refund request. The County shall approve or 

deny the refund request, and if approved shall issue the refund to the business, within thirty 

days after receipt of the request. 

Section 5.  Registration Required. 

A. The owner, agent, or legal representative of every business subject to this ordinance, 

whether listed in the classification index or not, shall register the business and make 

application for a business license on or before the due date of each year; provided, a new 

business shall be required to have a business license prior to operation within the County, 

and an annexed business shall be required to have a business license within thirty (30) days 

of the annexation. A license for a bar (NAICS 722410) must be issued in the name of the 

individual who has been issued the corresponding state alcohol, beer, or wine permit or 

license and will have actual control and management of the business. 

38

Item 14.



4 

B. Application shall be on the then-current standard business license application as established 

and provided by the Director of the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office and 

shall be accompanied by all information about the applicant, the licensee, and the business 

deemed appropriate to carry out the purpose of this ordinance by the license official. 

Applicants may be required to submit copies of portions of state and federal income tax 

returns reflecting gross receipts and gross revenue figures. 

C. The applicant shall certify under oath that the information given in the application is true, 

that the gross income is accurately reported (or estimated for a new business) without any 

unauthorized deductions, and that all assessments, personal property taxes on business 

property, and other monies due and payable to the County have been paid. 

D. The County shall allow application, reporting, calculation, and payment of business license 

taxes through the business license tax portal hosted and managed by the South Carolina 

Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office, subject to the availability and capability thereof. Any 

limitations in portal availability or capability do not relieve the applicant or Licensee from 

existing business license or business license tax obligations. 

Section 6.  Deductions. Exemptions, and Charitable Organizations. 

A. No deductions from gross income shall be made except income earned outside of the 

County on which a license tax is paid by the business to some other County or county and 

fully reported to the County, taxes collected for a governmental entity, or income which 

cannot be included for computation of the tax pursuant to state or federal law. Properly 

apportioned income from business in interstate commerce shall be included in the 

calculation of gross income and is not exempted. The applicant shall have the burden to 

establish the right to exempt income by satisfactory records and proof. 

B. No person shall be exempt from the requirements of the ordinance by reason of the lack of 

an established place of business within the County, unless exempted by state or federal law. 

The license official shall determine the appropriate classification for each business in 

accordance with the latest issue of NAICS. No person shall be exempt from this ordinance 

by reason of the payment of any other tax, unless exempted by state law, and no person 

shall be relieved of liability for payment of any other tax or fee by reason of application of 

this ordinance. 

C. Wholesalers are exempt from business license taxes unless they maintain warehouses or 

distribution establishments within the County. A wholesale transaction involves a sale to 

an individual who will resell the goods and includes delivery of the goods to the reseller. It 

does not include a sale of goods to a user or consumer. 

D. A charitable organization shall be exempt from the business license tax on its gross income 

unless it is deemed a business subject to a business license tax on all or part of its gross 

income as provided in this section. A charitable organization, or any affiliate of a charitable 

organization, that reports income from for-profit activities or unrelated business income for 

federal income tax purposes to the Internal Revenue Service shall be deemed a business 

subject to a business license tax on the part of its gross income from such for-profit 

activities or unrelated business income. 

39

Item 14.



5 

E. A charitable organization shall be deemed a business subject to a business license tax on 

its total gross income if (1) any net proceeds of operation, after necessary expenses of 

operation, inure to the benefit of any individual or any entity that is not itself a charitable 

organization as defined in this ordinance, or (2) any net proceeds of operation, after 

necessary expenses of operation, are used for a purpose other than a charitable purpose as 

defined in this ordinance. Excess benefits or compensation in any form beyond fair market 

value to a sponsor, organizer, officer, director, trustee, or person with ultimate control of 

the organization shall not be deemed a necessary expense of operation. 

Section 7. False Application Unlawful. It shall be unlawful for any person subject to the 

provisions of this ordinance to make a false application for a business license or to give or file, or 

direct the giving or filing of, any false information with respect to the license or tax required by 

this ordinance. 

Section 8.  Display and Transfer. 

A. All persons shall display the license issued to them on the original form provided by the 

license official in a conspicuous place in the business establishment at the address shown 

on the license. A transient or non-resident shall carry the license upon his person or in a 

vehicle used in the business readily available for inspection by any authorized agent of the 

County. 

B. A change of address must be reported to the license official within ten (10) days after 

removal of the business to a new location and the license will be valid at the new address 

upon written notification by the license official and compliance with zoning and building 

codes. Failure to obtain the approval of the license official for a change of address shall 

invalidate the license and subject the licensee to prosecution for doing business without a 

license. A business license shall not be transferable, and a transfer of controlling interest 

shall be considered a termination of the old business and the establishment of a new 

business requiring a new business license, based on old business income. 

Section 9.  Administration of Ordinance. The license official shall administer the provisions of 

this ordinance, collect business license taxes, issue licenses, make or initiate investigations and 

audits to ensure compliance, initiate denial or suspension and revocation procedures, report 

violations to the municipal attorney, assist in prosecution of violators, produce forms, undertake 

reasonable procedures relating to the administration of this ordinance, and perform such other 

duties as may be duly assigned. 

Section 10. Inspection and Audits. 

A. For the purpose of enforcing the provisions of this ordinance, the license official or other 

authorized agent of the County is empowered to enter upon the premises of any person 

subject to this ordinance to make inspections and to examine and audit books and records. 

It shall be unlawful for any such person to fail or refuse to make available the necessary 

books and records. In the event an audit or inspection reveals that the licensee has filed 

false information, the costs of the audit shall be added to the correct business license tax 

and late penalties in addition to other penalties provided herein. Each day of failure to pay 

the proper amount of business license tax shall constitute a separate offense. 

40

Item 14.



6 

B. The license official shall have the authority to make inspections and conduct audits of 

businesses to ensure compliance with the ordinance. Financial information obtained by 

inspections and audits shall not be deemed public records, and the license official shall not 

release the amount of business license taxes paid or the reported gross income of any person 

by name without written permission of the licensee, except as authorized by this ordinance, 

state or federal law, or proper judicial order. Statistics compiled by classifications are public 

records. 

Section 11.  Assessments. Payment under Protest, Appeal. 

A. Assessments, payments under protest, and appeals of assessment shall be allowed and 

conducted by the County pursuant to the provisions of S.C. Code 6-1-410, as amended. In 

preparing an assessment, the license official may examine such records of the business, or 

any other available records as may be appropriate and conduct such investigations and 

statistical surveys as the license official may deem appropriate to assess a business license 

tax and penalties as provided herein. 

B. The license official shall establish a uniform local procedure consistent with S.C. Code  

4-9-30 for hearing an application for adjustment of assessment and issuing a notice of final 

assessment; provided that for particular types of business licenses, including without 

limitation for business licenses issued to businesses subject to business license taxes under 

Article 20, Chapter 9, Title 58, and Chapters 7 and 45, Title 38, of the South Carolina Code, 

the County, by separate ordinance, may establish a different procedure and may delegate 

one or more rights, duties, and functions hereunder to the Municipal Association of South 

Carolina. 

Section 12. Delinquent License Taxes, Partial Payment. 

A. For non-payment of all or any part of the correct business license tax, the license official 

shall impose and collect a late penalty of five (5%) percent of the unpaid tax for each month 

or portion thereof after the due date until paid. Penalties shall not be waived. If any business 

license tax remains unpaid for sixty (60) days after its due date, the license official shall 

report it to the municipal attorney for appropriate legal action. 

B. Partial payment may be accepted by the license official to toll imposition of penalties on 

the portion paid; provided, however, no business license shall be issued or renewed until 

the full amount of the tax due, with penalties, has been paid. 

Section 13. Notices. The license official may, but shall not be required to, mail written notices that 

business license taxes are due. If notices are not mailed, there shall be published a notice of the 

due date in a newspaper of general circulation within the County three (3) times prior to the due 

date in each year. Failure to receive notice shall not constitute a defense to prosecution for failure 

to pay the tax due or grounds for waiver of penalties. 

Section 14. Denial of License. The license official may deny a license to an applicant when the 

license official determines: 

A. The application is incomplete or contains a misrepresentation, false or misleading 

statement, or evasion or suppression of a material fact; 

41

Item 14.



7 

B. The activity for which a license is sought is unlawful or constitutes a public nuisance per 

se or per accidens; 

C. The applicant, licensee, prior licensee, or the person in control of the business has been 

convicted within the previous ten years of an offense under a law or ordinance regulating 

business, a crime involving dishonest conduct or moral turpitude related to a business or a 

subject of a business, or an unlawful sale of merchandise or prohibited goods; 

D. The applicant, licensee, prior licensee, or the person in control of the business has engaged 

in an unlawful activity or nuisance related to the business or to a similar business in the 

County or in another jurisdiction; 

E. The applicant, licensee, prior licensee, or the person in control of the business is delinquent 

in the payment to the County of any tax or fee; 

F. A licensee has actual knowledge or notice, or based on the circumstances reasonably should 

have knowledge or notice, that any person or employee of the licensee has committed a 

crime of moral turpitude on the business premises, or has permitted any person or employee 

of the licensee to engage in the unlawful sale of merchandise or prohibited goods on the 

business premises and has not taken remedial measures necessary to correct such activity; 

or 

G. The license for the business or for a similar business of the licensee in the County or another 

jurisdiction has been denied, suspended, or revoked in the previous license year. 

A decision of the license official shall be subject to appeal as herein provided. Denial shall be 

written with reasons stated. 

Section 15. Suspension or Revocation of License. When the license official determines: 

A. A license has been mistakenly or improperly issued or issued contrary to law; 

B. A licensee has breached any condition upon which the license was issued or has failed to 

comply with the provisions of this ordinance; 

C. A licensee has obtained a license through a fraud, misrepresentation, a false or misleading 

statement, or evasion or suppression of a material fact in the license application; 

D. A licensee has been convicted within the previous ten years of an offense under a law or 

ordinance regulating business, a crime involving dishonest conduct or moral turpitude 

related to a business or a subject of a business, or an unlawful sale of merchandise or 

prohibited goods; 

E. A licensee has engaged in an unlawful activity or nuisance related to the business; or 

F. A licensee is delinquent in the payment to the County of any tax or fee, 

the license official may give written notice to the licensee or the person in control of the business 

within the County by personal service or mail that the license is suspended pending a single hearing 

before Council or its designee for the purpose of determining whether the suspension should be 

upheld and the license should be revoked. 

42

Item 14.



8 

The written notice of suspension and proposed revocation shall state the time and place at which 

the hearing is to be held, and shall contain a brief statement of the reasons for the suspension and 

proposed revocation and a copy of the applicable provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 16. Appeals to Council or its Designee. 

A. Except with respect to appeals of assessments under Section 1 1 hereof, which are governed 

by S.C. Code 6-1-410, any person aggrieved by a determination, denial, or suspension and 

proposed revocation of a business license by the license official may appeal the decision to 

the Council or its designee by request stating the reasons for appeal, filed with the license 

official within ten (10) days after service by mail or personal service of the notice of 

determination, denial, or suspension and proposed revocation. 

B. A hearing on an appeal from a license denial or other determination of the license official 

and a hearing on a suspension and proposed revocation shall be held by the Council or its 

designee within ten (10) business days after receipt of a request for appeal or service of a 

notice of suspension and proposed revocation. The hearing shall be held upon written 

notice at a regular or special meeting of the Council, or, if by designee of the Council, at a 

hearing to be scheduled by the designee. The hearing may be continued to another date by 

agreement of all parties. At the hearing, all parties shall have the right to be represented by 

counsel, to present testimony and evidence, and to cross-examine witnesses. The 

proceedings shall be recorded and transcribed at the expense of the party so requesting. The 

rules of evidence and procedure prescribed by Council or its designee shall govern the 

hearing. Following the hearing, the Council by majority vote of its members present, or the 

designee of Council if the hearing is held by the designee, shall render a written decision 

based on findings of fact and conclusions on application of the standards herein. The 

written decision shall be served, by personal service or by mail, upon all parties or their 

representatives and shall constitute the final decision of the County. 

C. Timely appeal of a decision of Council or its designee does not effectuate a stay of that 

decision. The decision of the Council or its designee shall be binding and enforceable 

unless overturned by an applicable appellate court after a due and timely appeal. 

D. For business licenses issued to businesses subject to business license taxes under Article 

20, Chapter 9, Title 58, and Chapters 7 and 45, Title 38, of the South Carolina Code, the 

County may establish a different procedure by ordinance. 

Section 17. Consent. franchise, or license required for use of streets. 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person to construct, install, maintain, or operate in, on, above, 

or under any street or public place under control of the County any line, pipe, cable, pole, 

structure, or facility for utilities, communications, cablevision, or other purposes without a 

consent agreement or franchise agreement issued by the Council by ordinance that 

prescribes the term, fees, and conditions for use. 

B. The annual fee for use of streets or public places authorized by a consent agreement or 

franchise agreement shall be set by the ordinance approving the agreement and shall be 

consistent with limits set by state law. Existing franchise agreements shall continue in effect 

until expiration dates in the agreements. Franchise and consent fees shall not be in lieu of 

43

Item 14.



9 

or be credited against business license taxes unless specifically provided by the franchise 

or consent agreement. 

Section 18. Confidentiality. Except in accordance with proper judicial order or as otherwise 

provided by law, no official or employee of the County may divulge or make known in any manner 

the amount of income or any financial particulars set forth or disclosed in any report or return 

required under this ordinance. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the publication 

of statistics so classified as to prevent the identification of particular reports or returns. Any license 

data may be shared with other public officials or employees in the performance of their duties, 

whether or not those duties relate to enforcement of this ordinance. 

Section 19. Violations. Any person violating any provision of this ordinance shall be deemed 

guilty of an offense and shall be subject to a fine of up to $500.00 or imprisonment for not more 

than thirty (30) days or both, upon conviction. Each day of violation shall be considered a separate 

offense. Punishment for violation shall not relieve the offender of liability for delinquent taxes, 

penalties, and costs provided for in this ordinance. 

Section 20. Severability. A determination that any portion of this ordinance is invalid or 

unenforceable shall not affect the remaining portions. To the extent of any conflict between the 

provisions of this ordinance and the provisions of the South Carolina Business License Tax 

Standardization Act, as codified at S.C. Code 6-1-400 et seq., the standardization act shall control. 

Section 21. Classification and Rates. 

A. The business license tax for each class of businesses subject to this ordinance shall be 

computed in accordance with the current business license rate schedule, designated as 

Appendix A to this ordinance, which may be amended from time to time by the Council. 

B. The current business license class schedule is attached hereto as Appendix B. Hereafter, no 

later than December 31 of each odd year, the County shall adopt, by ordinance, the latest 

standardized business license class schedule as recommended by the Municipal 

Association of South Carolina and adopted by the Director of the South Carolina Revenue 

and Fiscal Affairs Office. Upon adoption by the County, the revised business license class 

schedule shall then be appended to this ordinance as a replacement Appendix B. 

C. The classifications included in each rate class are listed with NAICS codes, by sector, 

subsector, group, or industry. The business license class schedule (Appendix B) is a tool 

for classification and not a limitation on businesses subject to a business license tax. The 

classification in the most recent version of the business license class schedule adopted by 

the Council that most specifically identifies the subject business shall be applied to the 

business. The license official shall have the authority to make the determination of the 

classification most specifically applicable to a subject business. 

D. A copy of the class schedule and rate schedule shall be filed in the office of the clerk. 

44

Item 14.



 

APPENDIX A: BUSNESS LICENSE RATE SCHEDULE 

INCOME: $0 - $2,000 INCOME OVER 

$2,000 

RATE CLASS BASE RATE 

FRACTION THEREOF 

RATE PER $1 000 OR 

1 $ 35.00 $ 0.37 

2 $ 40.00 $ 0.47 

3 $ 45.00 $ 0.57 

4 $ 50.00 $ 0.67 

5 $ 55.00 $ 0.77 

6 $ 60.00 $ 0.87 

7 $ 65.00 $ 0.97 

8.1 $ 40.00 $ 0.47 

8.2 Set by state statute 

8.3 MASC Telecommunications 

8.4 MASC Insurance 

8.51 $12.50 + $12.50 per machine 

8.52 $12.50 + $180.00 per machine 

 8.6 $ 45.00 plus $5.00 -OR- $12.50 per table  

NON-RESIDENT RATES 

Unless otherwise specifically provided, all taxes and rates shall be doubled for nonresidents and itinerants 

having no fixed principal place of business within the County  

 

45

Item 14.



 

CLASS 8 RATES 

Each NAICS number designates a separate subclassification. The businesses in this section are 

treated as separate and individual subclasses due to provisions of state law, regulatory 

requirements, service burdens, tax equalization considerations, and other factors that are deemed 

sufficient to require individually determined rates. In accordance with state law, the County also 

may provide for reasonable subclassifications for rates, described by an NAICS sector, subsector, 

or industry, that are based on particularized considerations as needed for economic stimulus or for 

the enhanced or disproportionate demands on municipal services or infrastructure. 

 Non-resident rates do not apply except where indicated.  

          8.1   NAICS 230000 — Contractors, Construction. All Types [Non-resident rates apply]. 

Resident rates, for contractors having a permanent place of business within the County: Minimum 

on first $2,000 $ see rates PLUS 

Each additional 1,000 $ see rates 

Non-resident rates apply to contractors that do not have a permanent place of business within the 

County. A trailer at the construction site or structure in which the contractor temporarily resides is 

not a permanent place of business under this ordinance. 

No contractor shall be issued a business license until all state and municipal qualification 

examination and trade license requirements have been met. Each contractor shall post a sign in 

plain view on each job identifying the contractor with the job. 

Sub-contractors shall be licensed on the same basis as general or prime contractors for the same 

job. No deductions shall be made by a general or prime contractor for value of work performed by 

a sub-contractor. 

No contractor shall be issued a business license until all performance and indemnity bonds 

required by the Building Code have been filed and approved. Zoning permits must be obtained 

when required by the Zoning Ordinance. 

Each prime contractor shall file with the License Official a list of sub-contractors furnishing labor 

or materials for each project. 

For licenses issued on a per-job basis, the total tax for the full amount of the contract shall be paid 

prior to commencement of work and shall entitle the contractor to complete the job without regard 

to the normal license expiration date. An amended report shall be filed for each new job and the 

appropriate additional license fee per $1,000 of the contract amount shall be paid prior to 

commencement of new work. Only one base tax shall be paid in a license year. Licensees holding 

a per-job license shall file, by each April 30 during the continuation of the construction project, a 

statement of compliance, including but not limited to a revised estimate of the value of the contract. 

If any revised estimate of the final value of such project exceeds the amount for which the business 

license was issued, the licensee shall be required to pay a license fee at the then-prevailing rate on 

the excess amount. 

          8.2   NAICS 482 - Railroad Companies (See S.C. Code 12-23-210). 

         

 

 

46

Item 14.



 

 

 

         8.3   NAICS 517311, 517312 517111, 517112, 517222 - Telephone Companies. 

With respect to "retail telecommunications services" as defined in S. C. Code 58-9-2200, the 

Municipality participates in a collections program administered by the Municipal Association of 

South Carolina. The Municipality has approved participation in the collections program by 

separate ordinance (the "Telecommunications Collections Ordinance"). The rates, terms, 

conditions, dates, penalties, appeals process, and other details of the business license applicable to 

retail telecommunications services are set forth in the Telecommunications Collections Ordinance. 

         8.4   NAICS 5241 — Insurance Companies: 

Independent agents, brokers, their employees are subject to a business license tax based on their 

natural class. With respect to insurers subject to license fees and taxes under Chapter 7 of Title 38 

and to brokers under Chapter 45 of Title 38, the Municipality participates in a collections program 

administered by the Municipal Association of South Carolina. The Municipality has approved 

participation in the collections program by separate ordinance (the "Insurers and Brokers 

Collections Ordinance"). The rates, terms, conditions, dates, penalties, appeals process, and other 

details of the business license applicable to insurers and brokers are set forth in the Insurers and 

Brokers Collections Ordinance. 

8.51 NAICS 713120 — Amusement Machines. coin operated (except gambling). Music 

machines, juke boxes, kiddy rides, video games, pin tables with levers, and other amusement 

machines with or without free play feature licensed by SC Department of Revenue pursuant to 

S.C. Code 12-21-2720(A)(1) and (A)(2) [Type I and Type II].  

For operation of all machines (not on gross income), pursuant to S.C. Code 12-21-2746:      

Per Machine $12.50 PLUS 

Business license $12.50 

Distributors that sell or lease machines and are not licensed by the state as an operator pursuant to 12-

21-2728 are not subject to Subclass 8.51. 

8.52   NAICS 713290 — Amusement Machines, coin operated. non-payout. Amusement machines of 

the non-payout type or in-line pin game licensed by SC Department of Revenue 

 

For operation of all machines (not on gross income), pursuant to S.C. Code 512-21-2720(B): 

Per Machine $180.00 PLUS 

Business license $12.50 

Distributors that sell or lease machines and are not licensed by the state as an operator pursuant to 12-

21-2728 are not subject to Subclass 8.52. 

8.6   NAICS 713990 - Billiard or Pool Rooms, all types. A business that offers the use of billiard 

or pool tables shall be subject to business license taxation under its natural class for all gross 

income of the business excluding the gross income attributable to the billiard or pool tables. In 

addition, the billiard or pool tables shall require their own separate business licenses (A) P pursuant 

to SC Code 12-21-2746 and shall be subject to a license tax of $5.00 per table measuring less than 

47

Item 14.



 

3 ½ feet wide and 7 feet long, and $12.50 per table longer than that.; PLUS, (B) with respect to 

gross income from the entire business in addition to the tax authorized by state law for each table: 

 

Minimum on first $2,000 $ see rates PLUS 

Per $ 1 ,000, or fraction, over $2,000 $ see rates  

48

Item 14.



 

Business License Class Schedule by NAICS Code 

Appendix B 

NAICS 

Sector/Subsector Industry Sector Class 
11 Agriculture, forestry, hunting and fishing 2.0 

21 Mining 4.0 

23 Construction 8.1 

31-33 Manufacturing 2.0 

42 Wholesale trade 1.0 

423930 Recyclable Material Merchant Wholesalers (Junk) 9.1 

44-45 Retail trade 1.0 

4411 Automobile Dealers 9.3 

4412 Other Motor Vehicle Dealers 9.3 

454390 Other Direct Selling Establishments (Peddlers) 9.41 & 9.4 

48-49 Transportation and warehousing 2.0 

482 Rail Transportation 8.2 

51 Information 4.0 

517311 Wired Telecommunications Carriers 8.3 

517312 Wireless Telecommunications Carriers (except Satellite) 8.3 

52 Finance and insurance 7.0 

522298 Pawnshops 9.2 

5241 Insurance Carriers 8.4 

5242 Insurance Brokers for non-admitted Insurance Carriers 8.4 

53 Real estate and rental and leasing 7.0 

54 Professional, scientific, and technical services 5.0 

55 Management of companies 7.0 

56 Administrative and support and waste management and remediation services 4.0 

61 Educational services 4.0 

62 Health care and social assistance 4.0 

71 Arts, entertainment, and recreation 3.0 

711190 Other Performing Arts Companies (Carnivals and Circuses) 9.6 

713120 Amusement Parks and Arcades 8.5 

713290 Nonpayout Amusement Machines 8.5 

713290 Bingo Halls 9.5 

713990 All Other Amusement and Recreational Industries (pool tables)  

721 Accommodation 30 

722 Food services and drinking places 1.0 

722410 Drinking Places (Alcoholic Beverages)  

81 Other services 5.0 

Note: Class Schedule is based on 2017 IRS data. 

49

Item 14.



 

 

 

 
 

 
APPENDIX B 

Classes 1 – 8: Business License Class Schedule by NAICS Codes 
   

NAICS  
Sector/Subsector Industry Sector Class 

11 Agriculture, forestry, hunting and fishing 1 

21 Mining 2 

22 Utilities 1 

31 - 33 Manufacturing 3 

42 Wholesale trade 1 

44 - 45 Retail trade 1 

48 - 49 Transportation and warehousing 1 

51 Information 4 

52 Finance and insurance 7 

53 Real estate and rental and leasing 7 

54 Professional, scientific, and technical services 5 

55 Management of companies 7 

56 Administrative and support and waste management and remediation services 3 

61 Educational services 3 

62 Health care and social assistance 4 

71 Arts, entertainment, and recreation 3 

721 Accommodation 1 

722 Food services and drinking places 2 

81 Other services 4 

      

Class 8 Subclasses   

23 Construction 8.1 

482 Rail Transportation 8.2 

517111 Wired Telecommunications Carriers  8.3 

517112 Wireless Telecommunications Carriers (except Satellite) 8.3 

517122 Agents for Wireless Telecommunications Services 8.3 

5241 Insurance Carriers 8.4 

5242 Insurance Brokers for non-admitted Insurance Carriers 8.4 

713120 Amusement Parks and Arcades 8.51 

713290 Nonpayout Amusement Machines 8.52 

713990 All Other Amusement and Recreational Industries (pool tables) 8.6 

      

2023 Class Schedule is based on a three-year average (2017 - 2019) of IRS statistical data. 
   

50

Item 14.



 

This appendix will be updated every odd year based on the latest available IRS statistics. The 20213 

Business License Class Schedule may be accessed at: 

51

Item 14.



 

ORDINANCE 2023/XX 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL LICENSES 

ORDINANCE, CHAPTER 18, ARTICLE III, SECTION 18-67(A)(B), APPENDIX A&B. 

 

WHEREAS, the County of Beaufort is authorized by S.C. Code Section 4-9-30 and Title 6, 

Chapter 1, Article 3 to impose a business license tax on gross income; and 

 

WHEREAS, Beaufort County has been in the practice of regulating business licensing as 

evidenced by the Beaufort County Code of Ordinances Chapter 18, Article Ill, Sections 18-46 

through 18-71; and 

 

WHEREAS, by Act No. 176 of 2020, known as the South Carolina Business License Tax 

Standardization Act (“Standardization Act”). The South Carolina General Assembly imposed 

additional requirements and conditions on the administration of business license taxes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Standardization Act requires that by December thirty-first of every odd 

year, the County must adopt, by ordinance, the latest Standardized Business License Class Schedule 

as recommended by the Municipal Association of South Carolina (the “Association”) and adopted 

by the Director of the Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County Council of Beaufort County now wishes to amend the Current 

Business and Professional License Ordinance to adopt the latest Standardized Business License 

Class Schedule, as required by the Standardization Act, and to make other minor amendments as 

recommended by the Association. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Beaufort County Council, in a meeting duly 

assembled, that Chapter 18, Article III, Section 18-67 (a)(b), Appendix A&B of the Code of 

Ordinances is amended to adopt the latest Standardization Business License Class Schedule and to 

make other minor amendments as recommended by the Association and as set forth in Exhibit "A". 

 

Adopted this _______ day of ____________ 2023 

 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

By: _______________________________________ 

         Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________ 

Sarah W. Brock, JD, Clerk to Council 

  

52

Item 14.



1 

ARTICLE III. - BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL LICENSES 

Section 1. License Required. Every person engaged or intending to engage in any business, 

calling, occupation, profession, or activity engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or 

advantage, in whole or in part within the limits of Beaufort County, South Carolina, is required to 

pay an annual license tax for the privilege of doing business and obtain a business license as herein 

provided. 

Section 2.  Definitions. The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this ordinance, 

shall have the meaning ascribed herein. Defined terms are not capitalized when used in this 

ordinance unless the context otherwise requires. 

"Business" means any business, calling, occupation, profession, or activity engaged in with the 

object of gain, benefit, or advantage, either directly or indirectly. In addition to the above-described 

activities constituting doing business in the count an individual shall be deemed to be in business 

if that individual owns and rents two or more residential rental units (or holds a partial interest 

therein) within the County, excluding the municipality therein. This applies to long-term rentals 

(30 days or more) only. 

"Charitable Organization" means an organization that is determined by the Internal Revenue 

Service to be exempt from Federal income taxes under 26 U.S.C. Section 501 (c)(3), (4), (6), (7), 

(8), (10) or (19). 

"Charitable Purpose" means a benevolent, philanthropic, patriotic, or eleemosynary purpose that 

does not result in personal gain to a sponsor, organizer, officer, director, trustee, or person with 

ultimate control of the organization. 

"Classification" means that division of businesses by NAICS codes subject to the same license 

rate as determined by a calculated index of ability to pay based on national averages, benefits, 

equalization of tax burden, relationships of services, or other basis deemed appropriate by the 

Council. 

"Council" means the County Council of Beaufort County. 

"Domicile" means a principal place from which the trade or business of a licensee is conducted, 

directed, or managed. For purposes of this ordinance, a licensee may be deemed to have more than 

one domicile. 

"Gross Income" means the gross receipts or gross revenue of a business, received or accrued, for 

one calendar or fiscal year collected or to be collected from business done within the County. If 

the licensee has a domicile within the County, business done within the County shall include all 

gross receipts or revenue received or accrued by such licensee. If the licensee does not have a 

domicile within the County, business done within the County shall include only gross receipts or 

revenue received or accrued within the County. In all cases, if the licensee pays a business license 

tax to another Municipality or County, then the licensee's gross income for the purpose of 

computing the tax within the County must be reduced by the amount of revenues or receipts taxed 

in the other Municipality or County and fully reported to the County. Gross income for business 

license tax purposes shall not include taxes collected for a governmental entity, escrow funds, or 

funds that are the property of a third party. The value of bartered goods or trade-in merchandise 

53

Item 14.



2 

shall be included in gross income. The gross receipts or gross revenues for business license 

purposes may be verified by inspection of returns and reports filed with the Internal Revenue 

Service, the South Carolina Department of Revenue, the South Carolina Department of Insurance, 

or other government agencies. In calculating gross income for certain businesses, the following 

rules shall apply: 

A. Gross income for agents shall be calculated on gross commissions received or retained, 

unless otherwise specified. If commissions are divided with other brokers or agents, then 

only the amount retained by the broker or agent is considered gross income. 

B. Except as specifically required by S.C. Code 38-7-20, gross income for insurance 

companies shall be calculated on gross premiums written. 

C. Gross income for manufacturers of goods or materials with a location in the County shall 

be calculated on the lesser of (i) gross revenues or receipts received or accrued from 

business done at the location, (ii) the amount of income allocated and apportioned to that 

location by the business for purposes of the business's state income tax return, or (iii) the 

amount of expenses attributable to the location as a cost center of the business. Licensees 

reporting gross income under this provision shall have the burden to establish the amount 

and method of calculation by satisfactory records and proof. Manufacturers include those 

taxpayers reporting a manufacturing principal business activity code on their federal 

income tax returns. 

"License Official" means a person designated to administer this ordinance. Notwithstanding the 

designation of a primary license official, the County may designate one or more alternate license 

officials to administer particular types of business licenses, including without limitation for 

business licenses issued to businesses subject to business license taxes under Article 20, Chapter 

9, Title 58, and Chapters 7 and 45, Title 38, of the South Carolina Code. 

"Licensee" means the business, the person applying for the license on behalf of the business, an 

agent or legal representative of the business, a person who receives any part of the net profit of the 

business, or a person who owns or exercises control of the business. 

"County" means the Beaufort County, South Carolina. 

"NAICS' means the North American Industry Classification System for the United States published 

under the auspices of the Federal Office of Management and Budget. 

"Person" means any individual, firm, partnership, limited liability partnership, limited liability 

company, cooperative non-profit membership, corporation, joint venture, association, estate, trust, 

business trust, receiver, syndicate, holding company, or other group or combination acting as a unit, 

in the singular or plural, and the agent or employee having charge or control of a business in the 

absence of the principal. 

Section 3.  Purpose and Duration. The business license required by this ordinance is for the 

purpose of providing such regulation as may be required for the business subject thereto and for 

the purpose of raising revenue for the general fund through a privilege tax. The license year ending 

on December 31, 2021 shall commence on May 1st, 2022 and shall run through April 30th 2023. 

Thereafter, the license periods shall be established as follows. Except as set forth below for business 

licenses issued to contractors with respect to specific construction projects, each yearly license 

54

Item 14.



3 

shall be issued for the twelve-month period of May 1 to April 30. A business license issued for a 

construction contract may, at the request of the licensee, be stated to expire at the completion of 

the construction project; provided, any such business license may require that the licensee file, by 

each April 30 during the continuation of the construction project, a statement of compliance, 

including but not limited to a revised estimate of the value of the contract. If any revised estimate 

of the final value of such project exceeds the amount for which the business license was issued, the 

licensee shall be required to pay a license fee at the then-prevailing rate on the excess amount. The 

provisions of this ordinance and the rates herein shall remain in effect from year to year as amended 

by the Council. 

Section 4.  Business License Tax Refund. 

A. The required business license tax shall be paid for each business subject hereto according 

to the applicable rate classification on or before the due date of the 30th day of April in 

each year, except for those businesses in Rate Class 8 for which a different due date is 

specified. Late payments shall be subject to penalties as set forth in Section 12 hereof, 

except that admitted insurance companies may pay before June 1 without penalty. 

B. A separate license shall be required for each place of business and for each classification 

or business conducted at one place. If gross income cannot be separated for classifications 

at one location, the business license tax shall be computed on the combined gross income 

for the classification requiring the highest rate. The business license tax must be computed 

based on the licensee's gross income for the calendar year preceding the due date, for the 

licensee' s twelve-month fiscal year preceding the due date, or on a twelve-month projected 

income based on the monthly average for a business in operation for less than one year. 

The business license tax for a new business must be computed on the estimated probable 

gross income for the balance of the license year. A business license related to construction 

contract projects may be issued on a per-project basis, at the option of the taxpayer. No 

refund shall be made for a business that is discontinued. 

C. A licensee that submits a payment greater than the amount owed may request a refund. To 

be considered, a refund request must be submitted in writing to the County before the June 

1 immediately following the April 30 on which the payment was due and must be supported 

by adequate documentation supporting the refund request. The County shall approve or 

deny the refund request, and if approved shall issue the refund to the business, within thirty 

days after receipt of the request. 

Section 5.  Registration Required. 

A. The owner, agent, or legal representative of every business subject to this ordinance, 

whether listed in the classification index or not, shall register the business and make 

application for a business license on or before the due date of each year; provided, a new 

business shall be required to have a business license prior to operation within the County, 

and an annexed business shall be required to have a business license within thirty (30) days 

of the annexation. A license for a bar (NAICS 722410) must be issued in the name of the 

individual who has been issued the corresponding state alcohol, beer, or wine permit or 

license and will have actual control and management of the business. 

55

Item 14.



4 

B. Application shall be on the then-current standard business license application as established 

and provided by the Director of the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office and 

shall be accompanied by all information about the applicant, the licensee, and the business 

deemed appropriate to carry out the purpose of this ordinance by the license official. 

Applicants may be required to submit copies of portions of state and federal income tax 

returns reflecting gross receipts and gross revenue figures. 

C. The applicant shall certify under oath that the information given in the application is true, 

that the gross income is accurately reported (or estimated for a new business) without any 

unauthorized deductions, and that all assessments, personal property taxes on business 

property, and other monies due and payable to the County have been paid. 

D. The County shall allow application, reporting, calculation, and payment of business license 

taxes through the business license tax portal hosted and managed by the South Carolina 

Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office, subject to the availability and capability thereof. Any 

limitations in portal availability or capability do not relieve the applicant or Licensee from 

existing business license or business license tax obligations. 

Section 6.  Deductions. Exemptions, and Charitable Organizations. 

A. No deductions from gross income shall be made except income earned outside of the 

County on which a license tax is paid by the business to some other County or county and 

fully reported to the County, taxes collected for a governmental entity, or income which 

cannot be included for computation of the tax pursuant to state or federal law. Properly 

apportioned income from business in interstate commerce shall be included in the 

calculation of gross income and is not exempted. The applicant shall have the burden to 

establish the right to exempt income by satisfactory records and proof. 

B. No person shall be exempt from the requirements of the ordinance by reason of the lack of 

an established place of business within the County, unless exempted by state or federal law. 

The license official shall determine the appropriate classification for each business in 

accordance with the latest issue of NAICS. No person shall be exempt from this ordinance 

by reason of the payment of any other tax, unless exempted by state law, and no person 

shall be relieved of liability for payment of any other tax or fee by reason of application of 

this ordinance. 

C. Wholesalers are exempt from business license taxes unless they maintain warehouses or 

distribution establishments within the County. A wholesale transaction involves a sale to 

an individual who will resell the goods and includes delivery of the goods to the reseller. It 

does not include a sale of goods to a user or consumer. 

D. A charitable organization shall be exempt from the business license tax on its gross income 

unless it is deemed a business subject to a business license tax on all or part of its gross 

income as provided in this section. A charitable organization, or any affiliate of a charitable 

organization, that reports income from for-profit activities or unrelated business income for 

federal income tax purposes to the Internal Revenue Service shall be deemed a business 

subject to a business license tax on the part of its gross income from such for-profit 

activities or unrelated business income. 

56

Item 14.



5 

E. A charitable organization shall be deemed a business subject to a business license tax on 

its total gross income if (1) any net proceeds of operation, after necessary expenses of 

operation, inure to the benefit of any individual or any entity that is not itself a charitable 

organization as defined in this ordinance, or (2) any net proceeds of operation, after 

necessary expenses of operation, are used for a purpose other than a charitable purpose as 

defined in this ordinance. Excess benefits or compensation in any form beyond fair market 

value to a sponsor, organizer, officer, director, trustee, or person with ultimate control of 

the organization shall not be deemed a necessary expense of operation. 

Section 7. False Application Unlawful. It shall be unlawful for any person subject to the 

provisions of this ordinance to make a false application for a business license or to give or file, or 

direct the giving or filing of, any false information with respect to the license or tax required by 

this ordinance. 

Section 8.  Display and Transfer. 

A. All persons shall display the license issued to them on the original form provided by the 

license official in a conspicuous place in the business establishment at the address shown 

on the license. A transient or non-resident shall carry the license upon his person or in a 

vehicle used in the business readily available for inspection by any authorized agent of the 

County. 

B. A change of address must be reported to the license official within ten (10) days after 

removal of the business to a new location and the license will be valid at the new address 

upon written notification by the license official and compliance with zoning and building 

codes. Failure to obtain the approval of the license official for a change of address shall 

invalidate the license and subject the licensee to prosecution for doing business without a 

license. A business license shall not be transferable, and a transfer of controlling interest 

shall be considered a termination of the old business and the establishment of a new 

business requiring a new business license, based on old business income. 

Section 9.  Administration of Ordinance. The license official shall administer the provisions of 

this ordinance, collect business license taxes, issue licenses, make or initiate investigations and 

audits to ensure compliance, initiate denial or suspension and revocation procedures, report 

violations to the municipal attorney, assist in prosecution of violators, produce forms, undertake 

reasonable procedures relating to the administration of this ordinance, and perform such other 

duties as may be duly assigned. 

Section 10. Inspection and Audits. 

A. For the purpose of enforcing the provisions of this ordinance, the license official or other 

authorized agent of the County is empowered to enter upon the premises of any person 

subject to this ordinance to make inspections and to examine and audit books and records. 

It shall be unlawful for any such person to fail or refuse to make available the necessary 

books and records. In the event an audit or inspection reveals that the licensee has filed 

false information, the costs of the audit shall be added to the correct business license tax 

and late penalties in addition to other penalties provided herein. Each day of failure to pay 

the proper amount of business license tax shall constitute a separate offense. 

57

Item 14.



6 

B. The license official shall have the authority to make inspections and conduct audits of 

businesses to ensure compliance with the ordinance. Financial information obtained by 

inspections and audits shall not be deemed public records, and the license official shall not 

release the amount of business license taxes paid or the reported gross income of any person 

by name without written permission of the licensee, except as authorized by this ordinance, 

state or federal law, or proper judicial order. Statistics compiled by classifications are public 

records. 

Section 11.  Assessments. Payment under Protest, Appeal. 

A. Assessments, payments under protest, and appeals of assessment shall be allowed and 

conducted by the County pursuant to the provisions of S.C. Code 6-1-410, as amended. In 

preparing an assessment, the license official may examine such records of the business, or 

any other available records as may be appropriate and conduct such investigations and 

statistical surveys as the license official may deem appropriate to assess a business license 

tax and penalties as provided herein. 

B. The license official shall establish a uniform local procedure consistent with S.C. Code  

4-9-30 for hearing an application for adjustment of assessment and issuing a notice of final 

assessment; provided that for particular types of business licenses, including without 

limitation for business licenses issued to businesses subject to business license taxes under 

Article 20, Chapter 9, Title 58, and Chapters 7 and 45, Title 38, of the South Carolina Code, 

the County, by separate ordinance, may establish a different procedure and may delegate 

one or more rights, duties, and functions hereunder to the Municipal Association of South 

Carolina. 

Section 12. Delinquent License Taxes, Partial Payment. 

A. For non-payment of all or any part of the correct business license tax, the license official 

shall impose and collect a late penalty of five (5%) percent of the unpaid tax for each month 

or portion thereof after the due date until paid. Penalties shall not be waived. If any business 

license tax remains unpaid for sixty (60) days after its due date, the license official shall 

report it to the municipal attorney for appropriate legal action. 

B. Partial payment may be accepted by the license official to toll imposition of penalties on 

the portion paid; provided, however, no business license shall be issued or renewed until 

the full amount of the tax due, with penalties, has been paid. 

Section 13. Notices. The license official may, but shall not be required to, mail written notices that 

business license taxes are due. If notices are not mailed, there shall be published a notice of the 

due date in a newspaper of general circulation within the County three (3) times prior to the due 

date in each year. Failure to receive notice shall not constitute a defense to prosecution for failure 

to pay the tax due or grounds for waiver of penalties. 

Section 14. Denial of License. The license official may deny a license to an applicant when the 

license official determines: 

A. The application is incomplete or contains a misrepresentation, false or misleading 

statement, or evasion or suppression of a material fact; 

58

Item 14.



7 

B. The activity for which a license is sought is unlawful or constitutes a public nuisance per 

se or per accidens; 

C. The applicant, licensee, prior licensee, or the person in control of the business has been 

convicted within the previous ten years of an offense under a law or ordinance regulating 

business, a crime involving dishonest conduct or moral turpitude related to a business or a 

subject of a business, or an unlawful sale of merchandise or prohibited goods; 

D. The applicant, licensee, prior licensee, or the person in control of the business has engaged 

in an unlawful activity or nuisance related to the business or to a similar business in the 

County or in another jurisdiction; 

E. The applicant, licensee, prior licensee, or the person in control of the business is delinquent 

in the payment to the County of any tax or fee; 

F. A licensee has actual knowledge or notice, or based on the circumstances reasonably should 

have knowledge or notice, that any person or employee of the licensee has committed a 

crime of moral turpitude on the business premises, or has permitted any person or employee 

of the licensee to engage in the unlawful sale of merchandise or prohibited goods on the 

business premises and has not taken remedial measures necessary to correct such activity; 

or 

G. The license for the business or for a similar business of the licensee in the County or another 

jurisdiction has been denied, suspended, or revoked in the previous license year. 

A decision of the license official shall be subject to appeal as herein provided. Denial shall be 

written with reasons stated. 

Section 15. Suspension or Revocation of License. When the license official determines: 

A. A license has been mistakenly or improperly issued or issued contrary to law; 

B. A licensee has breached any condition upon which the license was issued or has failed to 

comply with the provisions of this ordinance; 

C. A licensee has obtained a license through a fraud, misrepresentation, a false or misleading 

statement, or evasion or suppression of a material fact in the license application; 

D. A licensee has been convicted within the previous ten years of an offense under a law or 

ordinance regulating business, a crime involving dishonest conduct or moral turpitude 

related to a business or a subject of a business, or an unlawful sale of merchandise or 

prohibited goods; 

E. A licensee has engaged in an unlawful activity or nuisance related to the business; or 

F. A licensee is delinquent in the payment to the County of any tax or fee, 

the license official may give written notice to the licensee or the person in control of the business 

within the County by personal service or mail that the license is suspended pending a single hearing 

before Council or its designee for the purpose of determining whether the suspension should be 

upheld and the license should be revoked. 

59

Item 14.



8 

The written notice of suspension and proposed revocation shall state the time and place at which 

the hearing is to be held, and shall contain a brief statement of the reasons for the suspension and 

proposed revocation and a copy of the applicable provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 16. Appeals to Council or its Designee. 

A. Except with respect to appeals of assessments under Section 1 1 hereof, which are governed 

by S.C. Code 6-1-410, any person aggrieved by a determination, denial, or suspension and 

proposed revocation of a business license by the license official may appeal the decision to 

the Council or its designee by request stating the reasons for appeal, filed with the license 

official within ten (10) days after service by mail or personal service of the notice of 

determination, denial, or suspension and proposed revocation. 

B. A hearing on an appeal from a license denial or other determination of the license official 

and a hearing on a suspension and proposed revocation shall be held by the Council or its 

designee within ten (10) business days after receipt of a request for appeal or service of a 

notice of suspension and proposed revocation. The hearing shall be held upon written 

notice at a regular or special meeting of the Council, or, if by designee of the Council, at a 

hearing to be scheduled by the designee. The hearing may be continued to another date by 

agreement of all parties. At the hearing, all parties shall have the right to be represented by 

counsel, to present testimony and evidence, and to cross-examine witnesses. The 

proceedings shall be recorded and transcribed at the expense of the party so requesting. The 

rules of evidence and procedure prescribed by Council or its designee shall govern the 

hearing. Following the hearing, the Council by majority vote of its members present, or the 

designee of Council if the hearing is held by the designee, shall render a written decision 

based on findings of fact and conclusions on application of the standards herein. The 

written decision shall be served, by personal service or by mail, upon all parties or their 

representatives and shall constitute the final decision of the County. 

C. Timely appeal of a decision of Council or its designee does not effectuate a stay of that 

decision. The decision of the Council or its designee shall be binding and enforceable 

unless overturned by an applicable appellate court after a due and timely appeal. 

D. For business licenses issued to businesses subject to business license taxes under Article 

20, Chapter 9, Title 58, and Chapters 7 and 45, Title 38, of the South Carolina Code, the 

County may establish a different procedure by ordinance. 

Section 17. Consent. franchise, or license required for use of streets. 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person to construct, install, maintain, or operate in, on, above, 

or under any street or public place under control of the County any line, pipe, cable, pole, 

structure, or facility for utilities, communications, cablevision, or other purposes without a 

consent agreement or franchise agreement issued by the Council by ordinance that 

prescribes the term, fees, and conditions for use. 

B. The annual fee for use of streets or public places authorized by a consent agreement or 

franchise agreement shall be set by the ordinance approving the agreement and shall be 

consistent with limits set by state law. Existing franchise agreements shall continue in effect 

until expiration dates in the agreements. Franchise and consent fees shall not be in lieu of 

60

Item 14.



9 

or be credited against business license taxes unless specifically provided by the franchise 

or consent agreement. 

Section 18. Confidentiality. Except in accordance with proper judicial order or as otherwise 

provided by law, no official or employee of the County may divulge or make known in any manner 

the amount of income or any financial particulars set forth or disclosed in any report or return 

required under this ordinance. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the publication 

of statistics so classified as to prevent the identification of particular reports or returns. Any license 

data may be shared with other public officials or employees in the performance of their duties, 

whether or not those duties relate to enforcement of this ordinance. 

Section 19. Violations. Any person violating any provision of this ordinance shall be deemed 

guilty of an offense and shall be subject to a fine of up to $500.00 or imprisonment for not more 

than thirty (30) days or both, upon conviction. Each day of violation shall be considered a separate 

offense. Punishment for violation shall not relieve the offender of liability for delinquent taxes, 

penalties, and costs provided for in this ordinance. 

Section 20. Severability. A determination that any portion of this ordinance is invalid or 

unenforceable shall not affect the remaining portions. To the extent of any conflict between the 

provisions of this ordinance and the provisions of the South Carolina Business License Tax 

Standardization Act, as codified at S.C. Code 6-1-400 et seq., the standardization act shall control. 

Section 21. Classification and Rates. 

A. The business license tax for each class of businesses subject to this ordinance shall be 

computed in accordance with the current business license rate schedule, designated as 

Appendix A to this ordinance, which may be amended from time to time by the Council. 

B. The current business license class schedule is attached hereto as Appendix B. Hereafter, no 

later than December 31 of each odd year, the County shall adopt, by ordinance, the latest 

standardized business license class schedule as recommended by the Municipal 

Association of South Carolina and adopted by the Director of the South Carolina Revenue 

and Fiscal Affairs Office. Upon adoption by the County, the revised business license class 

schedule shall then be appended to this ordinance as a replacement Appendix B. 

C. The classifications included in each rate class are listed with NAICS codes, by sector, 

subsector, group, or industry. The business license class schedule (Appendix B) is a tool 

for classification and not a limitation on businesses subject to a business license tax. The 

classification in the most recent version of the business license class schedule adopted by 

the Council that most specifically identifies the subject business shall be applied to the 

business. The license official shall have the authority to make the determination of the 

classification most specifically applicable to a subject business. 

D. A copy of the class schedule and rate schedule shall be filed in the office of the clerk. 

61

Item 14.



 

APPENDIX A: BUSNESS LICENSE RATE SCHEDULE 

INCOME: $0 - $2,000 INCOME OVER 

$2,000 

RATE CLASS BASE RATE 

FRACTION THEREOF 

RATE PER $1 000 OR 

1 $ 35.00 $ 0.37 

2 $ 40.00 $ 0.47 

3 $ 45.00 $ 0.57 

4 $ 50.00 $ 0.67 

5 $ 55.00 $ 0.77 

6 $ 60.00 $ 0.87 

7 $ 65.00 $ 0.97 

8.1 $ 40.00 $ 0.47 

8.2 Set by state statute 

8.3 MASC Telecommunications 

8.4 MASC Insurance 

8.51 $12.50 + $12.50 per machine 

8.52 $12.50 + $180.00 per machine 

 8.6 $ 45.00 plus $5.00 -OR- $12.50 per table  

NON-RESIDENT RATES 

Unless otherwise specifically provided, all taxes and rates shall be doubled for nonresidents and itinerants 

having no fixed principal place of business within the County  

 

62

Item 14.



 

CLASS 8 RATES 

Each NAICS number designates a separate subclassification. The businesses in this section are 

treated as separate and individual subclasses due to provisions of state law, regulatory 

requirements, service burdens, tax equalization considerations, and other factors that are deemed 

sufficient to require individually determined rates. In accordance with state law, the County also 

may provide for reasonable subclassifications for rates, described by an NAICS sector, subsector, 

or industry, that are based on particularized considerations as needed for economic stimulus or for 

the enhanced or disproportionate demands on municipal services or infrastructure. 

 Non-resident rates do not apply except where indicated.  

          8.1   NAICS 230000 — Contractors, Construction. All Types [Non-resident rates apply]. 

Resident rates, for contractors having a permanent place of business within the County: Minimum 

on first $2,000 $ see rates PLUS 

Each additional 1,000 $ see rates 

Non-resident rates apply to contractors that do not have a permanent place of business within the 

County. A trailer at the construction site or structure in which the contractor temporarily resides is 

not a permanent place of business under this ordinance. 

No contractor shall be issued a business license until all state and municipal qualification 

examination and trade license requirements have been met. Each contractor shall post a sign in 

plain view on each job identifying the contractor with the job. 

Sub-contractors shall be licensed on the same basis as general or prime contractors for the same 

job. No deductions shall be made by a general or prime contractor for value of work performed by 

a sub-contractor. 

No contractor shall be issued a business license until all performance and indemnity bonds 

required by the Building Code have been filed and approved. Zoning permits must be obtained 

when required by the Zoning Ordinance. 

Each prime contractor shall file with the License Official a list of sub-contractors furnishing labor 

or materials for each project. 

For licenses issued on a per-job basis, the total tax for the full amount of the contract shall be paid 

prior to commencement of work and shall entitle the contractor to complete the job without regard 

to the normal license expiration date. An amended report shall be filed for each new job and the 

appropriate additional license fee per $1,000 of the contract amount shall be paid prior to 

commencement of new work. Only one base tax shall be paid in a license year. Licensees holding 

a per-job license shall file, by each April 30 during the continuation of the construction project, a 

statement of compliance, including but not limited to a revised estimate of the value of the contract. 

If any revised estimate of the final value of such project exceeds the amount for which the business 

license was issued, the licensee shall be required to pay a license fee at the then-prevailing rate on 

the excess amount. 

          8.2   NAICS 482 - Railroad Companies (See S.C. Code 12-23-210). 

         

 

 

63

Item 14.



 

 

 

         8.3   NAICS 517111, 517112, 517222 - Telephone Companies. 

With respect to "retail telecommunications services" as defined in S. C. Code 58-9-2200, the 

Municipality participates in a collections program administered by the Municipal Association of 

South Carolina. The Municipality has approved participation in the collections program by 

separate ordinance (the "Telecommunications Collections Ordinance"). The rates, terms, 

conditions, dates, penalties, appeals process, and other details of the business license applicable to 

retail telecommunications services are set forth in the Telecommunications Collections Ordinance. 

         8.4   NAICS 5241 — Insurance Companies: 

Independent agents, brokers, their employees are subject to a business license tax based on their 

natural class. With respect to insurers subject to license fees and taxes under Chapter 7 of Title 38 

and to brokers under Chapter 45 of Title 38, the Municipality participates in a collections program 

administered by the Municipal Association of South Carolina. The Municipality has approved 

participation in the collections program by separate ordinance (the "Insurers and Brokers 

Collections Ordinance"). The rates, terms, conditions, dates, penalties, appeals process, and other 

details of the business license applicable to insurers and brokers are set forth in the Insurers and 

Brokers Collections Ordinance. 

8.51 NAICS 713120 — Amusement Machines. coin operated (except gambling). Music 

machines, juke boxes, kiddy rides, video games, pin tables with levers, and other amusement 

machines with or without free play feature licensed by SC Department of Revenue pursuant to 

S.C. Code 12-21-2720(A)(1) and (A)(2) [Type I and Type II].  

For operation of all machines (not on gross income), pursuant to S.C. Code 12-21-2746:      

Per Machine $12.50 PLUS 

Business license $12.50 

Distributors that sell or lease machines and are not licensed by the state as an operator pursuant to 12-

21-2728 are not subject to Subclass 8.51. 

8.52   NAICS 713290 — Amusement Machines, coin operated. non-payout. Amusement machines of 

the non-payout type or in-line pin game licensed by SC Department of Revenue 

 

For operation of all machines (not on gross income), pursuant to S.C. Code 512-21-2720(B): 

Per Machine $180.00 PLUS 

Business license $12.50 

Distributors that sell or lease machines and are not licensed by the state as an operator pursuant to 12-

21-2728 are not subject to Subclass 8.52. 

8.6   NAICS 713990 - Billiard or Pool Rooms, all types. A business that offers the use of billiard 

or pool tables shall be subject to business license taxation under its natural class for all gross 

income of the business excluding the gross income attributable to the billiard or pool tables. In 

addition, the billiard or pool tables shall require their own separate business licenses pursuant to 

SC Code 12-21-2746 and shall be subject to a license tax of $5.00 per table measuring less than 3 

½ feet wide and 7 feet long, and $12.50 per table longer than that. 

64

Item 14.



 

 

 

65

Item 14.



 

 

 

 
 

 
APPENDIX B 

Classes 1 – 8: Business License Class Schedule by NAICS Codes 
   

NAICS  
Sector/Subsector Industry Sector Class 

11 Agriculture, forestry, hunting and fishing 1 

21 Mining 2 

22 Utilities 1 

31 - 33 Manufacturing 3 

42 Wholesale trade 1 

44 - 45 Retail trade 1 

48 - 49 Transportation and warehousing 1 

51 Information 4 

52 Finance and insurance 7 

53 Real estate and rental and leasing 7 

54 Professional, scientific, and technical services 5 

55 Management of companies 7 

56 Administrative and support and waste management and remediation services 3 

61 Educational services 3 

62 Health care and social assistance 4 

71 Arts, entertainment, and recreation 3 

721 Accommodation 1 

722 Food services and drinking places 2 

81 Other services 4 

      

Class 8 Subclasses   

23 Construction 8.1 

482 Rail Transportation 8.2 

517111 Wired Telecommunications Carriers  8.3 

517112 Wireless Telecommunications Carriers (except Satellite) 8.3 

517122 Agents for Wireless Telecommunications Services 8.3 

5241 Insurance Carriers 8.4 

5242 Insurance Brokers for non-admitted Insurance Carriers 8.4 

713120 Amusement Parks and Arcades 8.51 

713290 Nonpayout Amusement Machines 8.52 

713990 All Other Amusement and Recreational Industries (pool tables) 8.6 

      

2023 Class Schedule is based on a three-year average (2017 - 2019) of IRS statistical data. 
   

66

Item 14.



 

This appendix will be updated every odd year based on the latest available IRS statistics. The 2023 

Business License Class Schedule may be accessed at: 

67

Item 14.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

AN ORDINANCE RATIFYING THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED OFFICIALS AND TO 

AMEND SECTION 2-347 OF THE BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF LAWS ESTABLISHING THE 

SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

September 25, 2023; County Council  

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Brittany Ward, County Attorney; Katherine Mead, Director of Human Resources  

10 Minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Discussed at September 18, 2023 Finance Committee.  Motion made to present ordinance at the 
September 25, 2023 County Council meeting. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

On August 12, 2019, the Beaufort County Finance Committee (“Committee”) desired to compensate 
the Elected Officials based on the average salaries of Tier 1 Counties in South Carolina, and approved 
to amend the current ordinance to reflect the recommended salaries of the Elected Officials.  The 
funding for the desired salary increase for Elected Officials had been included in the Fiscal Year 2019 
budget.  The desired ordinance was not presented to County Council.  The Elected Officials have been 
receiving the approved recommended salary rates above since July 1, 2019 and have received all other 
applicable increases as established in Chapter 2 of the Beaufort County Ordinance   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

 Potential salary amounts owed totals $45,417.78 to be paid from the payroll contingency account. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends Council vote in favor of the ordinance. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to move forward to second reading and a public hearing of an ordinance ratifying the salaries 
for various elected officials and to amend Section 2-347 of the Beaufort Bounty Code of Laws 
establishing the salaries for various elected and appointed officials. 

 

 

68

Item 15.



ORDINANCE 2023/_________ 

AN ORDINANCE RATIFYING THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED OFFICIALS AND 

TO AMEND SECTION 2-347 OF THE BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF LAWS ESTABLISHING 

THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS 

WHEREAS, the County Council of Beaufort County (“Council”) has created a salary 

administration program for compensating elected and appointed officials in Section 2-346 of the Beaufort 

County Code; and  

WHEREAS, the Council has the authority to establish salaries for elected officials and in Section 

2-347 of the Beaufort County Code has established the Entry Level Salary for the Auditor, Clerk of Court, 

Coroner, Sheriff, and Treasurer (“Elected Officials”); and  

WHEREAS, on August 12, 2019, the Beaufort County Finance Committee (“Committee”) desired 

to compensate the Elected Officials based on the average salaries of Tier 1 Counties in South Carolina, and 

approved to amend the current ordinance to reflect the recommended salaries of the Elected Officials as 

follows:  

Elected Official Recommended Salary 

Auditor $88,000 

Clerk of Court $103,000 

Coroner $92,000 

Sheriff $149,000 

Treasurer $93,000 

 

WHEREAS, the funding for the desired salary increase for Elected Officials was included in the 

Fiscal Year 2019 budget; and  

WHEREAS, the desired ordinance amendment to increase salaries for Elected Officials did not 

receive a public hearing nor was the ordinance amendment presented to Council.  Yet, the Elected Officials 

who held their positions on July 1, 2019, started receiving the above recommended salary rates and have 

received all other applicable increases as established in Chapter 2 of the Beaufort County Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, Council has determined that it is in its best interest of all parties to ratify the payments 

for the Elected Official’s salaries who were sworn into their office after July 1, 2019 and to amend 

Ordinance Section 2-347 to reflect the desired salary increases for the Elected Officials based on the 2019 

recommendations; and  

WHEREAS, standards that are stricken through shall be deleted text and standards that 

are underscored shall be added text. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by Beaufort County Council in a meeting duly 

assembled, by their authority to ratify the Elected Officials’ salary payments to reflect the above 2019 

recommended salaries, and all other applicable increases as established in Chapter 2 of the Beaufort County 

Ordinance, and to hereby amend Section 2-347 Beaufort County Code of Laws to read as follows:  

(a)  Salary. The entry level salary for each elected and appointed official is established as follows:  

(1)  Auditor: $59,915.00 $88,000.00, which excludes any other stipend paid by the county and/or state.  

69

Item 15.



(2)   Clerk of court: $79,837.00 $103,000, which excludes any other stipend paid by the county and/or 

state.  

(3)  Coroner: $70,367.00 $92,000, which excludes any other stipend paid by the county and/or state.  

(4)  Probate judge: $100,067.00, which excludes any other stipend paid by the county and/or state.  

(5)  Sheriff: $102,380.00 $149,000, which excludes any other stipend paid by the county and/or state.  

(6)  Treasurer: $64,327.00 $93,000, which excludes any other stipend paid by the county and/or state.  

(7)  Master-in-equity: Set pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 14-11-30, which excludes any other stipend 

paid by the county and/or state.  

(8)  Magistrate: Set pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 22-8-40(b)(2), which excludes any other stipend 

paid by the county and/or state.  

The above entry level salaries were established using the average salaries of peer counties in the tier 1 

classification as determined by population in the South Carolina Association of Counties Annual Salary 

Survey for each position, or the current Beaufort County salary, whichever is greater.  

(b)  Cost of living. At each instance of a cost of living allowance (COLA) pay increase awarded by the 

Beaufort County Council, after the enactment date of this ordinance [September 2007 and amended 

August 2019], the entry level salary of each elected or appointed office listed in subsection (a) above 

will be increased accordingly. 

 

Adopted this _____ day of ______________, 2023.  

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

 

BY:        

             Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

     

Sarah W. Brock,  

Clerk to Council  

 

 

 

70

Item 15.



               BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL             

                 AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

An ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and Beaufort Flight Training 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee; October 23, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Steve Parry; Deputy Airports Director 

3 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort Executive Airport’s terminal maintains multiple office spaces available for lease. Beaufort Flight 

Training (BFT) has operated from this office for several years, producing revenue. When Beaufort County 

formalized the standard lease rates for North and South of the Broad, the airport addressed the lease rate 

and drafted an updated lease agreement to meet County standards. 

The DRAFT lease and legal review - approved by Legal on Sep 22, 2023.  

Beaufort County Airports Board (BCAB) - recommended approval on October 19, 2023. 

Public Notice was published in the Sunday, October 8, 2023, edition of The Beaufort Gazette and The Island 

Packet. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Beaufort Flight Training (BFT) is a flight training business operating at Beaufort Executive Airport. BFT has 

expressed a desire to lease an available office space at Beaufort Executive Airport. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Beaufort Executive Airport will receive monthly income generated through lease revenue totaling $437.25. 

The monthly base lease payments were calculated using Beaufort County’s approved, North of the Broad 

lease rates of $19.80 per sf. The space totals 265 sf.  (265 sq ft x $19.80/12)  

Annual Expected Revenue: $5247.00 

The lease rates are in accordance with current Beaufort County lease policies. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COMMITTEE: 
 

Staff recommends approval of an ordinance to approve the lease agreement between Beaufort County 
and Beaufort Flight Training. 

OPTIONS FOR COMMITTEE MOTION: 
 

Motion to approve/deny an ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and Beaufort 

Flight Training. 

Move forward to Council for Approval on November 13, 2023  

 

71

Item 16.



 
 

ORDINANCE 2023/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER 

INTO A LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN BEAUFORT COUNTY AND BEAUFORT 

FLIGHT TRAINING 

 WHEREAS, the Beaufort Executive Airport (“Airport”) desires to enter into a lease 

agreement with Beaufort Flight Training ("Lessee"), that shall include reasonable lease rates based 

on the square footage of the leased space; and 

 WHEREAS, the Lessee will engage in the business of flight training, and desires to lease 

certain space owned by the County and acquire from the County certain rights and privileges in 

connection with its use of Airport facilities; and 

 WHEREAS, the County has the right to permit the use of the Airport facilities upon the 

terms and conditions hereinafter set forth and has full power and authority to enter into this 

Agreement; and  

 WHEREAS, County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and residents 

of Beaufort County for the County Administrator to enter into a Lease Agreement with Beaufort 

Flight Training. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL, 

duly assembled, does hereby authorize the County Administrator to enter into a Lease Agreement 

with Beaufort Flight Training. 

 

Adopted this ____ day of __________, 2023.  

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

BY:        

      Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

ATTEST:  

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

72

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
1 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 

      )  REAL PROPERTY  

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT              )  LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

 

 THIS REAL PROPERTY LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ___ day of 

________ 2023, (“Lease”), by and between Beaufort County, a political subdivision of the State of 

South Carolina, (“Landlord”) and Beaufort Flight Training (“Tenant”), collectively referred to as the 

“Parties”. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord, for and in consideration of the rents paid and to be paid, and the 

covenants, conditions, and stipulations to be kept and performed by Tenant, agrees to lease the Premises 

described herein below.   

 

I. DESCRIPTION OF LEASED PREMISES.  The premises to be conveyed is located at 39 

Airport Circle, Beaufort SC  29907 (Beaufort Executive Airport - Terminal), hereinafter referred 

to as “Premises”. 

Assigned Room number:  103   Total square feet:  265  

       

II. TERM 

2.1 Term. The Lease Term shall be effective on the date of execution by the County Administrator 

(“Commencement Date”) and terminating at 11:59 p.m. on June 30, 2024 (“Termination Date”). 

 

2.2 Renewal.  This Lease may be renewed upon the mutual consent of the Parties and agreed upon in 

writing.  Any Renewal Term shall include the same terms as this Lease and be for a period up to 

three (3) one-year periods, unless thirty (30) days prior written notice of intent not to renew is 

given by either party.  The terms set forth in this Paragraph shall collectively be referred to hereafter 

as a “Renewal Term”.   

 

III. RENTAL PAYMENT 

3.1 Payment of Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord Four Hundred Thirty-Seven dollars and Twenty-

Five cents ($437.25) (total square feet x $19.80/12) in monthly base rental payments (“Rent”) 

during the Lease Term. If occupancy begins and/or ends on any day other than the first day of a 

month, Rent shall be prorated for the month of commencement and/or month of termination and 

monthly rent collected in advance thereafter.  

 
The first Rent payment shall be made on or before the Commencement Date. Tenant shall pay all 

rents due and owing, without deduction or set off, to Landlord at the address set forth in Section 9.  

All Rent payments shall be made in the form of check or direct deposit.  

 

3.2 Renewal Rate.  The Rent shall increase by three percent (3%) the first month of any Renewal Term.  

If the Renewal Term is effective after the 5th of the month, the Rent shall be prorated appropriately.   

 

3.3 Late Payment of Rent. Any Rent not paid within five (5) days of the due date shall be deemed late 

and shall obligate Tenant to pay a late charge of ten percent (10%) of the sum then due.   

73

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
2 

 

3.4 Triple Net Lease.  The Parties agree this is a “triple net lease” and, except as otherwise provided 

herein, Tenant is responsible for all costs related to the Premises, together with all Improvements 

constructed thereon, including, without limitation, any taxes or fees, insurance and maintenance.  

Landlord shall have no responsibility for any such expenses unless specifically provided for herein.  

The Rent payable under this Lease shall be paid to Landlord without any claim on the part of Tenant 

for diminution, set-off or abatement and nothing shall suspend, abate or reduce any Rent to be paid 

hereunder. 

 

IV. CONDITION, USE, MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS OF PREMISES 

4.1 Acceptance and Condition of the Premises. The Parties mutually agree that Tenant shall take 

possession of the Premises on the Commencement Date.  Tenant stipulates that he or she has 

examined the Premises, including the grounds and all buildings and improvements, and that they 

are, at the time of this Agreement, in good order, repair, and in a safe, clean and tenantable 

condition.  Landlord has made no representation in connection with the Premises and shall not be 

liable for any latent defects therein; provided, however, that if such latent defects render the 
Premises uninhabitable for the purposes of this Lease, Tenant may at its option, and upon written 

notice to Landlord, terminate this Lease.   

 

4.2 Use of Premises. Tenant shall use the Premises for the sole purpose of operating fixed-wing scenic 

air tours and flight training (“Permitted Use”). Any change in the use of the Premises may only be 

undertaken with the written consent of the Landlord.  Tenant shall not use the Premises for any 

illegal purpose, nor violate any statute, regulation, rule or order of any governmental body in its 

use thereof, nor create or allow to exist any nuisances, nor do any act in or about the Premises or 

bring anything upon the Premises which will increase the premium for insurance on the Premises. 

 

4.3 Repairs of Premises. Tenant shall at its own expense keep the Premises in good repair. Tenant shall 

not perform any additional work upon the Premises without prior written consent of the Landlord.  

The Premises shall be maintained in a clean and orderly manner. In the event of any damage of the 

Premises which is the direct result of Tenant, Tenant shall, immediately upon receiving demand 

from Landlord, correct the damage.  

 

4.4 Tenant Improvements, Alterations, and Restorations.   

 

4.4.1 Initial Improvements. Promptly after Landlord delivers the Premises to Tenant, 

Tenant shall proceed to prepare the Premises and perform such improvements that are required to 

utilize the Premises for the Permitted Use, which shall include approved signage and marketing 

(the “Tenant’s Initial Improvements”). Prior to performing Tenant’s Initial Improvements and 

promptly after the Lease is executed, Tenant shall send plans and specifications to Landlord for 

Landlord’s approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld and Tenant shall not 

commence any of Tenant’s Initial Improvements until Landlord has approved the plans and 

specifications.    

 

4.4.2 Additional Improvements. Other than Tenant’s Initial Improvements, Tenant shall 

not make or permit to be made any structural alterations, modifications, additions, decorations or 

improvements to the Premises, nor shall Tenant make or permit any other work whatsoever that 

would directly or indirectly involve the penetration or removal (whether permanent or temporary) 

of, or require access through, in, under, or above any floor, wall or ceiling, or surface or covering 

thereof in the Premises. 

74

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
3 

 

4.4.3 Cost of Improvements.  Tenant’s Initial Improvements, or any additional 

improvements as approved by the Landlord, shall be made at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, 

including the expense of complying with all present and future legal requirements, and any other 

work required to be performed in other areas within or outside the Premises. 

 

4.4.4 Compliance. All such Tenant’s Work shall be performed diligently and in a first 

class workmanlike manner and in accordance with plans and specifications approved by Landlord, 

and shall comply with all legal requirements.  Any of Tenant’s Initial Improvements or other 

alterations, including, without limitation, moveable partitions that are affixed to the Premise (but 

excluding moveable, free standing partitions) and all carpeting, shall at once become part of the 

Premises and the property of Landlord. 

 

4.5 Right of Inspection.  Landlord shall have the unfettered right at all reasonable times during the 

Initial Term or any Renewal Term to enter the Premises for any reason whatsoever.  Landlord 

agrees, when able, to provide Tenant with reasonable notice of said entry upon the Premises.  No 

notice will be required in emergency situations or for access or entry upon the Premises. 

 

V. DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE 

5.1 If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed during the term of this Lease by any casualty insured 

under Landlord's standard fire and casualty insurance, Landlord shall, except as otherwise provided 

in this Lease and subject to any delay or inability from causes beyond its control, repair and/or 

rebuild the same substantially to what had been the condition thereof immediately prior to such 

damage or destruction. 

 

5.2 If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed to the extent of fifty percent (50%) or more of the 

insurable value thereof, or if such casualty shall not have been insured against by Landlord's 

standard fire and casualty policies, then Landlord or Tenant may terminate this Lease or elect to 

repair such damage or rebuild the Premises. Within thirty (30) calendar days after any such 

casualty, Landlord shall notify Tenant whether Landlord intends to repair or rebuild the Premises, 

and Tenant shall notify Landlord whether Tenant intends to terminate this Lease. If Landlord elects 

to repair or rebuild the Premises, Landlord shall perform such repair or rebuilding as provided in 

this Agreement. If Landlord elects not to repair or rebuild, the Lease shall terminate without further 

notice and all further obligations of both parties hereunder shall cease (other than those which shall 

theretofore have accrued), effective as of the date on which Tenant ceases doing business on the 

Premises.  

 

5.3 If Landlord elects to repair the Premises and Tenant does not elect to terminate the Lease, and if 

Landlord's repairs are not substantially completed within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days 

following the date of the casualty, then Tenant, upon not less than thirty (30) calendar days written 

notice to Landlord, may terminate this Lease if Landlord has not substantially completed such 

repairs within the time period (which shall not be less than 30 calendar days) set forth in such 

notice. Substantial completion, as used herein, shall mean that the Premises are restored to the 

condition that they may be occupied and utilized for their intended purpose, notwithstanding that 

there may be additional "punch list" or other non-essential items to be completed, which neither 

affect not impact Tenant's use and enjoyment of the Premises. Nevertheless, Landlord shall 

diligently pursue the completion of all remaining work in a timely manner. 

 

75

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
4 

 

5.4 During any period of reconstruction or repair of the Premises, provided Tenant has not elected to 

terminate this Lease, Tenant may at its sole option continue the operation of Tenant's business in 

the Premises to the extent reasonably practicable from the standpoint of good business practice. 

Tenant shall not interfere with the repair or restoration activities of Landlord or its contractors, and 

will adapt and modify its business activities as deemed necessary by Landlord to allow such repair 

or restoration activities to continue expeditiously. 

 

5.5 During any period in which, by reason of any damage or destruction not resulting from the 

negligence of Tenant, Tenants employees, agents, or invitees, Tenant is unable to occupy all or a 

portion of the Premises, Tenant’s rent shall be appropriately abated for that part of the Premises 

rendered unusable for the conduct of Tenants business. Such abatement shall continue for the period 

commencing with such destruction or damage and ending with the substantial completion by 

Landlord of Landlord's repairs and/or rebuilding of the Premises, as described in this Lease. 

 

VI. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 

The Tenant shall not, without the Landlord’s prior written consent: (i) mortgage, pledge, encumber, 

or otherwise transfer (whether voluntarily, by operation of law, or otherwise) this lease or any 

interest hereunder; (ii) allow any lien to attach to Tenant’s interest in the Premises or this Lease; 

(iii) permit the use or occupancy of the Premises or any part thereof by anyone for a purpose other 

than as set forth herein; (iv) assign or convey this Lease or any interest herein; or (v) sublet the 

Premises or any part thereof; and any attempt to consummate any of the foregoing without 

Landlord’s consent shall be void.  Any assignment or subletting of this Lease must be approved in 

writing by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Assignment of the Lease 

will not relieve the Tenant or the Guarantors of their respective obligations under this Lease and 

Guaranty Agreement unless otherwise agreed by Landlord in writing. 

 

VII. TERMINATION. This Lease shall end on the Termination Date.  This Lease may be terminated 

by Landlord prior to the Termination Date upon providing a thirty (30) day notice to Tenant and/or 

upon the occurrence of any default event as set forth in Section 8. 

 

7.1 Surrender of Property.  At the termination of this Lease, Tenant agrees to quit and deliver the 

Premises peaceably and quietly to Landlord, or its attorney, or other duly authorized agent, at the 

expiration or other termination of this Lease. The Tenant shall surrender the Premises in as good 

state and condition as delivered to Tenant at the commencement of this Lease, reasonable use and 

wear thereof expected.   

 

7.2 Hold Over.  If, without objection by Landlord, Tenant holds possession of the Premises after 

expiration of the term of this Lease, Tenant shall become a Tenant from month to month upon the 

terms herein specified, but at a monthly rent amount equivalent to 150% of the gross rent being 

paid (starting sixty (60) calendar days after the expiration of the term of this Lease) at the end of 

the term of this Lease, and all fees, assessments, costs and other items must continue to be paid 

pursuant to all the provisions set forth herein. Such month to month rent and other amounts shall 

be payable in advance on or before the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each month. 

 

VIII. DEFAULT 

8.1 Default by Tenant. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default:  

 

76

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
5 

 

(a) The rent of any other sum of money payable under this Lease, whether to Landlord or 

otherwise, is not paid within ten (10) days of the due date. 

 

(b) Tenant’s interest in the Lease of the Premises shall be subjected to any attachment, levy, or 

sale pursuant to any order or decree entered against Tenant in any legal proceeding and such 

order or decree shall not be vacated within thirty (30) days of entry thereof; unless with respect 

to any attachment, levy or sale, which cannot be vacated within thirty (30) days, Tenant in good 

faith shall have commenced and thereafter shall continue to diligently pursue the vacation of 

such order or decree by lawful means. 

 

(c) Tenant breaches or fails to comply with any term, provision, condition, or covenant of this 

Lease, other than the payment of rent, or with any of the rules and regulations now or hereafter 

established from time to time by the Landlord to govern the operation of the building and such 

breach or failure to comply is not cured within ten (10) days after written notice of such breach 

or failure to comply is given to Tenant. 

 

8.2 Remedies of Landlord.  Upon the occurrence of an event of default by Tenant other than a failure 

of Tenant to timely pay a sum that is due and payable, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of 

the event of default, and Tenant shall, within twenty (20) days of receipt of such written notice cure 

such event of default.  Where the Tenant fails to cure such event of default within twenty (20) days 

of receipt of the above-referenced written notice, Landlord shall have the option to do and perform 

any one or more of the following in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other remedy or right 

permitted by law or in equity or by this Lease.  In electing to do any one or more of the following 

courses of conduct, the Landlord must reasonably undertake its best efforts to properly mitigate 

any damages caused or sustained by Landlord due to the occurrence of an event of default by the 

Tenant.  The options and courses of conduct which may be undertaken by the Landlord in an event 

of default by the Tenant are as follows: 

 

(a) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease, may immediately or at any time thereafter 

re-enter the Premises and correct or repair any condition which shall constitute a failure on 

Tenant’s part to keep, observe, perform, satisfy, or abide by any term, condition, covenant, 

agreement or obligation of this Lease or of the rules and regulations adopted by the Landlord 

or of any notice given Tenant by Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease, and Tenant shall 

fully reimburse and compensate Landlord on demand for all reasonable expenses. 

 

(b) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease may immediately or at any time thereafter 

demand in writing that Tenant immediately vacate the Premises whereupon Tenant shall 

immediately vacate the Premises and, immediately remove therefrom all personal property 

belonging to Tenant, whereupon Landlord shall have the right to immediately re-enter and take 

possession of the Premises.  Any such demand, re-entry and taking of possession of the 

Premises by Landlord shall not of itself constitute an acceptance by Landlord of a surrender of 

this Lease or of the Premises by Tenant and shall not of itself constitute a termination of this 

Lease by Landlord.  In the event the Landlord re-enters and takes possession of the Premises 

as provided above and the Tenant has failed upon request by Landlord to immediately remove 

from the Premises all property belonging to or placed upon the Premises by the Tenant, the 

Landlord shall have the right to have such property of the Tenant removed from the Premises 

and reasonably be placed within a secure storage facility for a period of time not to exceed 

thirty (30) days, and all costs of handling, moving and storing such property of the Tenant shall 

77

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
6 

 

be paid by the Tenant. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, Landlord shall be required to 

comply with applicable South Carolina law regarding reentry and possession of the Premises. 

 

(c) Landlord may immediately or at any time thereafter terminate this Lease, and this Lease shall 

be deemed to have been terminated upon receipt by Tenant of written notice of such 

termination; upon such termination Landlord shall recover from Tenant all damages Landlord 

may suffer by reason of such termination including, without limitation, all arrearages in rentals, 

costs, charges, additional rentals, and reimbursements, the cost (including court costs and 

attorneys’ fees) of recovering possession of the Premises, and, in addition thereto, Landlord at 

its election shall have and recover from Tenant either: (1) an amount equal to the excess, if any, 

of the total amount of all rents and other charges to be paid by Tenant for the remainder of the 

term of this Lease over the then reasonable rental value of the Premises for the remainder of 

the Term of this Lease, or (2) the rents and other charges which Landlord would be entitled to 

receive from Tenant if the Lease were not terminated.  Such election shall be made by Landlord 

by serving written notice upon Tenant of its choice of the alternatives within thirty (30) days 

of the notice of termination. Notwithstanding anything hereunder to the contrary, Landlord 

must use its reasonable best efforts to re-let the Premises and abate Landlord’s damages. 

 

8.3 No Waiver. No course of dealing between Landlord and Tenant or any failure or delay on the part 

of Landlord in exercising any rights of Landlord under any provisions of this Lease shall operate 

as a waiver of any rights of Landlord, nor shall any waiver of a default on one occasion operate as 

a waiver of any subsequent default or any other default.  No express waiver shall affect any 

condition, covenant, rule or regulation other than the one specified in such waiver and that one only 

for the time and in the manner specifically stated. 

 

8.4 No Election of Remedies. The exercise by Landlord of any right or remedy shall not prevent the 

subsequent exercise by Landlord of other rights and remedies.  All remedies provided for in this 

Lease are cumulative and may, at the election of Landlord, be exercised alternatively, successively, 

or in any other manner, and all remedies provided for in this Lease are in addition to any other 

rights provided for or allowed by law or in equity. 

 

8.5 Insolvency or Bankruptcy.  The appointment of a receiver to take possession of all or substantially 

all of the assets of Tenant, or an assignment by Tenant for the benefit of creditors, or any action 

taken or suffered by Tenant, or any action against Tenant, under any insolvency, bankruptcy, or 

reorganization, shall at Landlord’s option constitute an event of default under this Lease.  Upon the 

happening of any such event of default or at any time thereafter, this Lease shall terminate five (5) 

days after written notice of termination from Landlord to Tenant.  In no event shall this Lease be 

assigned or assignable by operation of law or by voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings 

or otherwise and in no event shall this Lease or any rights or privileges hereunder be an asset of 

Tenant under any bankruptcy, insolvency, or reorganization proceedings. 

 

8.6 Abandonment. Tenant shall not be considered to have abandoned or vacated the Premises as long 

as Tenant continues to pay rent and fulfill all other obligations of this Lease, regardless of whether 

Tenant is actually continuously occupying the space or not, unless Tenant gives notice of 

termination if and as allowed by this Lease.  If Landlord's right of entry is exercised following 

abandonment of the Leased Premises by Tenant, then Landlord may consider any personal property 

belonging to Tenant and left on the Leased Premises to have been abandoned, in which case 

78

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
7 

 

Landlord may dispose of all such personal property in any manner Landlord shall deem proper and 

is hereby relieved of all liability for doing so. 

 

IX. SALE OF PREMISES.  In the event the Landlord hereunder, or any successor owner of the 

Premises, shall sell or convey the Premises, all liabilities and obligations on the part of the 

Landlord, or such successor owner, under this Lease accruing thereafter shall remain for a 

minimum sixty (60) days or the Tenant may enter into a new Lease with the successor owner.  

 

X. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  Tenant shall comply, at its own expense, with all statutes, 

regulations, rules, ordinances and orders of any governmental body, department, or agency thereof 

which apply to or result from Tenant’s use of the Premises. 

 

XI. INSURANCE LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION 

11.1 Insurance Liability.  Landlord has obtained Premise Liability Insurance, which does not cover 

Tenant's possessions or Tenant's negligence.  Tenant must obtain a Renter's Insurance Policy, in an 

amount of no less than $1,000,000 in commercial general liability, or other appropriate policies to 

cover damage or loss resulting from Tenant's negligence. Tenant shall name Landlord as an 

additional party in any and all insurance policies, and shall provide Landlord with a copy of all 

policies. 

 

11.1.1 Tenant shall provide proof that payment for the insurance policy has been made initially 

and thereafter and that the policy has been renewed at least fifteen (15) calendar days prior 

to the anniversary of the initial year of this lease. Landlord may contact Tenant’s insurer(s) 

or insurer(s)' agent(s) directly at any time regarding Tenant’s coverage, coverage amounts, 

or other such relevant and reasonable issues related to this Lease.   

 

11.2 Indemnity.  Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Landlord against and from any 

and all claims for property damage, or for personal injury, arising out of or in any way arising out 

of Tenant's use of the Leased Premises or from any activity, work, or thing done, permitted or 

suffered by Tenant in or about the Leased Premises. 

 

11.3 Liens. If any mechanic’s or other lien is filed against the Premises for work claimed to have been 

for or materials furnished thereto, such lien shall be discharged by Tenant within Ten (10) days 

thereafter, at Tenant’s expense by full payment thereof by filing a bond required by law. Tenant’s 

failure to do so shall constitute a material default hereunder.      

 

XII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

12.1 Notices. Any notice, communication, request, approval or consent which may be given or is 

required to be given under the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be transmitted 

(1) via hand delivery or express overnight delivery service to the Seller or the Purchaser, (2) via 

facsimile with the original to follow via hand delivery or overnight delivery service, or (3) via e-

mail, provided that the sending party can show proof of delivery, as the case may be, at the 

addresses/numbers set forth below: 

 

AS TO LANDLORD: Beaufort County 

Attn:  Beaufort County Administration 

Post Office Box 1228 

Beaufort, SC  29901 

79

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
8 

 

   Copy To:  Beaufort County 

Attn:  Beaufort County Public Facility Director  

Post Office Box 1228 

Beaufort, SC  29901 

  

AS TO TENANT:  ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

 

12.2 Entire Agreement. This Lease constitutes as the sole and entire agreement of Landlord and Tenant 

and no prior or contemporaneous oral or written representations or agreements between the parties 

affecting the Premises shall have any legal effect.   

 

12.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts. Each of the counterparts shall be 

deemed an original instrument, but all of the counterparts shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

 

12.4 Severability.  If any portion of this Lease shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, 

the remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and enforceable.  If a court finds that any 

provision of this Lease is invalid or unenforceable, then such provision shall be deemed to be 

written, construed and enforced as so limited. 

 

12.5 Amendment. This Agreement cannot be amended orally or by a single party.  No amendment or 

change to this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by both Parties to this 

Agreement. 

 

12.6 Captions.  The captions used in this Lease are for convenience only and do not in any way limit or 

amplify the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

12.7 Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Lease shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 

upon Landlord and Tenant, and their respective successors, heirs, legal representatives, and assigns. 

 

12.8 Applicable Law. The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the interpretation, validity, 

performance and enforcement of this Lease; and, of any personal guarantees given in connection 

with this Lease. 

 

12.9 Authority. Each individual and entity executing this Agreement hereby represents and warrants that 

he, she or it has the capacity set forth on the signature pages hereof with full power and authority 

to bind the party on whose behalf he, she or it is executing this Agreement to the terms hereof.   

 

12.10 Force Majeure. Except for timely Rent payment, Landlord or Tenant shall not be in default 

hereunder when performance of any term or condition is prevented by a cause beyond its control. 

 

12.11 Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Lease. 

 

 

 

80

Item 16.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
9 

 

 

 

12.12 Quiet Enjoyment.  Landlord hereby covenants, warrants and agrees that so long as Tenant is 

performing all of the covenants and agreements herein stipulated to be performed on the Tenant’s 

part, Tenant shall at all times during the lease term have the peaceable quiet and enjoyment and 

possession of the Premises without any manner of hindrance from Landlord or any person or 

persons lawfully claiming the Premises, or any part thereof. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and in acknowledgement that the parties hereto have read and understood 

each and every provision hereof, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed on the date first 

written above. 

             

LANDLORD:  

  

      

_____________________________  _____________________________ 

Witness     _____________________________  

      Beaufort County Administrator  

 

 

_____________________________  Date: ________________________ 

Witness   

 

TENANT:  

 

 

 

_____________________________  _____________________________ 

Witness     By: __________________________    

      Its: __________________________ 

 

 

_____________________________  Date: ________________________ 

        

81

Item 16.



               BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL             

                 AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

An ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and Tim Verroi  

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee; October 23, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Steve Parry; Deputy Airports Director 

3 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort Executive Airport’s terminal maintains multiple office spaces available for lease. Mr. Tim Verroi has 

leased this office for several years. When Beaufort County formalized the standard lease rates for North and 

South of the Broad, the airport addressed the lease rate and drafted an updated lease agreement to meet 

County standards. 

The DRAFT lease and legal review - approved by Legal on Sep 22, 2023.  

Beaufort County Airports Board (BCAB) - recommended approval on October 19, 2023. 

Public Notice was published in the Sunday, October 8, 2023, edition of The Beaufort Gazette and The Island 

Packet. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Tim Verroi is an aircraft owner and frequent user of the airport. He has expressed a desire to continue leasing 

the office space at Beaufort Executive Airport. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Beaufort Executive Airport will receive monthly income generated through lease revenue totaling $145.20. 
The monthly base lease payments were calculated using Beaufort County’s approved, North of the broad 
lease rates of $19.80 per sf. The space totals 88 sf.  (88 sq ft x $19.80/12)  

Annual Expected Revenue: $1742.40 

The lease rates are in accordance with current Beaufort County lease policies. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COMMITTEE: 

Airport Staff recommends approval of an ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County 

and Tim Verroi. 

OPTIONS FOR COMMITTEE MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny an ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and  

Tim Verroi. 

Move forward to Council for Approval on November 13, 2023 

 

82

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
1 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 

      )  REAL PROPERTY  

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT              )  LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

 

 THIS REAL PROPERTY LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ___ day of 

________ 2023, (“Lease”), by and between Beaufort County, a political subdivision of the State of 

South Carolina, (“Landlord”) and Tim Verroi (“Tenant”), collectively referred to as the “Parties”. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord, for and in consideration of the rents paid and to be paid, and the 

covenants, conditions, and stipulations to be kept and performed by Tenant, agrees to lease the Premises 

described herein below.   

 

I. DESCRIPTION OF LEASED PREMISES.  The premises to be conveyed is located at 39 

Airport Circle, Beaufort SC  29907 (Beaufort Executive Airport - Terminal), hereinafter referred 

to as “Premises”. 

Assigned Room number:  101   Total square feet:  88  

       

II. TERM 

2.1 Term. The Lease Term shall be effective on the date of execution by the County Administrator 

(“Commencement Date”) and terminating at 11:59 p.m. on June 30, 2024 (“Termination Date”). 

 

2.2 Renewal.  This Lease may be renewed upon the mutual consent of the Parties and agreed upon in 

writing.  Any Renewal Term shall include the same terms as this Lease and be for a period up to 

three (3) one-year periods, unless thirty (30) days prior written notice of intent not to renew is 

given by either party.  The terms set forth in this Paragraph shall collectively be referred to hereafter 

as a “Renewal Term”.   

 

III. RENTAL PAYMENT 

3.1 Payment of Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord One Hundred Forty-Five dollars and Twenty cents 

($145.20) (total square feet x $19.80/12) in monthly base rental payments (“Rent”) during the 

Lease Term. If occupancy begins and/or ends on any day other than the first day of a month, Rent 

shall be prorated for the month of commencement and/or month of termination and monthly rent 

collected in advance thereafter.  

 

The first Rent payment shall be made on or before the Commencement Date. Tenant shall pay all 

rents due and owing, without deduction or set off, to Landlord at the address set forth in Section 9.  

All Rent payments shall be made in the form of check or direct deposit.  

 

3.2 Renewal Rate.  The Rent shall increase by three percent (3%) the first month of any Renewal Term.  

If the Renewal Term is effective after the 5th of the month, the Rent shall be prorated appropriately.   

 

3.3 Late Payment of Rent. Any Rent not paid within five (5) days of the due date shall be deemed late 

and shall obligate Tenant to pay a late charge of ten percent (10%) of the sum then due.   

3.4 Triple Net Lease.  The Parties agree this is a “triple net lease” and, except as otherwise provided 

herein, Tenant is responsible for all costs related to the Premises, together with all Improvements 

83

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
2 

 

constructed thereon, including, without limitation, any taxes or fees, insurance and maintenance.  

Landlord shall have no responsibility for any such expenses unless specifically provided for herein.  

The Rent payable under this Lease shall be paid to Landlord without any claim on the part of Tenant 

for diminution, set-off or abatement and nothing shall suspend, abate or reduce any Rent to be paid 

hereunder. 

 

IV. CONDITION, USE, MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS OF PREMISES 

4.1 Acceptance and Condition of the Premises. The Parties mutually agree that Tenant shall take 

possession of the Premises on the Commencement Date.  Tenant stipulates that he or she has 

examined the Premises, including the grounds and all buildings and improvements, and that they 

are, at the time of this Agreement, in good order, repair, and in a safe, clean and tenantable 

condition.  Landlord has made no representation in connection with the Premises and shall not be 

liable for any latent defects therein; provided, however, that if such latent defects render the 

Premises uninhabitable for the purposes of this Lease, Tenant may at its option, and upon written 

notice to Landlord, terminate this Lease.   

 

4.2 Use of Premises. Tenant shall use the Premises for the sole purpose of operating fixed-wing scenic 

air tours and flight training (“Permitted Use”). Any change in the use of the Premises may only be 

undertaken with the written consent of the Landlord.  Tenant shall not use the Premises for any 

illegal purpose, nor violate any statute, regulation, rule or order of any governmental body in its 

use thereof, nor create or allow to exist any nuisances, nor do any act in or about the Premises or 

bring anything upon the Premises which will increase the premium for insurance on the Premises. 

 

4.3 Repairs of Premises. Tenant shall at its own expense keep the Premises in good repair. Tenant shall 

not perform any additional work upon the Premises without prior written consent of the Landlord.  

The Premises shall be maintained in a clean and orderly manner. In the event of any damage of the 

Premises which is the direct result of Tenant, Tenant shall, immediately upon receiving demand 

from Landlord, correct the damage.  

 

4.4 Tenant Improvements, Alterations, and Restorations.   

 

4.4.1 Initial Improvements. Promptly after Landlord delivers the Premises to Tenant, 

Tenant shall proceed to prepare the Premises and perform such improvements that are required to 

utilize the Premises for the Permitted Use, which shall include approved signage and marketing 

(the “Tenant’s Initial Improvements”). Prior to performing Tenant’s Initial Improvements and 

promptly after the Lease is executed, Tenant shall send plans and specifications to Landlord for 

Landlord’s approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld and Tenant shall not 

commence any of Tenant’s Initial Improvements until Landlord has approved the plans and 

specifications.    

 

4.4.2 Additional Improvements. Other than Tenant’s Initial Improvements, Tenant shall 

not make or permit to be made any structural alterations, modifications, additions, decorations or 

improvements to the Premises, nor shall Tenant make or permit any other work whatsoever that 

would directly or indirectly involve the penetration or removal (whether permanent or temporary) 

of, or require access through, in, under, or above any floor, wall or ceiling, or surface or covering 

thereof in the Premises. 

4.4.3 Cost of Improvements.  Tenant’s Initial Improvements, or any additional 

improvements as approved by the Landlord, shall be made at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, 

84

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
3 

 

including the expense of complying with all present and future legal requirements, and any other 

work required to be performed in other areas within or outside the Premises. 

 

4.4.4 Compliance. All such Tenant’s Work shall be performed diligently and in a first 

class workmanlike manner and in accordance with plans and specifications approved by Landlord, 

and shall comply with all legal requirements.  Any of Tenant’s Initial Improvements or other 

alterations, including, without limitation, moveable partitions that are affixed to the Premise (but 

excluding moveable, free standing partitions) and all carpeting, shall at once become part of the 

Premises and the property of Landlord. 

 

4.5 Right of Inspection.  Landlord shall have the unfettered right at all reasonable times during the 

Initial Term or any Renewal Term to enter the Premises for any reason whatsoever.  Landlord 

agrees, when able, to provide Tenant with reasonable notice of said entry upon the Premises.  No 

notice will be required in emergency situations or for access or entry upon the Premises. 

 

V. DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE 
5.1 If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed during the term of this Lease by any casualty insured 

under Landlord's standard fire and casualty insurance, Landlord shall, except as otherwise provided 

in this Lease and subject to any delay or inability from causes beyond its control, repair and/or 

rebuild the same substantially to what had been the condition thereof immediately prior to such 

damage or destruction. 

 

5.2 If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed to the extent of fifty percent (50%) or more of the 

insurable value thereof, or if such casualty shall not have been insured against by Landlord's 

standard fire and casualty policies, then Landlord or Tenant may terminate this Lease or elect to 

repair such damage or rebuild the Premises. Within thirty (30) calendar days after any such 

casualty, Landlord shall notify Tenant whether Landlord intends to repair or rebuild the Premises, 

and Tenant shall notify Landlord whether Tenant intends to terminate this Lease. If Landlord elects 

to repair or rebuild the Premises, Landlord shall perform such repair or rebuilding as provided in 

this Agreement. If Landlord elects not to repair or rebuild, the Lease shall terminate without further 

notice and all further obligations of both parties hereunder shall cease (other than those which shall 

theretofore have accrued), effective as of the date on which Tenant ceases doing business on the 

Premises.  

 

5.3 If Landlord elects to repair the Premises and Tenant does not elect to terminate the Lease, and if 

Landlord's repairs are not substantially completed within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days 

following the date of the casualty, then Tenant, upon not less than thirty (30) calendar days written 

notice to Landlord, may terminate this Lease if Landlord has not substantially completed such 

repairs within the time period (which shall not be less than 30 calendar days) set forth in such 

notice. Substantial completion, as used herein, shall mean that the Premises are restored to the 

condition that they may be occupied and utilized for their intended purpose, notwithstanding that 

there may be additional "punch list" or other non-essential items to be completed, which neither 

affect not impact Tenant's use and enjoyment of the Premises. Nevertheless, Landlord shall 

diligently pursue the completion of all remaining work in a timely manner. 

 

5.4 During any period of reconstruction or repair of the Premises, provided Tenant has not elected to 

terminate this Lease, Tenant may at its sole option continue the operation of Tenant's business in 

the Premises to the extent reasonably practicable from the standpoint of good business practice. 

85

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
4 

 

Tenant shall not interfere with the repair or restoration activities of Landlord or its contractors, and 

will adapt and modify its business activities as deemed necessary by Landlord to allow such repair 

or restoration activities to continue expeditiously. 

 

5.5 During any period in which, by reason of any damage or destruction not resulting from the 

negligence of Tenant, Tenants employees, agents, or invitees, Tenant is unable to occupy all or a 

portion of the Premises, Tenant’s rent shall be appropriately abated for that part of the Premises 

rendered unusable for the conduct of Tenants business. Such abatement shall continue for the period 

commencing with such destruction or damage and ending with the substantial completion by 

Landlord of Landlord's repairs and/or rebuilding of the Premises, as described in this Lease. 

 

VI. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 

The Tenant shall not, without the Landlord’s prior written consent: (i) mortgage, pledge, encumber, 

or otherwise transfer (whether voluntarily, by operation of law, or otherwise) this lease or any 

interest hereunder; (ii) allow any lien to attach to Tenant’s interest in the Premises or this Lease; 

(iii) permit the use or occupancy of the Premises or any part thereof by anyone for a purpose other 

than as set forth herein; (iv) assign or convey this Lease or any interest herein; or (v) sublet the 

Premises or any part thereof; and any attempt to consummate any of the foregoing without 

Landlord’s consent shall be void.  Any assignment or subletting of this Lease must be approved in 

writing by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Assignment of the Lease 

will not relieve the Tenant or the Guarantors of their respective obligations under this Lease and 

Guaranty Agreement unless otherwise agreed by Landlord in writing. 

 

VII. TERMINATION. This Lease shall end on the Termination Date.  This Lease may be terminated 

by Landlord prior to the Termination Date upon providing a thirty (30) day notice to Tenant and/or 

upon the occurrence of any default event as set forth in Section 8. 

 

7.1 Surrender of Property.  At the termination of this Lease, Tenant agrees to quit and deliver the 

Premises peaceably and quietly to Landlord, or its attorney, or other duly authorized agent, at the 

expiration or other termination of this Lease. The Tenant shall surrender the Premises in as good 

state and condition as delivered to Tenant at the commencement of this Lease, reasonable use and 

wear thereof expected.   

 

7.2 Hold Over.  If, without objection by Landlord, Tenant holds possession of the Premises after 

expiration of the term of this Lease, Tenant shall become a Tenant from month to month upon the 

terms herein specified, but at a monthly rent amount equivalent to 150% of the gross rent being 

paid (starting sixty (60) calendar days after the expiration of the term of this Lease) at the end of 

the term of this Lease, and all fees, assessments, costs and other items must continue to be paid 

pursuant to all the provisions set forth herein. Such month to month rent and other amounts shall 

be payable in advance on or before the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each month. 

 

VIII. DEFAULT 

8.1 Default by Tenant. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default:  

 

(a) The rent of any other sum of money payable under this Lease, whether to Landlord or 

otherwise, is not paid within ten (10) days of the due date. 

 

86

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
5 

 

(b) Tenant’s interest in the Lease of the Premises shall be subjected to any attachment, levy, or 

sale pursuant to any order or decree entered against Tenant in any legal proceeding and such 

order or decree shall not be vacated within thirty (30) days of entry thereof; unless with respect 

to any attachment, levy or sale, which cannot be vacated within thirty (30) days, Tenant in good 

faith shall have commenced and thereafter shall continue to diligently pursue the vacation of 

such order or decree by lawful means. 

 

(c) Tenant breaches or fails to comply with any term, provision, condition, or covenant of this 

Lease, other than the payment of rent, or with any of the rules and regulations now or hereafter 

established from time to time by the Landlord to govern the operation of the building and such 

breach or failure to comply is not cured within ten (10) days after written notice of such breach 

or failure to comply is given to Tenant. 

 

8.2 Remedies of Landlord.  Upon the occurrence of an event of default by Tenant other than a failure 

of Tenant to timely pay a sum that is due and payable, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of 

the event of default, and Tenant shall, within twenty (20) days of receipt of such written notice cure 

such event of default.  Where the Tenant fails to cure such event of default within twenty (20) days 

of receipt of the above-referenced written notice, Landlord shall have the option to do and perform 

any one or more of the following in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other remedy or right 

permitted by law or in equity or by this Lease.  In electing to do any one or more of the following 

courses of conduct, the Landlord must reasonably undertake its best efforts to properly mitigate 

any damages caused or sustained by Landlord due to the occurrence of an event of default by the 

Tenant.  The options and courses of conduct which may be undertaken by the Landlord in an event 

of default by the Tenant are as follows: 

 

(a) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease, may immediately or at any time thereafter 

re-enter the Premises and correct or repair any condition which shall constitute a failure on 

Tenant’s part to keep, observe, perform, satisfy, or abide by any term, condition, covenant, 

agreement or obligation of this Lease or of the rules and regulations adopted by the Landlord 

or of any notice given Tenant by Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease, and Tenant shall 

fully reimburse and compensate Landlord on demand for all reasonable expenses. 

 

(b) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease may immediately or at any time thereafter 

demand in writing that Tenant immediately vacate the Premises whereupon Tenant shall 

immediately vacate the Premises and, immediately remove therefrom all personal property 

belonging to Tenant, whereupon Landlord shall have the right to immediately re-enter and take 

possession of the Premises.  Any such demand, re-entry and taking of possession of the 

Premises by Landlord shall not of itself constitute an acceptance by Landlord of a surrender of 

this Lease or of the Premises by Tenant and shall not of itself constitute a termination of this 

Lease by Landlord.  In the event the Landlord re-enters and takes possession of the Premises 

as provided above and the Tenant has failed upon request by Landlord to immediately remove 

from the Premises all property belonging to or placed upon the Premises by the Tenant, the 

Landlord shall have the right to have such property of the Tenant removed from the Premises 

and reasonably be placed within a secure storage facility for a period of time not to exceed 

thirty (30) days, and all costs of handling, moving and storing such property of the Tenant shall 

be paid by the Tenant. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, Landlord shall be required to 

comply with applicable South Carolina law regarding reentry and possession of the Premises. 

 

87

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
6 

 

(c) Landlord may immediately or at any time thereafter terminate this Lease, and this Lease shall 

be deemed to have been terminated upon receipt by Tenant of written notice of such 

termination; upon such termination Landlord shall recover from Tenant all damages Landlord 

may suffer by reason of such termination including, without limitation, all arrearages in rentals, 

costs, charges, additional rentals, and reimbursements, the cost (including court costs and 

attorneys’ fees) of recovering possession of the Premises, and, in addition thereto, Landlord at 

its election shall have and recover from Tenant either: (1) an amount equal to the excess, if any, 

of the total amount of all rents and other charges to be paid by Tenant for the remainder of the 

term of this Lease over the then reasonable rental value of the Premises for the remainder of 

the Term of this Lease, or (2) the rents and other charges which Landlord would be entitled to 

receive from Tenant if the Lease were not terminated.  Such election shall be made by Landlord 

by serving written notice upon Tenant of its choice of the alternatives within thirty (30) days 

of the notice of termination. Notwithstanding anything hereunder to the contrary, Landlord 

must use its reasonable best efforts to re-let the Premises and abate Landlord’s damages. 

 

8.3 No Waiver. No course of dealing between Landlord and Tenant or any failure or delay on the part 

of Landlord in exercising any rights of Landlord under any provisions of this Lease shall operate 

as a waiver of any rights of Landlord, nor shall any waiver of a default on one occasion operate as 

a waiver of any subsequent default or any other default.  No express waiver shall affect any 

condition, covenant, rule or regulation other than the one specified in such waiver and that one only 

for the time and in the manner specifically stated. 

 

8.4 No Election of Remedies. The exercise by Landlord of any right or remedy shall not prevent the 

subsequent exercise by Landlord of other rights and remedies.  All remedies provided for in this 

Lease are cumulative and may, at the election of Landlord, be exercised alternatively, successively, 

or in any other manner, and all remedies provided for in this Lease are in addition to any other 

rights provided for or allowed by law or in equity. 

 

8.5 Insolvency or Bankruptcy.  The appointment of a receiver to take possession of all or substantially 

all of the assets of Tenant, or an assignment by Tenant for the benefit of creditors, or any action 

taken or suffered by Tenant, or any action against Tenant, under any insolvency, bankruptcy, or 

reorganization, shall at Landlord’s option constitute an event of default under this Lease.  Upon the 

happening of any such event of default or at any time thereafter, this Lease shall terminate five (5) 

days after written notice of termination from Landlord to Tenant.  In no event shall this Lease be 

assigned or assignable by operation of law or by voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings 

or otherwise and in no event shall this Lease or any rights or privileges hereunder be an asset of 

Tenant under any bankruptcy, insolvency, or reorganization proceedings. 

 

8.6 Abandonment. Tenant shall not be considered to have abandoned or vacated the Premises as long 

as Tenant continues to pay rent and fulfill all other obligations of this Lease, regardless of whether 

Tenant is actually continuously occupying the space or not, unless Tenant gives notice of 

termination if and as allowed by this Lease.  If Landlord's right of entry is exercised following 

abandonment of the Leased Premises by Tenant, then Landlord may consider any personal property 

belonging to Tenant and left on the Leased Premises to have been abandoned, in which case 

Landlord may dispose of all such personal property in any manner Landlord shall deem proper and 

is hereby relieved of all liability for doing so. 

 

88

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
7 

 

IX. SALE OF PREMISES.  In the event the Landlord hereunder, or any successor owner of the 

Premises, shall sell or convey the Premises, all liabilities and obligations on the part of the 

Landlord, or such successor owner, under this Lease accruing thereafter shall remain for a 

minimum sixty (60) days or the Tenant may enter into a new Lease with the successor owner.  

 

X. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  Tenant shall comply, at its own expense, with all statutes, 

regulations, rules, ordinances and orders of any governmental body, department, or agency thereof 

which apply to or result from Tenant’s use of the Premises. 

 

XI. INSURANCE LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION 

11.1 Insurance Liability.  Landlord has obtained Premise Liability Insurance, which does not cover 

Tenant's possessions or Tenant's negligence.  Tenant must obtain a Renter's Insurance Policy, in an 

amount of no less than $1,000,000 in commercial general liability, or other appropriate policies to 

cover damage or loss resulting from Tenant's negligence. Tenant shall name Landlord as an 

additional party in any and all insurance policies, and shall provide Landlord with a copy of all 

policies. 

 

11.1.1 Tenant shall provide proof that payment for the insurance policy has been made initially 

and thereafter and that the policy has been renewed at least fifteen (15) calendar days prior 

to the anniversary of the initial year of this lease. Landlord may contact Tenant’s insurer(s) 

or insurer(s)' agent(s) directly at any time regarding Tenant’s coverage, coverage amounts, 

or other such relevant and reasonable issues related to this Lease.   

 

11.2 Indemnity.  Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Landlord against and from any 

and all claims for property damage, or for personal injury, arising out of or in any way arising out 

of Tenant's use of the Leased Premises or from any activity, work, or thing done, permitted or 

suffered by Tenant in or about the Leased Premises. 

 

11.3 Liens. If any mechanic’s or other lien is filed against the Premises for work claimed to have been 

for or materials furnished thereto, such lien shall be discharged by Tenant within Ten (10) days 

thereafter, at Tenant’s expense by full payment thereof by filing a bond required by law. Tenant’s 

failure to do so shall constitute a material default hereunder.      

 

XII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

12.1 Notices. Any notice, communication, request, approval or consent which may be given or is 

required to be given under the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be transmitted 

(1) via hand delivery or express overnight delivery service to the Seller or the Purchaser, (2) via 

facsimile with the original to follow via hand delivery or overnight delivery service, or (3) via e-

mail, provided that the sending party can show proof of delivery, as the case may be, at the 

addresses/numbers set forth below: 

 

AS TO LANDLORD: Beaufort County 

Attn:  Beaufort County Administration 

Post Office Box 1228 

Beaufort, SC  29901 

   Copy To:  Beaufort County 

Attn:  Beaufort County Public Facility Director  

Post Office Box 1228 

89

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
8 

 

Beaufort, SC  29901 

  

AS TO TENANT:  ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

 

12.2 Entire Agreement. This Lease constitutes as the sole and entire agreement of Landlord and Tenant 

and no prior or contemporaneous oral or written representations or agreements between the parties 

affecting the Premises shall have any legal effect.   

 

12.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts. Each of the counterparts shall be 

deemed an original instrument, but all of the counterparts shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

 

12.4 Severability.  If any portion of this Lease shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, 

the remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and enforceable.  If a court finds that any 

provision of this Lease is invalid or unenforceable, then such provision shall be deemed to be 

written, construed and enforced as so limited. 

 

12.5 Amendment. This Agreement cannot be amended orally or by a single party.  No amendment or 

change to this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by both Parties to this 

Agreement. 

 

12.6 Captions.  The captions used in this Lease are for convenience only and do not in any way limit or 

amplify the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

12.7 Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Lease shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 

upon Landlord and Tenant, and their respective successors, heirs, legal representatives, and assigns. 

 

12.8 Applicable Law. The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the interpretation, validity, 

performance and enforcement of this Lease; and, of any personal guarantees given in connection 

with this Lease. 

 

12.9 Authority. Each individual and entity executing this Agreement hereby represents and warrants that 

he, she or it has the capacity set forth on the signature pages hereof with full power and authority 

to bind the party on whose behalf he, she or it is executing this Agreement to the terms hereof.   

 

12.10 Force Majeure. Except for timely Rent payment, Landlord or Tenant shall not be in default 

hereunder when performance of any term or condition is prevented by a cause beyond its control. 

 

12.11 Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Lease. 

 

12.12 Quiet Enjoyment.  Landlord hereby covenants, warrants and agrees that so long as Tenant is 

performing all of the covenants and agreements herein stipulated to be performed on the Tenant’s 

part, Tenant shall at all times during the lease term have the peaceable quiet and enjoyment and 

possession of the Premises without any manner of hindrance from Landlord or any person or 

persons lawfully claiming the Premises, or any part thereof. 

90

Item 17.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
9 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and in acknowledgement that the parties hereto have read and understood 

each and every provision hereof, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed on the date first 

written above. 

             

LANDLORD:  

  

      

_____________________________  _____________________________ 

Witness     _____________________________  

      Beaufort County Administrator  

 

 

_____________________________  Date: ________________________ 

Witness   

 

TENANT:  

 

 

 

_____________________________  _____________________________ 

Witness     By: __________________________    

      Its: __________________________ 

 

 

_____________________________  Date: ________________________ 

        

91

Item 17.



 
 

ORDINANCE 2023/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER 

INTO A LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN BEAUFORT COUNTY AND TIM VERROI    

 WHEREAS, the Beaufort Executive Airport (“Airport”) desires to enter into a lease 

agreement with Tim Verroi ("Lessee"), that shall include reasonable lease rates based on the square 

footage of the leased space and Beaufort County approved lease policies and rates; and 

 WHEREAS, the Lessee will engage in the business of personal office space and desires to 

lease certain space owned by the County and acquire from the County certain rights and privileges 

in connection with its use of Airport facilities; and 

 WHEREAS, the County has the right to permit the use of the Airport facilities upon the 

terms and conditions hereinafter set forth and has full power and authority to enter into this 

Agreement; and  

 WHEREAS, County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and residents 

of Beaufort County for the County Administrator to enter into a Lease Agreement with Tim Verroi. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL, 
duly assembled, does hereby authorize the County Administrator to enter into a Lease Agreement 

with Tim Verroi. 

 

Adopted this ____ day of __________, 2023.  

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

BY:        

      Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

ATTEST:  

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

92

Item 17.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Resolution to accept the recommendations from the US 278  Corridor Project Joint Independent Review 
performed by CBB and authorization for the Interim County Administrator to send correspondence to Town 
of Hilton Head requesting their municipal consent for the project 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facility and Safety Committee, October 23, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, Assistant County Administrator – Infrastructure 

10 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

In the spring of 2021, an independent study was authorized and initiated to review the current design and 
design assumptions used to develop the project. Following the independent study in July 2021, the preferred 
alternative was presented at a public hearing. Due to comments from citizens and from the Town, the 
preferred alternative was modified to reflect some of the requested changes. The modified preferred 
alternative was presented at a follow-up public information meeting in March of 2022. Following this 
presentation, additional project concerns were presented and an additional independent review was 
requested. To ensure that the County and Town work together to move the project forward, a MOU was 
drafted and approved by both parties in October 2022 that detailed the steps to move the project forward. A 
solicitation was drafted and advertised for an additional joint independent study to review the project. CBB, a 
firm from St. Louis, MO that had never previously worked in SC, was deemed the qualified proposer and 
awarded the project. CBB commenced their work in March 2023 under the direction of joint staff committee 
and completed their study and report in September 2023. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

CBB made a presentation of the study and the report to both the County and the Town. A presentation was 
made to the County Public Facilities and Safety Committee on 9/25/23 and to the Town Council meeting on 
10/17/23. At this time, all ten of the commitments listed in the MOU between the County and Town have 
been addressed. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

N/A 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends that County Council accept the recommendations to the Joint Independent Study as 
produced by CBB.  Additionally, as all ten of the commitments of the agreed upon MOU have been addressed, 
the County send correspondence to the Town seeking their municipal consent to move the project forward. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Council may choose to deny/approve/or approve with comments the recommendations of the Joint 
Independent Study as presented by CBB. 

93

Item 18.



Additionally, Council may choose to request the municipal consent for the project from the Town at this time 
or choose to delay the request to the Town for a later date. 

 

 

94

Item 18.



95

Item 18.



96

Item 18.



97

Item 18.



98

Item 18.



99

Item 18.



100

Item 18.



101

Item 18.



102

Item 18.



103

Item 18.



104

Item 18.



105

Item 18.



106

Item 18.



107

Item 18.



108

Item 18.



RESOLUTION 2023/ 

 

A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE US 278 CORRIDOR 

PROJECT JOINT INDEPENDENT STUDY AS PERFORMED BY CBB AND AUTHORIZATION 

FOR THE INTERIM COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO SEND CORRESPONDENCE TO TOWN 

OF HILTON HEAD REQUESTING THEIR MUNICIPAL CONSENT FOR THE PROJECT 

 

 

WHEREAS an independent study of the to-date engineered plans for the project was 

commissioned and completed in April 2021; and 

 

WHEREAS on July 22, 2021, a public hearing for the project was held and the preferred alternative 

was presented; and 

 

WHEREAS based on comments received from the public as part of the public hearing and specific 

comments from the Town as prepared by their consultant MKSK, changes were made to the project plans 

and a modified, preferred alternative was presented at follow-up public information meeting held on March 

3, 2022; and 

 

WHEREAS following the follow-up public information meeting in March of 2022, additional 

project concerns were raised and by the Town requested that an additional joint, independent study be 

commissioned to review the design of the project thus far; and 

 

WHEREAS in addition to requesting another independent study, a MOU was drafted and agreed 

upon on October 21, 2022, between the County and the Town that addressed 10 specific action items that 

the two entities would take to move the project forward; and  

 

WHEREAS the joint independent study was advertised at the end of 2022 and commissioned in 

March of 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS under the direction of a joint staff committee, the consultant, CBB, completed the 

study in September 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS CBB made a presentation of the study and report to the County Public Facilities and 

Safety Committee on September 25th, 2023, and to Town Council on October 17th, 2023; and 

 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, THAT THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF 

BEAUFORT COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, that: 

 

1. County Council adopts the recommendations of the Joint Independent Study for the US 278 

Corridor Project as prepared and presented by CBB dated September 2023.  

 

2. Having addressed all 10 items of the above-referenced MOU between the County and Town 

for the project, the Interim County Administrator is authorized and directed to send 

correspondence to the Town of Hilton Head seeking their municipal consent for the project. 

 

Adopted this 23RD day of October 2023. 

 

 

 

109

Item 18.



 

       

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

      BY:        

       Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

     

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

110

Item 18.



RESOLUTION 2023__ 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING THE RESULTS OF BOND REFERENDA 
CONDUCTED IN THE FRIPP ISLAND PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT, 
SOUTH CAROLINA ON NOVEMBER 7, 2023. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Council of Beaufort County 

(the “County Council”), the governing body of Beaufort County, South Carolina (the “County”), 
in a meeting duly assembled, as follows: 

 
Section 1 Findings.  The County Council makes the following findings of fact in 

connection with the adoption of this resolution (this “Resolution”):  
 
(A)  Pursuant to a resolution adopted by the County Council dated August 14, 2023, 

the County Council ordered that bond referenda be held in the Fripp Island Public Service 
District (the “District”) on the question of the issuance of not exceeding $5,250,000 of general 
obligation bonds of the District. 

 
(B) The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of Beaufort County (the “Election 

Board”) conducted three bond referenda in the District on November 7, 2023 (the “Referenda”) 
where the following three questions (the “Questions”) were submitted to the qualified voters of 
the District: 

 
Question #1  
 
Shall the Fripp Island Public Service District, located in Beaufort County, South 
Carolina (the “District”), be authorized to issue and sell, either as a single issue or 
as several separate issues, general obligation bonds of the District in an aggregate 
principal amount of not exceeding $1,320,000 to defray the costs of acquiring, 
designing, constructing, renovating, and equipping fire service facilities, 
apparatus, equipment, and vehicles, to include, without limitation, station 
improvements, beach rescue equipment, squad trucks, and aerial apparatus; 
capitalized interest during construction; and the costs of issuance of such general 
obligation bonds? 
 

Yes, in favor of the question 
 

No, opposed to the question 
 

If you are in favor of the question, fill in the oval before the words 
“Yes, in favor of the question”; if you are opposed to the question, 
fill in the oval before the words “No, opposed to the question.” 

111

Item 19.



2 

 
Question #2 
 
Shall the Fripp Island Public Service District, located in Beaufort County, South 
Carolina (the “District”), be authorized to issue and sell, either as a single issue or 
as several separate issues, general obligation bonds of the District in an aggregate 
principal amount of not exceeding $870,000 to defray the costs of repairing, 
reconstructing, and mitigating certain District revetments and related 
infrastructure; capitalized interest during construction; and the costs of issuance of 
such general obligation bonds?  
 

Yes, in favor of the question 
 

No, opposed to the question 
 

If you are in favor of the question, fill in the oval before the words 
“Yes, in favor of the question”; if you are opposed to the question, 
fill in the oval before the words “No, opposed to the question.” 

 
Question #3 
 
Shall the Fripp Island Public Service District, located in Beaufort County, South 
Carolina (the “District”), be authorized to issue and sell, either as a single issue or 
as several separate issues, general obligation bonds of the District in an aggregate 
principal amount of not exceeding $3,060,000 to defray the costs of repairing, 
reconstructing, and improving the Fripp Inlet Bridge and related infrastructure, 
including, without limitation, bent retrofits and abutment protection; capitalized 
interest during construction; and the costs of issuance of such general obligation 
bonds?  
 

Yes, in favor of the question 
 

No, opposed to the question 
 

If you are in favor of the question, fill in the oval before the words 
“Yes, in favor of the question”; if you are opposed to the question, 
fill in the oval before the words “No, opposed to the question.” 
 

(C) The Election Board certified the results of the Referenda on November 9, 2023 
and has provided the official results to the County Council, which return establishes that the 
Referenda were in favor of the Questions. 
 
 Section 2 Declaration. The County Council hereby declares that the result of the 
Referenda was in favor of each of the Questions. A copy of the official returns, as provided by 
the Election Commission, is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

112

Item 19.



3 

DONE AT BEAUFORT, SOUTH CAROLINA, this 13th day of November 2023. 
 
 
    

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 
 

(SEAL) 

    __________________________________________
   Joe Passiment, Chairman  

 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_________________________________   
Sarah W. Brock, Clerk 
County Council of Beaufort County 

113

Item 19.



A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 

114

Item 19.



A-2 
 

 

115

Item 19.



��������	
�����	
���
�																									 ������	���	�������		���	�����	��
������	��������	��	��	������
�	���������	���	�����	
�����	�����������	��	�������	���	�� 	�!!	 "��#���$	����$$�%�	�"	����&�	%'()�	"*	+��	"�	 '���),$	 %'-�		������	����	���	�����	./0123	4532126278	9	:5;76<	=>??26677	@7762AB	:7C67?07D	EFGEHEI	���������	����������	J5D7K	4D512LG	.MNMG	O882865A6	=>/A6<	OK?2A286D56>DG	PA;D586D/36/D7		ND23	=15/887AG	Q2D736>D	>;	NAB2A77D2AB	RF	@2A/678S		���	��
T�������	UVW	XYZ[\]	̂_̀Wa	bc_[_Vde	bfc̀W	c[	ghhi	_e	̂_f\	Yj	=>A6D536	EkM	.5D371	lFmH	Hmm	HHH	HmEn	HHHH	o5K	5	C15667K	phd	qcaW	eWr\cY[	Yj	\VW	fY_a	>A	so23o	6o7	=>/A6<	3152?7K	5	CD783D2C62t7	7587?7A6	0587K	>A	D73>DK7K	C1568M	UVW	XYZ[\]	_ruZcfWa	_	vhd	wxy	;D>?	50/662AB	CD>C7D6<	>sA7D8	_zY[{	bc_[_Vde	QD2t7	0/6	K2K	A>6	D7|/786	5	;>D?51	3>At7<5A37	>;	l}~	;D>?	6o7	>sA7D	>;	C5D371	lFmH	Hmm	HHH	HmEn	HHHHM	�>s	6o7	>sA7D	>;	C5D371	lFmH	Hmm	HHH	HmEn	HHHH	28	s>D�2AB	s26o	6o7	�>sA	>;	�216>A	�75K	>A	K7t71>C?7A6	588>32567K	s26o	C5D371	lFmH	Hmm	HHH	HmEn	HHHHM		�����
�	�	���	���������	�o7	CD>C7D6<	>sA7D	>;	C5D371	lFmH	Hmm	HHH	HmEn	HHHH	s>/1K	12�7	6>	aWWa	\VWcf	c[\WfWe\	c[	_	phd	wxy	jYf	\VW	87362>A	>;	6o7	D>5K	6o56	6D5t7D878	6o72D	C5D371M	�o7<	5D7	s>D�2AB	s26o	6o7	�>sA	>;	�216>A	�75K	P815AK	C15AA2AB	K7C5D6?7A6	5AK	6o7	�>sA	s211	5CCD>t7	6VWcf	aWec{[	̂z_[e	cj	\VW	XYZ[\]	_rrŴ\e	\VW	phd	wxy	;>D	6o28	87362>A	Yj	bc_[_Vde	bfc̀W�		=>/A6<	NAB2A77D8	o5t7	C7D;>D?7K	5	8267	t2826	5AK	o5t7	5CCD>t7K	6o7	D7|/786Wa	phd	wxy	so23o	s211	;>D?512�7	\VW	XYZ[\]de	l}~	2A67D786	c[	bc_[_Vde	bfc̀WM		��
��	���
��		�>A7	�����	��
�����������	��	
���
��	�\_jj	fWrY��W[ae	_rrŴ\_[rW	Yj	phd	wxy	;D>?	>sA7D	>;	C5D371	lFmH	Hmm	HHH	HmEn	HHHH	������	���	
���
�	������	@>62>A	6>	5CCD>t7�K7A<	5A	>DK2A5A37	5/6o>D2�2AB	6o7	3>/A6<	5K?2A286D56>D	6>	7L73/67	5A<	5AK	511	K>3/?7A68	A737885D<	6>	5337C6	D2Bo6	>;	s5<	>A	Qc_[_Vde	afc̀WM	O	@5�>D26<	�>67	;>D	5337C65A37	0<	=>??26677	s>/1K	?>t7	267?	6>	=>/A6<	=>/A321	;>D	6oD77	D75K2AB8	5AK	5	C/0123	o75D2AB	6>	5CCD>t7	6o7	>DK2A5A37M		
116

Item 1.



Dianah’s Drive Location Map 

 

 
117

Item 1.



 118

Item 1.



���������	
�
����������	��	���������	�����������	���	�������	������	�������������	��	�������	���	���	���	���������	���������	��	������	�����	��	���	��	����� !"	���#�			 �������$	%&'()*+,	-./012	3456789:;<	=>?@A	BC>8>DEF	BGC?@	C8	HIIJ	>F	=>G9	6K	-.01LMN1	OPQ	RST	-./012	U.TV	0.1	S.WU	1X1WT	1.	M02	YML1	.Z	M	YMLNTW	UTVX[0M1TU	MV	\MLNTW	]̂ _̀	̀__	̀̀ 	̀̀_Oa	̀̀ `̀	b/1	X1	cMX01MX0V	dM0U	X0	Ò è$	YMfTUg	M	h̀E	iXUT	VTN1X.0	.Z	1ST	YMLNTW	Y/LV/M01	1.	M	NWMXc	.Z	M	YLTVNLXY1XfT	TMVTcT01j	M0U	�������$	1ST	MZ.LTcT01X.0TU	YL.YTL12	.i0TL	XV	N/LLT01W2	i.LkX0[	iX1S	1ST	R.i0	.Z	lXW1.0	m@>A	nFo>8A	34p6q8;<	68	A@FCr8	=o>8F	Q	RST	-./012	XV	1.WU	1SM1	1ST	R.i0	iXWW	MYYL.fT	9D@	=G6=@G9:	6q8@GEF	YL.Y.VTU	UTVX[0	YWM0V	XZ	1ST	-./012	MNNTY1V	s68?@:>8s@	6K	>	tIE	uvwx	pD@	=G6=@G9:	6q8@G	86q	A@FCG@F		1.	N.0fT2	1STXL	X01TLTV1	X0	M	tIE	qCA@	uvw	1.	yTM/Z.L1	-./012	>F	FD6q8	68	>99>sD@A	z{DC|C9	4};	M0U	1ST	-./012	iXVSTV	1.	MNNTY1	X1j	M0U	�������$	X1	XV	X0	1ST	bTV1	X01TLTV1	.Z	1ST	BC>8>DEF	BGCfT	N.cc/0X12	M0U	1ST	-./012	1.	MNNTY1	1ST	YL.YTL12	ZL.c	1ST	YL.YTL12	.i0TL	1.	YTLZTN1	1ST	LX[S1	.Z	iM2Q			���~	���������~	��	��	�����#��	1SM1	yTM/Z.L1	-./012	-./0NXW	STLTb2	M/1S.LX�TV	1ST	�01TLXc	-./012	�UcX0XV1LM1.L	1.	T�TN/1T	M02	M0U	MWW	U.N/cT01V	0TNTVVML2	1.	MNNTY1	s68?@:>8s@	6K	>	tI�	iXUT	]��	.0	1ST	Mb.fT	LTZTLT0NTU	YMLNTW	.0	BC>8>DEF	BGC?@x				 	�������	1SXV	������	UM2	.Z	�����$	Ò���Q				 	 	 	 	 	 -���R�	-���-��	��	y�����]R	-���R�					 	 	 	 	 	 y2�	�������������������������������		 	 	 	 	 	 							�.VTYS	\MVVXcT01$	-SMXLcM0		�RR��R�			�������������������������������	�MLMS	�Q	yL.Nk$		-WTLk	1.	-./0NXW		
119

Item 1.



               BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL             

                 AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

An ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and Edison Foard, Inc., at 30 Hunter  

Rd., Hilton Head Island. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee; September 25, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jon Rembold; Airports Director 

3 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Edison Foard is the contractor that was selected to perform the Phase I Terminal Improvements Project. Their 
team and the Airport team have been in communication regarding office space for use during the 
construction project. The space at 30 Hunter Rd. appears to meet their needs.  

A DRAFT lease was generated and is included in this package. It was reviewed and approved by Legal Sept 5, 
2023. The legal review is also included in this package. 

The Airports Board will review the resolution at its monthly meeting scheduled for September 21, 2023. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Edison Foard, the contractor for Phase I of the Terminal Improvements Project will lease office and 

warehouse space at 30 Hunter Road, Hilton Head Island, SC 29926. The space will serve as their base of 

operations during the construction project. The lease was drafted in accordance with the County’s lease 

policy adopted in 2023. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Hilton Head Island Airport will receive income generated through lease revenue --Tenant shall pay $1,390.00  
for office space (814 square feet x $20.50/12) and $1,698 for warehouse space (1,406 square feet x 
$14.50/12) in monthly base rental payments for premises located at 30 Hunter Rd. These lease rates are in 
accordance with current Beaufort County lease policies. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COMMITTEE: 

Staff recommends approval of an ordinance to approve the lease agreement between Beaufort County and 

Edison Foard, Inc. 

OPTIONS FOR COMMITTEE MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny an ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and  

Edison Foard, Inc. 

Move forward to Council for Approval on October 9, 2023 

 

120

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
1 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 

      )  REAL PROPERTY  

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT              )  LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

 

 THIS REAL PROPERTY LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ______ day of 

___________, 2023(“Lease”), by and between Beaufort County, a political subdivision of the State of 

South Carolina, (“Landlord”) and Edison Foard, Inc. (“Tenant”), collectively referred to as the “Parties”. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord, for and in consideration of the rents paid and to be paid, and the 

covenants, conditions, and stipulations to be kept and performed by Tenant, agrees to lease the Premises 

described herein below.   

 

I. DESCRIPTION OF LEASED PREMISES.  The premises to be conveyed is located at 30 
Hunter Road, Building 2 Suite C, Hilton Head Island, SC 29926 consisting of 814 sq ft of office 

space and 1,406 sq ft of warehouse space; hereinafter referred to as “Premises”.   

 

II. TERM 

2.1 Term. The Lease Term shall be for a term of one year (“Tenancy”) commencing on the date of 

execution by the County Administrator (“Commencement Date”) and terminating at 11:59 p.m. on 
June 30, 2024 (“Termination Date”). 

 

2.2 Renewal.  This Lease may be renewed upon the mutual consent of the Parties and agreed upon in 

writing.  Any Renewal Term shall include the same terms as this Lease and be for a period up to 

three (3) one-year periods, unless thirty (30) days' prior written notice of intent not to renew is 
given by either party.  The terms set forth in this Paragraph shall collectively be referred to hereafter 

as a “Renewal Term”.   

 

III. RENTAL PAYMENT 

3.1 Payment of Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord Three Thousand Eighty Eight Dollars ($3,088.00) 

in monthly rental payments (“Rent”) during the Lease Term, which is apportioned as follows: 

Office Rent $1,390.00 per month and Warehouse Space $1,698.00. If occupancy begins and/or 

ends on any day other than the first day of a month, Rent shall be prorated for the month of 

commencement and/or month of termination and monthly rent collected in advance thereafter.  

 

The first Rent payment shall be made on or before the Commencement Date. Tenant shall pay all 

rents due and owing, without deduction or set off, to Landlord at the address set forth in Section 9.  

All Rent payments shall be made in the form of check or direct deposit.  

 

3.2 Renewal Rate.  The Rent shall increase by three percent (3%) the first month of any Renewal Term.  

If the Renewal Term is effective after the 5th of the month, the Rent shall be prorated appropriately.   

 

3.3 Late Payment of Rent. Any Rent not paid within five (5) days of the due date shall be deemed late 

and shall obligate Tenant to pay a late charge of ten percent (10%) of the sum then due.   

 

3.4 Triple Net Lease.  The Parties agree this is a “triple net lease” and, except as otherwise provided 

herein, Tenant is responsible for all costs related to the Premises, together with all Improvements 

constructed thereon, including, without limitation, any taxes or fees, insurance and maintenance.  

121

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
2 

 

Landlord shall have no responsibility for any such expenses unless specifically provided for herein.  

The Rent payable under this Lease shall be paid to Landlord without any claim on the part of Tenant 

for diminution, set-off or abatement and nothing shall suspend, abate or reduce any Rent to be paid 

hereunder. 

 

3.5 Security Deposit. The Landlord requires a Security Deposit equal to one (1) month’s Rent which is 

equal to Three Thousand Eighty Eight Dollars ($3,088.00). Landlord has the right to use said 

Security Deposit for any and all unpaid utilities or any damages to the Premise.  If the Security 

Deposit is used for any reasons stated herein, the Landlord must provide the remaining Security 

Deposit within ninety (90) days of the date in which Tenant vacates the Premise.    

 

IV. UTILITIES. Tenant shall be responsible for paying one hundred percent (100%) of all utility 

expenses associated with the Premises during the Initial Term and any Renewal Term.  Tenant 

warrants and agrees to establish accounts in its name with the providing/billing entity or authority 

and pay for all water, gas, power, electric current, garbage collection and removal, sewer charges, 

and all other utilities and utility charges and fees charged to the Premises during the term of this 

Lease and all extensions hereof.  Tenant agrees to maintain all utilities at all times during its 

tenancy, regardless of whether or not Tenant is physically occupying the Premise.    

 

V. CONDITION, USE, MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS OF PREMISES 

5.1 Acceptance and Condition of the Premises. The Parties mutually agree that Tenant shall take 

possession of the Premises on the Commencement Date.  Tenant stipulates that he or she has 

examined the Premises, including the grounds and all buildings and improvements, and that they 

are, at the time of this Agreement, in good order, repair, and in a safe, clean and tenantable 

condition.  Landlord has made no representation in connection with the Premises and shall not be 

liable for any latent defects therein; provided, however, that if such latent defects render the 

Premises uninhabitable for the purposes of this Lease, Tenant may at its option, and upon written 

notice to Landlord, terminate this Lease.   

 

5.2 Use of Premises. Tenant shall use the Premises for the sole purpose of office and warehouse space 

rental (“Permitted Use”). Any change in the use of the Premises may only be undertaken with the 

written consent of the Landlord.  Tenant shall not use the Premises for any illegal purpose, nor 

violate any statute, regulation, rule or order of any governmental body in its use thereof, nor create 

or allow to exist any nuisances, nor do any act in or about the Premises or bring anything upon the 

Premises which will increase the premium for insurance on the Premises. 

 

5.3 Maintenance. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall handle or contract for the maintenance of 

the parking areas, landscaping, grounds and planting care for the Premises, and shall generally 

maintain the Premises in a neat and orderly condition.   

 

5.4 Repairs of Premises. Tenant shall at its own expense keep the Premises in good repair. Tenant shall 

not perform any additional work upon the Premises without prior written consent of the Landlord.  

The Premises shall be maintained in a clean and orderly manner. In the event of any damage of the 

Premises which is the direct result of Tenant, Tenant shall, immediately upon receiving demand 

from Landlord, correct the damage.  

 

5.5 Tenant Improvements, Alterations, and Restorations.   

 

122

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
3 

 

5.5.1 Initial Improvements. Promptly after Landlord delivers the Premises to Tenant, 

Tenant shall proceed to prepare the Premises and perform such improvements that are required to 

utilize the Premises for the Permitted Use, which shall include modifying the interior layout to 

allow for car rental services office space (the “Tenant’s Initial Improvements”).  Prior to performing 

Tenant’s Initial Improvements and promptly after the Lease is executed, Tenant shall send plans 

and specifications to Landlord for Landlord’s approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably 

withheld and Tenant shall not commence any of Tenant’s Initial Improvements until Landlord has 

approved the plans and specifications.    

 

5.5.2 Additional Improvements. Other than Tenant’s Initial Improvements, Tenant shall 

not make or permit to be made any structural alterations, modifications, additions, decorations or 

improvements to the Premises, nor shall Tenant make or permit any other work whatsoever that 

would directly or indirectly involve the penetration or removal (whether permanent or temporary) 

of, or require access through, in, under, or above any floor, wall or ceiling, or surface or covering 

thereof in the Premises. 

 

5.5.3 Cost of Improvements.  Tenant’s Initial Improvements, or any additional 

improvements as approved by the Landlord, shall be made at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, 

including the expense of complying with all present and future legal requirements, and any other 

work required to be performed in other areas within or outside the Premises. 

 

5.5.4 Compliance. All such Tenant’s Work shall be performed diligently and in a first 

class workmanlike manner and in accordance with plans and specifications approved by Landlord, 

and shall comply with all legal requirements.  Any of Tenant’s Initial Improvements or other 

alterations, including, without limitation, moveable partitions that are affixed to the Premise (but 

excluding moveable, free standing partitions) and all carpeting, shall at once become part of the 

Premises and the property of Landlord. 

 

5.6 Right of Inspection.  Landlord shall have the unfettered right at all reasonable times during the 

Initial Term or any Renewal Term to enter the Premises for any reason whatsoever.  Landlord 

agrees, when able, to provide Tenant with reasonable notice of said entry upon the Premises.  No 

notice will be required in emergency situations or for access or entry upon the Premises. 

 

VI. DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE 
6.1 If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed during the term of this Lease by any casualty insured 

under Landlord's standard fire and casualty insurance, Landlord shall, except as otherwise provided 

in this Lease and subject to any delay or inability from causes beyond its control, repair and/or 

rebuild the same substantially to what had been the condition thereof immediately prior to such 

damage or destruction. 

 

6.2 If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed to the extent of fifty percent (50%) or more of the 

insurable value thereof, or if such casualty shall not have been insured against by Landlord's 

standard fire and casualty policies, then Landlord or Tenant may terminate this Lease or elect to 

repair such damage or rebuild the Premises. Within thirty (30) calendar days after any such 

casualty, Landlord shall notify Tenant whether Landlord intends to repair or rebuild the Premises, 

and Tenant shall notify Landlord whether Tenant intends to terminate this Lease. If Landlord elects 

to repair or rebuild the Premises, Landlord shall perform such repair or rebuilding as provided in 

this Agreement. If Landlord elects not to repair or rebuild, the Lease shall terminate without further 

123

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
4 

 

notice and all further obligations of both parties hereunder shall cease (other than those which shall 

theretofore have accrued), effective as of the date on which Tenant ceases doing business on the 

Premises.  

 

6.3 If Landlord elects to repair the Premises and Tenant does not elect to terminate the Lease, and if 

Landlord's repairs are not substantially completed within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days 

following the date of the casualty, then Tenant, upon not less than thirty (30) calendar days written 

notice to Landlord, may terminate this Lease if Landlord has not substantially completed such 

repairs within the time period (which shall not be less than 30 calendar days) set forth in such 

notice. Substantial completion, as used herein, shall mean that the Premises are restored to the 

condition that they may be occupied and utilized for their intended purpose, notwithstanding that 

there may be additional "punch list" or other non-essential items to be completed, which neither 

affect not impact Tenant's use and enjoyment of the Premises. Nevertheless, Landlord shall 

diligently pursue the completion of all remaining work in a timely manner. 

 

6.4 During any period of reconstruction or repair of the Premises, provided Tenant has not elected to 

terminate this Lease, Tenant may at its sole option continue the operation of Tenant's business in 

the Premises to the extent reasonably practicable from the standpoint of good business practice. 

Tenant shall not interfere with the repair or restoration activities of Landlord or its contractors, and 

will adapt and modify its business activities as deemed necessary by Landlord to allow such repair 

or restoration activities to continue expeditiously. 

 

6.5 During any period in which, by reason of any damage or destruction not resulting from the 

negligence of Tenant, Tenants employees, agents, or invitees, Tenant is unable to occupy all or a 

portion of the Premises, Tenant’s rent shall be appropriately abated for that part of the Premises 

rendered unusable for the conduct of Tenants business. Such abatement shall continue for the period 

commencing with such destruction or damage and ending with the substantial completion by 

Landlord of Landlord's repairs and/or rebuilding of the Premises, as described in this Lease. 

 

VII. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 

The Tenant shall not, without the Landlord’s prior written consent: (i) mortgage, pledge, encumber, 

or otherwise transfer (whether voluntarily, by operation of law, or otherwise) this lease or any 

interest hereunder; (ii) allow any lien to attach to Tenant’s interest in the Premises or this Lease; 

(iii) permit the use or occupancy of the Premises or any part thereof by anyone for a purpose other 

than as set forth herein; (iv) assign or convey this Lease or any interest herein; or (v) sublet the 

Premises or any part thereof; and any attempt to consummate any of the foregoing without 

Landlord’s consent shall be void.  Any assignment or subletting of this Lease must be approved in 

writing by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Assignment of the Lease 

will not relieve the Tenant or the Guarantors of their respective obligations under this Lease and 

Guaranty Agreement unless otherwise agreed by Landlord in writing. 

 

VIII. TERMINATION. This Lease shall end on the Termination Date.  This Lease may be terminated 

by Landlord prior to the Termination Date upon providing a thirty (30) day notice to Tenant and/or 

upon the occurrence of any default event as set forth in Section 8. 

 

8.1 Surrender of Property.  At the termination of this Lease, Tenant agrees to quit and deliver the 

Premises peaceably and quietly to Landlord, or its attorney, or other duly authorized agent, at the 

expiration or other termination of this Lease. The Tenant shall surrender the Premises in as good 

124

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
5 

 

state and condition as delivered to Tenant at the commencement of this Lease, reasonable use and 

wear thereof expected.   

 

8.2 Hold Over.  If, without objection by Landlord, Tenant holds possession of the Premises after 

expiration of the term of this Lease, Tenant shall become a Tenant from month to month upon the 

terms herein specified, but at a monthly rent amount equivalent to 150% of the gross rent being 

paid (starting sixty (60) calendar days after the expiration of the term of this Lease) at the end of 

the term of this Lease, and all fees, assessments, costs and other items must continue to be paid 

pursuant to all the provisions set forth herein. Such month to month rent and other amounts shall 

be payable in advance on or before the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each month. 

 

IX. DEFAULT 

9.1 Default by Tenant. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default:  

 

(a) The rent of any other sum of money payable under this Lease, whether to Landlord or 

otherwise, is not paid within ten (10) days of the due date. 

 

(b) Tenant’s interest in the Lease of the Premises shall be subjected to any attachment, levy, or 

sale pursuant to any order or decree entered against Tenant in any legal proceeding and such 

order or decree shall not be vacated within thirty (30) days of entry thereof; unless with respect 

to any attachment, levy or sale, which cannot be vacated within thirty (30) days, Tenant in good 

faith shall have commenced and thereafter shall continue to diligently pursue the vacation of 

such order or decree by lawful means. 

 

(c) Tenant breaches or fails to comply with any term, provision, condition, or covenant of this 

Lease, other than the payment of rent, or with any of the rules and regulations now or hereafter 

established from time to time by the Landlord to govern the operation of the building and such 

breach or failure to comply is not cured within ten (10) days after written notice of such breach 

or failure to comply is given to Tenant. 

 

9.2 Remedies of Landlord.  Upon the occurrence of an event of default by Tenant other than a failure 

of Tenant to timely pay a sum that is due and payable, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of 

the event of default, and Tenant shall, within twenty (20) days of receipt of such written notice cure 

such event of default.  Where the Tenant fails to cure such event of default within twenty (20) days 

of receipt of the above-referenced written notice, Landlord shall have the option to do and perform 

any one or more of the following in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other remedy or right 

permitted by law or in equity or by this Lease.  In electing to do any one or more of the following 

courses of conduct, the Landlord must reasonably undertake its best efforts to properly mitigate 

any damages caused or sustained by Landlord due to the occurrence of an event of default by the 

Tenant.  The options and courses of conduct which may be undertaken by the Landlord in an event 

of default by the Tenant are as follows: 

 

(a) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease, may immediately or at any time thereafter 

re-enter the Premises and correct or repair any condition which shall constitute a failure on 

Tenant’s part to keep, observe, perform, satisfy, or abide by any term, condition, covenant, 

agreement or obligation of this Lease or of the rules and regulations adopted by the Landlord 

or of any notice given Tenant by Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease, and Tenant shall 

fully reimburse and compensate Landlord on demand for all reasonable expenses. 

125

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
6 

 

 

(b) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease may immediately or at any time thereafter 

demand in writing that Tenant immediately vacate the Premises whereupon Tenant shall 

immediately vacate the Premises and, immediately remove therefrom all personal property 

belonging to Tenant, whereupon Landlord shall have the right to immediately re-enter and take 

possession of the Premises.  Any such demand, re-entry and taking of possession of the 

Premises by Landlord shall not of itself constitute an acceptance by Landlord of a surrender of 

this Lease or of the Premises by Tenant and shall not of itself constitute a termination of this 

Lease by Landlord.  In the event the Landlord re-enters and takes possession of the Premises 

as provided above and the Tenant has failed upon request by Landlord to immediately remove 

from the Premises all property belonging to or placed upon the Premises by the Tenant, the 

Landlord shall have the right to have such property of the Tenant removed from the Premises 

and reasonably be placed within a secure storage facility for a period of time not to exceed 

thirty (30) days, and all costs of handling, moving and storing such property of the Tenant shall 

be paid by the Tenant. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, Landlord shall be required to 

comply with applicable South Carolina law regarding reentry and possession of the Premises. 

 

(c) Landlord may immediately or at any time thereafter terminate this Lease, and this Lease shall 

be deemed to have been terminated upon receipt by Tenant of written notice of such 

termination; upon such termination Landlord shall recover from Tenant all damages Landlord 

may suffer by reason of such termination including, without limitation, all arrearages in rentals, 

costs, charges, additional rentals, and reimbursements, the cost (including court costs and 

attorneys’ fees) of recovering possession of the Premises, and, in addition thereto, Landlord at 

its election shall have and recover from Tenant either: (1) an amount equal to the excess, if any, 

of the total amount of all rents and other charges to be paid by Tenant for the remainder of the 

term of this Lease over the then reasonable rental value of the Premises for the remainder of 

the Term of this Lease, or (2) the rents and other charges which Landlord would be entitled to 

receive from Tenant if the Lease were not terminated.  Such election shall be made by Landlord 

by serving written notice upon Tenant of its choice of the alternatives within thirty (30) days 

of the notice of termination. Notwithstanding anything hereunder to the contrary, Landlord 

must use its reasonable best efforts to re-let the Premises and abate Landlord’s damages. 

 

9.3 No Waiver. No course of dealing between Landlord and Tenant or any failure or delay on the part 

of Landlord in exercising any rights of Landlord under any provisions of this Lease shall operate 

as a waiver of any rights of Landlord, nor shall any waiver of a default on one occasion operate as 

a waiver of any subsequent default or any other default.  No express waiver shall affect any 

condition, covenant, rule or regulation other than the one specified in such waiver and that one only 

for the time and in the manner specifically stated. 

 

9.4 No Election of Remedies. The exercise by Landlord of any right or remedy shall not prevent the 

subsequent exercise by Landlord of other rights and remedies.  All remedies provided for in this 

Lease are cumulative and may, at the election of Landlord, be exercised alternatively, successively, 

or in any other manner, and all remedies provided for in this Lease are in addition to any other 

rights provided for or allowed by law or in equity. 

 

9.5 Insolvency or Bankruptcy.  The appointment of a receiver to take possession of all or substantially 

all of the assets of Tenant, or an assignment by Tenant for the benefit of creditors, or any action 

taken or suffered by Tenant, or any action against Tenant, under any insolvency, bankruptcy, or 

reorganization, shall at Landlord’s option constitute an event of default under this Lease.  Upon the 

126

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
7 

 

happening of any such event of default or at any time thereafter, this Lease shall terminate five (5) 

days after written notice of termination from Landlord to Tenant.  In no event shall this Lease be 

assigned or assignable by operation of law or by voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings 

or otherwise and in no event shall this Lease or any rights or privileges hereunder be an asset of 

Tenant under any bankruptcy, insolvency, or reorganization proceedings. 

 

9.6 Abandonment. Tenant shall not be considered to have abandoned or vacated the Premises as long 

as Tenant continues to pay rent and fulfill all other obligations of this Lease, regardless of whether 

Tenant is actually continuously occupying the space or not, unless Tenant gives notice of 

termination if and as allowed by this Lease.  If Landlord's right of entry is exercised following 

abandonment of the Leased Premises by Tenant, then Landlord may consider any personal property 

belonging to Tenant and left on the Leased Premises to have been abandoned, in which case 

Landlord may dispose of all such personal property in any manner Landlord shall deem proper and 

is hereby relieved of all liability for doing so. 

 

X. SALE OF PREMISES.  In the event the Landlord hereunder, or any successor owner of the 

Premises, shall sell or convey the Premises, all liabilities and obligations on the part of the 

Landlord, or such successor owner, under this Lease accruing thereafter shall remain for a 

minimum sixty (60) days or the Tenant may enter into a new Lease with the successor owner.  

 

XI. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  Tenant shall comply, at its own expense, with all statutes, 

regulations, rules, ordinances and orders of any governmental body, department, or agency thereof 

which apply to or result from Tenant’s use of the Premises. 

 

XII. INSURANCE LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION 

12.1 Insurance Liability.  Landlord has obtained Premise Liability Insurance, which does not cover 

Tenant's possessions or Tenant's negligence.  Tenant must obtain a Renter's Insurance Policy, in an 

amount of no less than $1,000,000 in commercial general liability, or other appropriate policies to 

cover damage or loss resulting from Tenant's negligence. Tenant shall name Landlord as an 

additional party in any and all insurance policies, and shall provide Landlord with a copy of all 

policies. 

 

12.1.1 Tenant shall provide proof that payment for the insurance policy has been made initially 

and thereafter and that the policy has been renewed at least fifteen (15) calendar days prior 

to the anniversary of the initial year of this lease. Landlord may contact Tenant’s insurer(s) 

or insurer(s)' agent(s) directly at any time regarding Tenant’s coverage, coverage amounts, 

or other such relevant and reasonable issues related to this Lease.   

 

12.2 Indemnity.  Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Landlord against and from any 

and all claims for property damage, or for personal injury, arising out of or in any way arising out 

of Tenant's use of the Leased Premises or from any activity, work, or thing done, permitted or 

suffered by Tenant in or about the Leased Premises. 

 

12.3 Liens. If any mechanic’s or other lien is filed against the Premises for work claimed to have been 

for or materials furnished thereto, such lien shall be discharged by Tenant within Ten (10) days 

thereafter, at Tenant’s expense by full payment thereof by filing a bond required by law. Tenant’s 

failure to do so shall constitute a material default hereunder.      

 

127

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
8 

 

XIII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

13.1 Notices. Any notice, communication, request, approval or consent which may be given or is 

required to be given under the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be transmitted 

(1) via hand delivery or express overnight delivery service to the Seller or the Purchaser, (2) via 

facsimile with the original to follow via hand delivery or overnight delivery service, or (3) via e-

mail, provided that the sending party can show proof of delivery, as the case may be, at the 

addresses/numbers set forth below: 

 

AS TO LANDLORD:    Copy To: 

Beaufort County    Airport 

Beaufort County Administration   Airport Director, Hilton Head Island Airport 

Post Office Box 1228    120 Beach City Rd 

Beaufort, SC  29901    Hilton Head Island, SC 29926 

    

  
AS TO TENANT:    With a Copy to: 

Edison Foard, Inc.     

3900 Rose Lake Drive     

Charlotte, NC  28217    

       

  

13.2 Entire Agreement. This Lease constitutes as the sole and entire agreement of Landlord and Tenant 

and no prior or contemporaneous oral or written representations or agreements between the parties 

affecting the Premises shall have any legal effect.   

 

13.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts. Each of the counterparts shall be 

deemed an original instrument, but all of the counterparts shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

 

13.4 Severability.  If any portion of this Lease shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, 

the remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and enforceable.  If a court finds that any 

provision of this Lease is invalid or unenforceable, then such provision shall be deemed to be 

written, construed and enforced as so limited. 

 

13.5 Amendment. This Agreement cannot be amended orally or by a single party.  No amendment or 

change to this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by both Parties to this 

Agreement. 

 

13.6 Captions.  The captions used in this Lease are for convenience only and do not in any way limit or 

amplify the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

13.7 Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Lease shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 

upon Landlord and Tenant, and their respective successors, heirs, legal representatives, and assigns. 

 

128

Item 2.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
9 

 

13.8 Applicable Law. The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the interpretation, validity, 

performance and enforcement of this Lease; and, of any personal guarantees given in connection 

with this Lease. 

 

13.9 Authority. Each individual and entity executing this Agreement hereby represents and warrants that 

he, she or it has the capacity set forth on the signature pages hereof with full power and authority 

to bind the party on whose behalf he, she or it is executing this Agreement to the terms hereof.   

 

13.10 Force Majeure. Except for timely Rent payment, Landlord or Tenant shall not be in default 

hereunder when performance of any term or condition is prevented by a cause beyond its control. 

 

13.11 Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Lease. 

 

13.12 Quiet Enjoyment.  Landlord hereby covenants, warrants and agrees that so long as Tenant is 

performing all of the covenants and agreements herein stipulated to be performed on the Tenant’s 

part, Tenant shall at all times during the lease term have the peaceable quiet and enjoyment and 

possession of the Premises without any manner of hindrance from Landlord or any person or 

persons lawfully claiming the Premises, or any part thereof. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and in acknowledgement that the parties hereto have read and understood 

each and every provision hereof, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed on the date first 

written above. 

             

LANDLORD:  

 

       

_____________________________  _____________________________ 

Witness     _____________________________  

      Beaufort County Administrator  

 

_____________________________  Date: ____________________  

Witness   

 

TENANT:  

 

 

_____________________________  _____________________________ 

Witness     By: __________________________    

      Its: __________________________ 

_____________________________   

Witness     Date: _________________   

129

Item 2.



130

Item 2.



131

Item 2.



 
 

ORDINANCE 2023/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER 

INTO A LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN BEAUFORT COUNTY AND EDISON 

FOARD, INC    

WHEREAS, the Hilton Head Island Airport (“Airport”) is in the process of expanding the 

terminal in order to provide better service to both residents and tourists (“Terminal Improvements 

Project”); and 

 WHEREAS, Edison Foard, Inc. is the contractor that will execute the Terminal 

Improvements Project; and 

 WHEREAS, the Airport desires to enter into a lease agreement with Edison Foard, Inc. 

("Lessee"), that shall include a reasonable lease rate based on square footage of the leased space; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the Lessee will use off-site office and storage space at 30 Hunter Road, 

Hilton Head Island, SC 29926, as its base of operations during the Terminal Improvements Project, 

and desires to use certain areas and facilities owned by the County and acquire from County certain 

rights and privileges in connection with its use of Airport; and 

 WHEREAS, the County has the right to permit use of the Airport upon the terms and 

conditions hereinafter set forth and has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement.  

 WHEREAS, County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and residents 

of Beaufort County for the County Administrator to enter into a Lease Agreement with Edison 

Foard, Inc. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL, 
duly assembled, does hereby authorize the County Administrator to enter into a Lease Agreement 

with Edison Foard, Inc. 

 

Adopted this ____ day of __________, 2023.  

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

BY:        

      Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

ATTEST:  

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

132

Item 2.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

An ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and High Tide Aviation  
Scenic Tours  

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee; September 25, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jon Rembold; Airports Director 

3 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

High Tide Aviation approached Airport staff earlier this summer about expanding their business to Beaufort 
Executive Airport. They currently operate in coastal NC and coastal GA. They expressed an interest in leasing 
space for their operation at the airport. 

A DRAFT lease was generated and is included in this package. It was reviewed and approved by Legal Sept 8, 
2023. 

The Airports Board reviewed and recommended approval of the agreement at its monthly meeting held July 
20, 2023. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

High Tide Aviation has been in business since 2013 and would like to be the premier provider for Beaufort 
Executive Airport’s scenic air tour offerings. Their fleet is made up of Cessna 172s and experienced pilots. 
High Tide Aviation offers packages designed for different preferences and budgets, and they take every 
precaution to ensure the safety and enjoyment of passengers. This is an opportunity to expand the 
opportunities for the general public to enjoy the airport’s offerings. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Beaufort Executive Airport will receive income generated through fuel sales, the airport’s standard 3% 
operating agreement, and lease revenue --Tenant shall pay $231.00 (140 square feet x $19.80/12) in 
monthly base rental payments for premises located at the Beaufort Executive Airport terminal. These lease 
rates are in accordance with current Beaufort County lease policies. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COMMITTEE: 

Staff recommends approval of an ordinance to approve the lease agreement between Beaufort County and High 
Tide Aviation Scenic Tours. 

OPTIONS FOR COMMITTEE MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny an ordinance to approve a lease between Beaufort County and High Tide Aviation  
Scenic Tours 

Move forward to Council for Approval on October 9, 2023 

 

133

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
1 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 

      )  REAL PROPERTY  

COUNTY OF BEAUFORT              )  LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

 

 THIS REAL PROPERTY LEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into this ___ day of 

________ 2023, (“Lease”), by and between Beaufort County, a political subdivision of the State of 

South Carolina, (“Landlord”) and High Tide Aviation LLC (“Tenant”), collectively referred to as the 

“Parties”. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, Landlord, for and in consideration of the rents paid and to be paid, and the 

covenants, conditions, and stipulations to be kept and performed by Tenant, agrees to lease the Premises 

described herein below.   

 

I. DESCRIPTION OF LEASED PREMISES.  The premises to be conveyed is located at 39 

Airport Circle, Beaufort SC  29907 (Beaufort Executive Airport - Terminal), hereinafter referred 

to as “Premises”. 

Assigned Room number:  102   Total square feet:  140  

       

II. TERM 

2.1 Term. The Lease Term shall be effective on the date of execution by the County Administrator 

(“Commencement Date”) and terminating at 11:59 p.m. on June 30, 2024 (“Termination Date”). 

 

2.2 Renewal.  This Lease may be renewed upon the mutual consent of the Parties and agreed upon in 

writing.  Any Renewal Term shall include the same terms as this Lease and be for a period up to 

three (3) one-year periods, unless thirty (30) days prior written notice of intent not to renew is 

given by either party.  The terms set forth in this Paragraph shall collectively be referred to hereafter 

as a “Renewal Term”.   

 

III. RENTAL PAYMENT 

3.1 Payment of Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord Two Hundred Thirty One dollars ($231.00) (total 

square feet x $19.80/12) in monthly base rental payments (“Rent”) during the Lease Term. If 

occupancy begins and/or ends on any day other than the first day of a month, Rent shall be prorated 

for the month of commencement and/or month of termination and monthly rent collected in 

advance thereafter.  

 

The first Rent payment shall be made on or before the Commencement Date. Tenant shall pay all 

rents due and owing, without deduction or set off, to Landlord at the address set forth in Section 9.  

All Rent payments shall be made in the form of check or direct deposit.  

 

3.2 Renewal Rate.  The Rent shall increase by three percent (3%) the first month of any Renewal Term.  

If the Renewal Term is effective after the 5th of the month, the Rent shall be prorated appropriately.   

 

3.3 Late Payment of Rent. Any Rent not paid within five (5) days of the due date shall be deemed late 

and shall obligate Tenant to pay a late charge of ten percent (10%) of the sum then due.   

134

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
2 

 

3.4 Triple Net Lease.  The Parties agree this is a “triple net lease” and, except as otherwise provided 

herein, Tenant is responsible for all costs related to the Premises, together with all Improvements 

constructed thereon, including, without limitation, any taxes or fees, insurance and maintenance.  

Landlord shall have no responsibility for any such expenses unless specifically provided for herein.  

The Rent payable under this Lease shall be paid to Landlord without any claim on the part of Tenant 

for diminution, set-off or abatement and nothing shall suspend, abate or reduce any Rent to be paid 

hereunder. 

 

IV. CONDITION, USE, MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS OF PREMISES 

4.1 Acceptance and Condition of the Premises. The Parties mutually agree that Tenant shall take 

possession of the Premises on the Commencement Date.  Tenant stipulates that he or she has 

examined the Premises, including the grounds and all buildings and improvements, and that they 

are, at the time of this Agreement, in good order, repair, and in a safe, clean and tenantable 

condition.  Landlord has made no representation in connection with the Premises and shall not be 

liable for any latent defects therein; provided, however, that if such latent defects render the 

Premises uninhabitable for the purposes of this Lease, Tenant may at its option, and upon written 

notice to Landlord, terminate this Lease.   

 

4.2 Use of Premises. Tenant shall use the Premises for the sole purpose of operating fixed-wing scenic 

air tours and flight training (“Permitted Use”). Any change in the use of the Premises may only be 

undertaken with the written consent of the Landlord.  Tenant shall not use the Premises for any 

illegal purpose, nor violate any statute, regulation, rule or order of any governmental body in its 

use thereof, nor create or allow to exist any nuisances, nor do any act in or about the Premises or 

bring anything upon the Premises which will increase the premium for insurance on the Premises. 

 

4.3 Repairs of Premises. Tenant shall at its own expense keep the Premises in good repair. Tenant shall 

not perform any additional work upon the Premises without prior written consent of the Landlord.  

The Premises shall be maintained in a clean and orderly manner. In the event of any damage of the 

Premises which is the direct result of Tenant, Tenant shall, immediately upon receiving demand 

from Landlord, correct the damage.  

 

4.4 Tenant Improvements, Alterations, and Restorations.   

 

4.4.1 Initial Improvements. Promptly after Landlord delivers the Premises to Tenant, 

Tenant shall proceed to prepare the Premises and perform such improvements that are required to 

utilize the Premises for the Permitted Use, which shall include approved signage and marketing 

(the “Tenant’s Initial Improvements”). Prior to performing Tenant’s Initial Improvements and 

promptly after the Lease is executed, Tenant shall send plans and specifications to Landlord for 

Landlord’s approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld and Tenant shall not 

commence any of Tenant’s Initial Improvements until Landlord has approved the plans and 

specifications.    

 

4.4.2 Additional Improvements. Other than Tenant’s Initial Improvements, Tenant shall 

not make or permit to be made any structural alterations, modifications, additions, decorations or 

improvements to the Premises, nor shall Tenant make or permit any other work whatsoever that 

would directly or indirectly involve the penetration or removal (whether permanent or temporary) 

of, or require access through, in, under, or above any floor, wall or ceiling, or surface or covering 

thereof in the Premises. 

135

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
3 

 

4.4.3 Cost of Improvements.  Tenant’s Initial Improvements, or any additional 

improvements as approved by the Landlord, shall be made at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, 

including the expense of complying with all present and future legal requirements, and any other 

work required to be performed in other areas within or outside the Premises. 

 

4.4.4 Compliance. All such Tenant’s Work shall be performed diligently and in a first 

class workmanlike manner and in accordance with plans and specifications approved by Landlord, 

and shall comply with all legal requirements.  Any of Tenant’s Initial Improvements or other 

alterations, including, without limitation, moveable partitions that are affixed to the Premise (but 

excluding moveable, free standing partitions) and all carpeting, shall at once become part of the 

Premises and the property of Landlord. 

 

4.5 Right of Inspection.  Landlord shall have the unfettered right at all reasonable times during the 

Initial Term or any Renewal Term to enter the Premises for any reason whatsoever.  Landlord 

agrees, when able, to provide Tenant with reasonable notice of said entry upon the Premises.  No 

notice will be required in emergency situations or for access or entry upon the Premises. 

 

V. DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE 
5.1 If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed during the term of this Lease by any casualty insured 

under Landlord's standard fire and casualty insurance, Landlord shall, except as otherwise provided 

in this Lease and subject to any delay or inability from causes beyond its control, repair and/or 

rebuild the same substantially to what had been the condition thereof immediately prior to such 

damage or destruction. 

 

5.2 If the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed to the extent of fifty percent (50%) or more of the 

insurable value thereof, or if such casualty shall not have been insured against by Landlord's 

standard fire and casualty policies, then Landlord or Tenant may terminate this Lease or elect to 

repair such damage or rebuild the Premises. Within thirty (30) calendar days after any such 

casualty, Landlord shall notify Tenant whether Landlord intends to repair or rebuild the Premises, 

and Tenant shall notify Landlord whether Tenant intends to terminate this Lease. If Landlord elects 

to repair or rebuild the Premises, Landlord shall perform such repair or rebuilding as provided in 

this Agreement. If Landlord elects not to repair or rebuild, the Lease shall terminate without further 

notice and all further obligations of both parties hereunder shall cease (other than those which shall 

theretofore have accrued), effective as of the date on which Tenant ceases doing business on the 

Premises.  

 

5.3 If Landlord elects to repair the Premises and Tenant does not elect to terminate the Lease, and if 

Landlord's repairs are not substantially completed within one hundred twenty (120) calendar days 

following the date of the casualty, then Tenant, upon not less than thirty (30) calendar days written 

notice to Landlord, may terminate this Lease if Landlord has not substantially completed such 

repairs within the time period (which shall not be less than 30 calendar days) set forth in such 

notice. Substantial completion, as used herein, shall mean that the Premises are restored to the 

condition that they may be occupied and utilized for their intended purpose, notwithstanding that 

there may be additional "punch list" or other non-essential items to be completed, which neither 

affect not impact Tenant's use and enjoyment of the Premises. Nevertheless, Landlord shall 

diligently pursue the completion of all remaining work in a timely manner. 

 

136

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
4 

 

5.4 During any period of reconstruction or repair of the Premises, provided Tenant has not elected to 

terminate this Lease, Tenant may at its sole option continue the operation of Tenant's business in 

the Premises to the extent reasonably practicable from the standpoint of good business practice. 

Tenant shall not interfere with the repair or restoration activities of Landlord or its contractors, and 

will adapt and modify its business activities as deemed necessary by Landlord to allow such repair 

or restoration activities to continue expeditiously. 

 

5.5 During any period in which, by reason of any damage or destruction not resulting from the 

negligence of Tenant, Tenants employees, agents, or invitees, Tenant is unable to occupy all or a 

portion of the Premises, Tenant’s rent shall be appropriately abated for that part of the Premises 

rendered unusable for the conduct of Tenants business. Such abatement shall continue for the period 

commencing with such destruction or damage and ending with the substantial completion by 

Landlord of Landlord's repairs and/or rebuilding of the Premises, as described in this Lease. 

 

VI. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 

The Tenant shall not, without the Landlord’s prior written consent: (i) mortgage, pledge, encumber, 

or otherwise transfer (whether voluntarily, by operation of law, or otherwise) this lease or any 

interest hereunder; (ii) allow any lien to attach to Tenant’s interest in the Premises or this Lease; 

(iii) permit the use or occupancy of the Premises or any part thereof by anyone for a purpose other 

than as set forth herein; (iv) assign or convey this Lease or any interest herein; or (v) sublet the 

Premises or any part thereof; and any attempt to consummate any of the foregoing without 

Landlord’s consent shall be void.  Any assignment or subletting of this Lease must be approved in 

writing by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Assignment of the Lease 

will not relieve the Tenant or the Guarantors of their respective obligations under this Lease and 

Guaranty Agreement unless otherwise agreed by Landlord in writing. 

 

VII. TERMINATION. This Lease shall end on the Termination Date.  This Lease may be terminated 

by Landlord prior to the Termination Date upon providing a thirty (30) day notice to Tenant and/or 

upon the occurrence of any default event as set forth in Section 8. 

 

7.1 Surrender of Property.  At the termination of this Lease, Tenant agrees to quit and deliver the 

Premises peaceably and quietly to Landlord, or its attorney, or other duly authorized agent, at the 

expiration or other termination of this Lease. The Tenant shall surrender the Premises in as good 

state and condition as delivered to Tenant at the commencement of this Lease, reasonable use and 

wear thereof expected.   

 

7.2 Hold Over.  If, without objection by Landlord, Tenant holds possession of the Premises after 

expiration of the term of this Lease, Tenant shall become a Tenant from month to month upon the 

terms herein specified, but at a monthly rent amount equivalent to 150% of the gross rent being 

paid (starting sixty (60) calendar days after the expiration of the term of this Lease) at the end of 

the term of this Lease, and all fees, assessments, costs and other items must continue to be paid 

pursuant to all the provisions set forth herein. Such month to month rent and other amounts shall 

be payable in advance on or before the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each month. 

 

VIII. DEFAULT 

8.1 Default by Tenant. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default:  

 

137

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
5 

 

(a) The rent of any other sum of money payable under this Lease, whether to Landlord or 

otherwise, is not paid within ten (10) days of the due date. 

 

(b) Tenant’s interest in the Lease of the Premises shall be subjected to any attachment, levy, or 

sale pursuant to any order or decree entered against Tenant in any legal proceeding and such 

order or decree shall not be vacated within thirty (30) days of entry thereof; unless with respect 

to any attachment, levy or sale, which cannot be vacated within thirty (30) days, Tenant in good 

faith shall have commenced and thereafter shall continue to diligently pursue the vacation of 

such order or decree by lawful means. 

 

(c) Tenant breaches or fails to comply with any term, provision, condition, or covenant of this 

Lease, other than the payment of rent, or with any of the rules and regulations now or hereafter 

established from time to time by the Landlord to govern the operation of the building and such 

breach or failure to comply is not cured within ten (10) days after written notice of such breach 

or failure to comply is given to Tenant. 

 

8.2 Remedies of Landlord.  Upon the occurrence of an event of default by Tenant other than a failure 

of Tenant to timely pay a sum that is due and payable, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of 

the event of default, and Tenant shall, within twenty (20) days of receipt of such written notice cure 

such event of default.  Where the Tenant fails to cure such event of default within twenty (20) days 

of receipt of the above-referenced written notice, Landlord shall have the option to do and perform 

any one or more of the following in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other remedy or right 

permitted by law or in equity or by this Lease.  In electing to do any one or more of the following 

courses of conduct, the Landlord must reasonably undertake its best efforts to properly mitigate 

any damages caused or sustained by Landlord due to the occurrence of an event of default by the 

Tenant.  The options and courses of conduct which may be undertaken by the Landlord in an event 

of default by the Tenant are as follows: 

 

(a) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease, may immediately or at any time thereafter 

re-enter the Premises and correct or repair any condition which shall constitute a failure on 

Tenant’s part to keep, observe, perform, satisfy, or abide by any term, condition, covenant, 

agreement or obligation of this Lease or of the rules and regulations adopted by the Landlord 

or of any notice given Tenant by Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease, and Tenant shall 

fully reimburse and compensate Landlord on demand for all reasonable expenses. 

 

(b) Landlord, with or without terminating this Lease may immediately or at any time thereafter 

demand in writing that Tenant immediately vacate the Premises whereupon Tenant shall 

immediately vacate the Premises and, immediately remove therefrom all personal property 

belonging to Tenant, whereupon Landlord shall have the right to immediately re-enter and take 

possession of the Premises.  Any such demand, re-entry and taking of possession of the 

Premises by Landlord shall not of itself constitute an acceptance by Landlord of a surrender of 

this Lease or of the Premises by Tenant and shall not of itself constitute a termination of this 

Lease by Landlord.  In the event the Landlord re-enters and takes possession of the Premises 

as provided above and the Tenant has failed upon request by Landlord to immediately remove 

from the Premises all property belonging to or placed upon the Premises by the Tenant, the 

Landlord shall have the right to have such property of the Tenant removed from the Premises 

and reasonably be placed within a secure storage facility for a period of time not to exceed 

thirty (30) days, and all costs of handling, moving and storing such property of the Tenant shall 

138

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
6 

 

be paid by the Tenant. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, Landlord shall be required to 

comply with applicable South Carolina law regarding reentry and possession of the Premises. 

 

(c) Landlord may immediately or at any time thereafter terminate this Lease, and this Lease shall 

be deemed to have been terminated upon receipt by Tenant of written notice of such 

termination; upon such termination Landlord shall recover from Tenant all damages Landlord 

may suffer by reason of such termination including, without limitation, all arrearages in rentals, 

costs, charges, additional rentals, and reimbursements, the cost (including court costs and 

attorneys’ fees) of recovering possession of the Premises, and, in addition thereto, Landlord at 

its election shall have and recover from Tenant either: (1) an amount equal to the excess, if any, 

of the total amount of all rents and other charges to be paid by Tenant for the remainder of the 

term of this Lease over the then reasonable rental value of the Premises for the remainder of 

the Term of this Lease, or (2) the rents and other charges which Landlord would be entitled to 

receive from Tenant if the Lease were not terminated.  Such election shall be made by Landlord 

by serving written notice upon Tenant of its choice of the alternatives within thirty (30) days 

of the notice of termination. Notwithstanding anything hereunder to the contrary, Landlord 

must use its reasonable best efforts to re-let the Premises and abate Landlord’s damages. 

 

8.3 No Waiver. No course of dealing between Landlord and Tenant or any failure or delay on the part 

of Landlord in exercising any rights of Landlord under any provisions of this Lease shall operate 

as a waiver of any rights of Landlord, nor shall any waiver of a default on one occasion operate as 

a waiver of any subsequent default or any other default.  No express waiver shall affect any 

condition, covenant, rule or regulation other than the one specified in such waiver and that one only 

for the time and in the manner specifically stated. 

 

8.4 No Election of Remedies. The exercise by Landlord of any right or remedy shall not prevent the 

subsequent exercise by Landlord of other rights and remedies.  All remedies provided for in this 

Lease are cumulative and may, at the election of Landlord, be exercised alternatively, successively, 

or in any other manner, and all remedies provided for in this Lease are in addition to any other 

rights provided for or allowed by law or in equity. 

 

8.5 Insolvency or Bankruptcy.  The appointment of a receiver to take possession of all or substantially 

all of the assets of Tenant, or an assignment by Tenant for the benefit of creditors, or any action 

taken or suffered by Tenant, or any action against Tenant, under any insolvency, bankruptcy, or 

reorganization, shall at Landlord’s option constitute an event of default under this Lease.  Upon the 

happening of any such event of default or at any time thereafter, this Lease shall terminate five (5) 

days after written notice of termination from Landlord to Tenant.  In no event shall this Lease be 

assigned or assignable by operation of law or by voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings 

or otherwise and in no event shall this Lease or any rights or privileges hereunder be an asset of 

Tenant under any bankruptcy, insolvency, or reorganization proceedings. 

 

8.6 Abandonment. Tenant shall not be considered to have abandoned or vacated the Premises as long 

as Tenant continues to pay rent and fulfill all other obligations of this Lease, regardless of whether 

Tenant is actually continuously occupying the space or not, unless Tenant gives notice of 

termination if and as allowed by this Lease.  If Landlord's right of entry is exercised following 

abandonment of the Leased Premises by Tenant, then Landlord may consider any personal property 

belonging to Tenant and left on the Leased Premises to have been abandoned, in which case 

139

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
7 

 

Landlord may dispose of all such personal property in any manner Landlord shall deem proper and 

is hereby relieved of all liability for doing so. 

 

IX. SALE OF PREMISES.  In the event the Landlord hereunder, or any successor owner of the 

Premises, shall sell or convey the Premises, all liabilities and obligations on the part of the 

Landlord, or such successor owner, under this Lease accruing thereafter shall remain for a 

minimum sixty (60) days or the Tenant may enter into a new Lease with the successor owner.  

 

X. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  Tenant shall comply, at its own expense, with all statutes, 

regulations, rules, ordinances and orders of any governmental body, department, or agency thereof 

which apply to or result from Tenant’s use of the Premises. 

 

XI. INSURANCE LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION 

11.1 Insurance Liability.  Landlord has obtained Premise Liability Insurance, which does not cover 

Tenant's possessions or Tenant's negligence.  Tenant must obtain a Renter's Insurance Policy, in an 

amount of no less than $1,000,000 in commercial general liability, or other appropriate policies to 

cover damage or loss resulting from Tenant's negligence. Tenant shall name Landlord as an 

additional party in any and all insurance policies, and shall provide Landlord with a copy of all 

policies. 

 

11.1.1 Tenant shall provide proof that payment for the insurance policy has been made initially 

and thereafter and that the policy has been renewed at least fifteen (15) calendar days prior 

to the anniversary of the initial year of this lease. Landlord may contact Tenant’s insurer(s) 

or insurer(s)' agent(s) directly at any time regarding Tenant’s coverage, coverage amounts, 

or other such relevant and reasonable issues related to this Lease.   

 

11.2 Indemnity.  Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Landlord against and from any 

and all claims for property damage, or for personal injury, arising out of or in any way arising out 

of Tenant's use of the Leased Premises or from any activity, work, or thing done, permitted or 

suffered by Tenant in or about the Leased Premises. 

 

11.3 Liens. If any mechanic’s or other lien is filed against the Premises for work claimed to have been 

for or materials furnished thereto, such lien shall be discharged by Tenant within Ten (10) days 

thereafter, at Tenant’s expense by full payment thereof by filing a bond required by law. Tenant’s 

failure to do so shall constitute a material default hereunder.      

 

XII. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

12.1 Notices. Any notice, communication, request, approval or consent which may be given or is 

required to be given under the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be transmitted 

(1) via hand delivery or express overnight delivery service to the Seller or the Purchaser, (2) via 

facsimile with the original to follow via hand delivery or overnight delivery service, or (3) via e-

mail, provided that the sending party can show proof of delivery, as the case may be, at the 

addresses/numbers set forth below: 

 

AS TO LANDLORD: Beaufort County 

Attn:  Beaufort County Administration 

Post Office Box 1228 

Beaufort, SC  29901 

140

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
8 

 

   Copy To:  Beaufort County 

Attn:  Beaufort County Public Facility Director  

Post Office Box 1228 

Beaufort, SC  29901 

  

AS TO TENANT:  ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

    ____________________________________ 

 

12.2 Entire Agreement. This Lease constitutes as the sole and entire agreement of Landlord and Tenant 

and no prior or contemporaneous oral or written representations or agreements between the parties 

affecting the Premises shall have any legal effect.   

 

12.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts. Each of the counterparts shall be 

deemed an original instrument, but all of the counterparts shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

 

12.4 Severability.  If any portion of this Lease shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, 

the remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and enforceable.  If a court finds that any 

provision of this Lease is invalid or unenforceable, then such provision shall be deemed to be 

written, construed and enforced as so limited. 

 

12.5 Amendment. This Agreement cannot be amended orally or by a single party.  No amendment or 

change to this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and signed by both Parties to this 

Agreement. 

 

12.6 Captions.  The captions used in this Lease are for convenience only and do not in any way limit or 

amplify the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

12.7 Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Lease shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 

upon Landlord and Tenant, and their respective successors, heirs, legal representatives, and assigns. 

 

12.8 Applicable Law. The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the interpretation, validity, 

performance and enforcement of this Lease; and, of any personal guarantees given in connection 

with this Lease. 

 

12.9 Authority. Each individual and entity executing this Agreement hereby represents and warrants that 

he, she or it has the capacity set forth on the signature pages hereof with full power and authority 

to bind the party on whose behalf he, she or it is executing this Agreement to the terms hereof.   

 

12.10 Force Majeure. Except for timely Rent payment, Landlord or Tenant shall not be in default 

hereunder when performance of any term or condition is prevented by a cause beyond its control. 

 

12.11 Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Lease. 

 

12.12 Quiet Enjoyment.  Landlord hereby covenants, warrants and agrees that so long as Tenant is 

performing all of the covenants and agreements herein stipulated to be performed on the Tenant’s 

141

Item 3.



 
Landlord Initials _______   Tenant Initials _______   

 
9 

 

part, Tenant shall at all times during the lease term have the peaceable quiet and enjoyment and 

possession of the Premises without any manner of hindrance from Landlord or any person or 

persons lawfully claiming the Premises, or any part thereof. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and in acknowledgement that the parties hereto have read and understood 

each and every provision hereof, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed on the date first 

written above. 

             

LANDLORD:  

  

      

_____________________________  _____________________________ 

Witness     _____________________________  

      Beaufort County Administrator  

 

 

_____________________________  Date: ________________________ 

Witness   

 

TENANT:  

 

 

 

_____________________________  _____________________________ 

Witness     By: __________________________    

      Its: __________________________ 

 

 

_____________________________  Date: ________________________ 

        

142

Item 3.



143

Item 3.



144

Item 3.



145

Item 3.



 
 

ORDINANCE 2023/_____ 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR TO ENTER 

INTO A LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN BEAUFORT COUNTY AND HIGH TIDE 

AVIATION, LLC    

 WHEREAS, the Beaufort Executive Airport (“Airport”) desires to enter into a lease 

agreement with High Tide Aviation, LLC ("Lessee"), that shall include a reasonable ground lease 

rate based on square footage of the area leased; and 

 WHEREAS, the Lessee will engage in the business of offering scenic flight tours, and 

desires to lease certain area owned by the County and acquire from County certain rights and 

privileges in connection with its use of Airport grounds; and 

 WHEREAS, the County has the right to permit use of the Airport grounds upon the terms 

and conditions hereinafter set forth and has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement; 

and  

 WHEREAS, County Council finds that it is in the best interest of the citizens and residents 

of Beaufort County for the County Administrator to enter into a Lease Agreement with High Tide 

Aviation, LLC. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL, 

duly assembled, does hereby authorize the County Administrator to enter into a Lease Agreement 

with High Tide Aviation, LLC. 

 

Adopted this ____ day of __________, 2023.  

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY  

 

BY:        

      Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

ATTEST:  

     

Sarah W. Brock, Clerk to Council  

146

Item 3.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommendation of award IFB# 092823 – Alljoy Boat Landing Repairs (R.L. Morrison & Sons, Inc.) 
($534,730.00) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities Committee Meeting – October 23, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Jared Fralix, P.E., Assistant County Administrator, Infrastructure 

Neil J. Desai, P.E., Public Works Director 

(5 Minutes) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

In the spring of 2022, it was observed during a routine Public Works inspection that an existing piling was 
damaged and slightly bent.  The Public Works Dept. continued to monitor the dock to ensure it was safe to 
use.  In the fall of 2022, funding was available through A/H Tax grants.  Marine engineer was secured for the 
creation of plans and specifications for bidding purposes.  The bid was advertised in the summer of 2023 with 
a bid opening in September. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Per IBF# 092823 – The contractor will install a new 188 foot “L” sectional dock consisting of nine 8 foot by 20 
foot floating dock sections, which be manufactured out of aluminum, floating dock section which shall have 
treated wooden siding and bumper rails, and pilings to be constructed of concerted and fitted with plastic 
cone caps. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

The project cost is funded by an Accommodations and Hospitality Tax Grant (A&H) (20020021-54124) in the 
amount of $534,730.00. The A&H Tax funding source has a balance of ($1,092,017.00). 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Public Works Director recommends the award of IFB# 092823 - Alljoy Boat Landing Repairs to R.L. Morrison & 
Sons, Inc. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to either accept/deny the recommendation of award for Alljoy Boat Landing Repairs. 

Next Steps – Execute contract with R.L. Morrison & Sons, Inc. 

 

147

Item 4.



PRELIMINARY BID TABULATION
PURCHASING DEPARTMENT

Project Name: Alljoy Boat Landing Repair

Project Number: IFB 092823
Project Budget:
Bid Opening Date: 28-Sep-23
Time: 3:00:00 PM
Location: Beaufort County
Bid Administrator: Dave Thomas
Bid Recorder: Victoria Moyer

The following bids were received for the above referenced project:

BIDDER 
BID     

FORM
ALL 

ADDENDA
Bid 

Bond
SCH OF 
VALUES SMBE Docs Sub Listing Grand Total Price 

L-J Inc. X X X No X No

562,107.00$                                                
Contractor Not Self 
Performing. Did not 
show Good Faith Effort

RL Morrison & Sons Inc. X X X X
Self 

Performing
Self 

Performing

534,730.00$                                                

Bid Administrator Signature Bid Recorder

Beaufort County posts PRELIMINARY bid tabulation information within 2 business days of the advertised bid opening.  Information on the PRELIMINARY bid tabulation 
is posted as it was read during the bid opening.  Beaufort County makes no guarantees as to the accuracy of any information on the PRELIMINARY tabulation.  The bid 
results indicated here do not necessarily represent the final compliance review by Beaufort County and are subject to change. After the review, the final award will be 
made by Beaufort County Council and a certified bid tab will be posted online. 

9/28/2023
148

Item 4.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend Approval of Contract Award to O’Quinn Marine Construction for RFP #090723 Whitehall Phase 2 
Design-Build Construction Services ($250,000) 

 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee – October 23, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Eric Larson, PE, Director, Capital Projects (5 mins) 

 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort County requested proposals for Whitehall Phase 2 on 9/7/23. A mandatory on-site pre-proposal 
meeting was held and was attended by four contractors.  One proposal was received from O’Quinn Marine 
Construction with a cost of $250,000.00.  Staff has reviewed the detailed proposal submittal and found the 
prices to be fair and reasonable. 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Phase 2 of the Whitehall Park project includes design and construction of a kayak dock and pier, bulkhead 
repair, and misc. site work.  The total funds requested are the proposal amount of $250,000.  This is a design 
build project with a guaranteed maximum price. 

Purchasing has not submitted a draft contract to Legal.  This will occur after contract award. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Funding comes from passive park budget, 45020011-54417.   Current account balance is $937,336.60.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of contract to O’Quinn Marine Construction for award of RFP #090723 in the 
amount of $250,000. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation of award to O’Quinn Marine Construction for RFP #090723 
Whitehall Phase 2 Design-Build Construction Services. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to award to O’Quinn Marine Construction for RFP #090723 
Whitehall Phase 2 Design-Build Construction Services. 

 

149

Item 5.



150

Item 5.



151

Item 5.



152

Item 5.



153

Item 5.



154

Item 5.



155

Item 5.



156

Item 5.



157

Item 5.



158

Item 5.



159

Item 5.



160

Item 5.



161

Item 5.



162

Item 5.



163

Item 5.



164

Item 5.



165

Item 5.



166

Item 5.



167

Item 5.



168

Item 5.



169

Item 5.



LEGEND

M
ERIDIAN ROAD

SEA ISLAND PARKWAY / US HWY 21 

NATURAL PRESERVE 
AREA (8.0 ACRES)33

0’ 
R 

66
0’ 

R 
PROPOSED HWY 21 ACCESS, RIGHT IN / 
RIGHT OUT ACCESS EASEMENT

PROPOSED MERIDIAN ROAD ACCESS 
EASEMENT

MAIN PARK ENTRANCE (GATED ACCESS)

PARK DROP-OFF, PARKING AREA AND 
INFORMATION KIOSK 

PICNIC PAVILION (30’x50’) WITH RESTROOMS,  
STORAGE & DRINKING FOUNTAIN

GATHERING LAWN

PICNIC GARDEN

COVERED DOCK

WHITEHALL POINT OVERLOOK

BOARDWALK CONNECTION (BY OTHERS)

SWING TRELLIS, TYP.

BIKE PATH

COVERED OBSERVATION PIER 

PERVIOUS UPLAND FOREST TRAIL

PERVIOUS PATH

PERIMETER FENCING

BENCHES, TYP.

EXISTING CONCRETE SIDEWALK

A

BC
D

E

F

I

J

K

K

R

K

L

M

N

O
P

Q

Q

H

G

A

B

C

D

E

F
G
H

K
L
M
N
O
P
Q
R

J
I

VIEWS

VIE
W

S
VIEWS

VIEWS

VIE
W

S

VIEW
S

170

Item 5.



LEGEND

M
ERIDIAN ROAD

SEA ISLAND PARKWAY / US HWY 21 

NATURAL PRESERVE 
AREA (8.0 ACRES)33

0’ 
R 

66
0’ 

R 
PROPOSED HWY 21 ACCESS, RIGHT IN / 
RIGHT OUT ACCESS EASEMENT

PROPOSED MERIDIAN ROAD ACCESS 
EASEMENT

MAIN PARK ENTRANCE (GATED ACCESS)

PARK DROP-OFF, PARKING AREA AND 
INFORMATION KIOSK 

PICNIC PAVILION (30’x50’) WITH RESTROOMS,  
STORAGE & DRINKING FOUNTAIN

GATHERING LAWN

PICNIC GARDEN

COVERED DOCK

WHITEHALL POINT OVERLOOK

BOARDWALK CONNECTION (BY OTHERS)

SWING TRELLIS, TYP.

BIKE PATH

COVERED OBSERVATION PIER 

PERVIOUS UPLAND FOREST TRAIL

PERVIOUS PATH

PERIMETER FENCING

BENCHES, TYP.

EXISTING CONCRETE SIDEWALK

A

BC
D

E

F

I

J

K

K

R

K

L

M

N

O
P

Q

Q

H

G

A

B

C

D

E

F
G
H

K
L
M
N
O
P
Q
R

J
I

VIEWS

VIE
W

S
VIEWS

VIEWS

VIE
W

S

VIEW
S

171

Item 5.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend Approval of Contract Award to Terra Excavating, Inc. for IFB #101223 Southside Park Pickle Ball 
Courts Construction Services ($570,024.00) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Public Facilities and Safety Committee – October 23, 2023 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Eric Larson, PE, Director, Capital Projects (5 mins) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Beaufort County requested bids for the new Southside Park Pickle Ball Courts on 10/12/23. Two bids were 
received with the qualified low bidder being Terra Excavating, Inc. with a cost of $570,024.00.  This includes 
one proposed bid alternate and deletion of one item of work from the scope.  Staff and the design consultant, 
Landplan Group South, have reviewed the detailed bid submittal and found the prices to be fair and 
reasonable.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The existing park on Battery Creek Road consists of one tennis court, two pickle ball courts, a pavilion, 
restrooms, and parking.  The park is being expanded to include four additional pickle ball courts, a full-size 
basketball court, and trails connecting to the City of Beaufort Southside Park improvements.  The total funds 
requested are the bid amount (plus a contingency) from the remaining project budget ($570,024 + $12,476 = 
$582,500) 

Purchasing has not submitted a draft contract to Legal.  This will occur after contract award.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Funding comes from Parks and Recreation Capital Fund, 10401600-54436.   Current account balance is 
$4,551,060.13.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of contract to Terra Excavating, Inc. award of IFB #101223 in the amount of 
$570,024.00 with a $12,476 contingency fund for a total of $582,500.00 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny recommendation of award Terra Excavating, Inc. for IFB #101223 Southside Park 
Pickle Ball Courts Construction Services. 

Next Step: Move forward to County Council to award Terra Excavating, Inc. for IFB #101223 Southside Park 
Pickle Ball Courts Construction Services. 

 

172

Item 6.



173

Item 6.

eric.larson
Text Box
10/16/2023Terra bid modificationsOriginal bid = $675,767.80Accept Asphalt alternate = -$62,687.80Deduct replacing existing fence = -$43,056New price = $570,024.00EWL



174

Item 6.



175

Item 6.


	Top
	Item 1.	CALL TO ORDER
	Item 2.	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND INVOCATION
	Item 3.	FOIA
	Item 4.	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	Item 5.	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	9.25.2023 County Council Meeting Minutes (1)
	9.25.2023 County Council Meeting Minutes (1)

	Item 6.	ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT
	Item 7.	PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING BEAUFORT COUNTY TEACHER OF THE YEAR
	April Bryant- District Teacher of the Year

	Item 8.	PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING COOSA ELEMENTARY NATIONAL BLUE RIBBON SCHOOL
	National Blue Ribbon School Award

	Item 9.	PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING NATIONAL AMERICAN INDIAN HERITAGE MONTH
	24. National American Indian

	Item 10.	CITIZEN COMMENTS
	CC public comment 11.14.23

	Item 11.	LIASION AND COMMITTEE REPORTS
	Council Member Reitz

	Item 12.	APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA
	Item 13.	PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF Budget Amendment for PO Roll/Carryforward for CIP Fund 1040
	2023 BUDGET ORDINANCE AMENDMENT - 10.12.2023
	2023 Budget Ordinance Amendment
	Exhibit A Copy of 2023POROLL (1)

	Item 14.	PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING OF AN Ordinance Adopting Amendments to the Business and Professional Licenses Ordinance Chapter 18, Article III, Section 18-67 (a) (b), Appendix A&B.
	Business License AIS
	Business License amendment 2023 redline
	Business License amendment 2023 clean version

	Item 15.	PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of an ORDINANCE RATIFYING THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED OFFICIALS AND TO AMEND SECTION 2-347 OF THE BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF LAWS ESTABLISHING THE SALARIES FOR VARIOUS ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS
	AIS-Ratification of Salaries and Ordinance Amendment 09.21.2023
	Ordinance Ratifying Elected Officials' Salaries (1) 09.21.2023

	Item 16.	1st reading of an ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and Beaufort Flight Training.
	AIS - Beaufort Flight Training Office Lease
	Ordinance - Beaufort Flight Training Office Lease
	Agreement - Beaufort Flight Training Office Lease 092223

	Item 17.	1st reading of an ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and
	AIS - Tim Verroi Office Lease
	Agreement - Tim Verroi  Office Lease 091323
	Ordinance - Tim Verroi Office Lease

	Item 18.	Approval of Resolution to accept the recommendations from the US 278 Corridor Project Joint Independent Review performed by CBB and authorization for Interim County Administrator to send correspondence to Town of Hilton Head requesting their municipal consent for the project.
	AIS US 278 Joint Study
	MOA for US 278 Corridor Project (Signed)
	Resolution US 278 Study

	Item 19.	Resolution declaring the results of bond referenda conducted in the fripp island psd 11.7.2023
	Resolution Declaring Results of Bond Referenda (2023 FIPSD GO Bond) (2)

	Item 20.	CITIZEN COMMENTS
	Item 21.	HSB Status Report
	Item 22.	Beaufort Jasper Housing Trust
	Item 23.	Inglese Litigation
	Item 24.	County Administrator Search
	Item 25.	ADJOURNMENT
	Item 1.	THIRD Reading of an Ordinance to accept 30' ROW on Dianah's Dr
	AIS
	Dianahs Drive Location Map
	Dianahs Dr Exhibit A
	request

	Item 2.	THIRD Reading of an Ordinance to approve a lease agreement between Beaufort County and Edison Foard, LLC.
	AIS - Edison Foard Lease - 30 Hunter Rd. - Revised(Ordinance)
	Edison Foard  30 Hunter Road Bld 2 Suite C lease
	Legal Review_Apprd 090523 - Edison Foard Office Space
	Ordinance - Edison Foard Lease - 30 Hunter Rd.

	Item 3.	THIRD Reading of an Ordinance between Beaufort County and High Tide Aviation Scenic Tours
	AIS - Hide Tide Aviation Scenic Air Tours - Revised (Ordinance)
	High Tide Aviation Office Lease  090723
	LEGAL APPROVED 090823 Lease High Tide 
	Ordinance - High Tide Aviation - Office Lease

	Item 4.	Approval of an award IFB# 092823 - Alljoy Boat Landing Repairs (R.L. Morrison & Sons, Inc.for the Alljoy Boat Landing Repairs
	AIS - Alljoy Boat Landing
	Preliminary Bid Tab AlljoySigned

	Item 5.	Approval of Contract Award to O’Quinn Marine Construction for RFP #090723 Whitehall Phase 2 Design-Build Construction Services ($250,000)
	AIS -White Hall Ph2 UpdatedDave
	RFP090723ProposalPricinginformationO'Quinnconstructiononlyproposal
	O'QuinnscompleteRFPproposal09073phase2
	Whitehall Park Illustrative Revised 1-27-2021-Reduced
	13. Whitehall Park Illustrative Revised 1-27-2021-Reduced

	Item 6.	Approval of Contract Award to Terra Excavating, Inc. for IFB #101223 Southside Park Pickle Ball Courts Construction Services ($570,024.00)
	AIS southside PB const 10232023
	Pickleball Bid Tab
	1166 - Beaufort County Southside Park sheet 4
	14. 1166 - Beaufort County Southside Park sheet 4

	Bottom

